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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA OF THE GROUP

billions of €
Change
compared
to prior year
(%) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
REVENUE AND EARNINGS
Net revenue 0.9 75.7 74.9 73.1 69.2 62.7 60.1 58.2 58.7
Of which: domestic % 32.2 32.8 33.7 36.2 39.9 42.2 443 44.9
Of which: international % 67.8 67.2 66.3 63.8 60.1 57.8 55.7 55.1
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) (14.7) 8.0 9.4 9.2 7.0 7.2 4.9 (4.0) 5.6
Net profit (loss) (37.4) 2.2 3.5 2.7 3.3 2.9 0.9 (5.4) 0.5
Net profit (loss) (adjusted for special factors) (24.7) 4.5 6.0 4.1 4.1 2.4 2.8 2.5 2.9
EBITDA (8.9) 21.8 24.0 22.5 18.4 17.8 15.8 18.0 20.0
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) 5.0 23.3 22.2 21.4 19.9 17.6 17.4 18.0 18.7
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 30.8 29.7 29.3 28.8 28.0 28.9 30.9 31.8
PROFITABILITY
ROCE % 4.7 5.8 5.7 4.8 5.5 3.8 (2.4) 3.8
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 2.9 145.4 141.3 148.5 143.9 129.4 118.1 107.9 122.5
Shareholders’ equity 2.3 43.4 42.5 38.8 38.2 34.1 32.1 30.5 40.0
Equity ratio % 29.9 30.0 26.2 26.5 26.3 27.1 28.3 32.7
Net debt 9.1 55.4 50.8 50.0 47.6 42.5 39.1 36.9 401
Relative debt (Net debt/EBITDA (adjusted for special factors)) 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.4 24 2.2 2.1 2.1
CASH FLOWS
Net cash from operating activities 41 17.9 17.2 15.5 15.0 13.4 13.0 13.6 16.2
Cash capex (35.9) (12.5) (19.5) (13.6) (14.6) (11.8) (1.1 (8.4) (8.4)
Free cash flow (before dividend payments and spectrum investment)? 13.7 6.2 5.5 4.9 4.5 4.1 4.6 6.2 6.4
Net cash used in investing activities (15.0) (14.3) (16.8) (13.6) (15.0) (10.8) (9.9) (6.7) (9.3)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities (29.1) (3.3) (4.6) (1.3) (0.9) (3.4) 1.0 (6.6) (6.0)
EMPLOYEES
Average number of employees
(full-time equivalents, without trainees) thousands 0.0 216 216 221 226 228 230 232 240
Revenue per employee thousands of € 1.0 349.7 346.2 331.4 305.9 274.5 261.8 250.4 244.0
T-SHARE - KEY FIGURES
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) € (37.8) 0.46 0.74 0.58 0.71 0.65 0.21 (1.24) 0.13
Dividend per shareP € .7 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.50 0.50 0.70 0.70
Total dividend© billions of € 7.1 3.3 3.1 2.8 2.5 2.3 2.2 3.0 3.0
Total number of ordinary shares at the reporting dated millions 0.0 4,761 4,761 4,677 4,607 4,536 4,451 4,321 4,321

Calculated on the basis of millions for greater precision. Changes to percentages expressed as percentage points.

a And before PTC and AT&T transactions and compensation payments for MetroPCS employees.

b Subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.

¢ Subject to approval by the 2019 shareholders’ meeting concerning the dividend payments for the 2018 financial year. For further information, please refer to Note 33 “Dividend per share” in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, page 223.

d Including treasury shares held by Deutsche Telekom AG.

millions
Change
compared
to prior year
(%) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
FIXED-NETWORK AND MOBILE CUSTOMERS
Mobile customers 5.9 178.4 168.4 165.0 156.4 150.5 142.5 127.8 125.1
Fixed-network lines 0.1 27.9 27.9 28.5 29.0 29.8 30.8 32.1 34.7
Broadband customersaP 6.7 20.2 18.9 18.4 17.8 17.4 171 16.9 16.9

2 Excluding wholesale.

b Starting in Q2 2018, we no longer report the number of broadband lines from a technical perspective. Instead, we report the number of broadband customers. The figures for 2016 and 2017 have been adjusted accordingly.
The key parameters used by Deutsche Telekom are defined in the section “Management of the Group” in the combined management report, page 38 et seq.

The figures shown in this report were rounded in accordance with standard business rounding principles. As a result, the total indicated may not be equal to the precise sum of the individual figures.

The new accounting standards IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” took effect as of January 1, 2018. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted. For further information,
please refer to the section “Initial application of standards, interpretations, and amendments in the financial year” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, page 154 et seq.
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Deutsche Telekom keeps its promises. In 2015, we communicated our four-year forecast - one
that was clearly geared towards growth. The figures are now in and they speak for themselves:
We have exceeded our expectations. What’s more, in 2018 alone we raised our full-year guidance
three times despite investing a great deal of money at the same time - more than EUR 12 billion,
in fact.

And all of this at a time that is anything but easy for our industry. A quick glance at the company
ratings in our sector shows they are falling virtually across the board. Not ours! In 2018, we
significantly outperformed the DAX and this year we continue to maintain our position as the
leading European telco in terms of market value.

Let’s take a look at what we achieved compared with our forecast for 2018. Organically, i.e.,
assuming constant exchange rates and the same Group structure, net revenue in 2018 in-
creased by 3.1 percent. Also on an organic basis, adjusted EBITDA came in at 7.2 percent or
EUR 1.6 billion higher than the prior-year figure and above our expectations. The same goes
for free cash flow, which grew by 18.9 percent on the same basis and thus ended the year
higher than the level we forecast.

As you can see, our strategy is paying off. We continue to focus on delivering the best networks
and are forging ahead with our build-out efforts like no other provider in our industry.

As you know, high data speeds rely on fiber-optic infrastructure. We are thus immensely proud
to have laid our 500,000th kilometer of fiber-optic cable last year. Our fiber-optic network is and
remains the largest in Germany. We also offer a rate plan with 100 megabits per second (Mbit/s)
to 26 million households. What’s more, by the end of 2018 we were able to offer some 14 million
households and 2 million business locations top speeds of up to 250 Mbit/s using supervectoring.
In 2019, we plan to extend high-speed coverage to 28 million households using this technology.

As you can see, our focus is on high quality and maximum coverage. That also goes for mobile
communications: Our LTE network already covers 97.8 percent of the population in Germany,
helped by 1,300 additional cell sites. We are not only investing in Germany, but in all of our
footprint countries, where our LTE network covers 97 percent of the population, or around
109 million people.

T-Mobile US has the fastest 4G mobile network in the United States. By 2020, our U.S. colleagues
plan to be the first to offer 5G nationwide.
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Deutsche Telekom is helping to pioneer 5G in Europe, too. The first antennas to fully support the
new communications standard are already up and running in Berlin, Darmstadt, Hamburg, and
Warsaw. We are hosting the world’s first test of 5G for industry at the Port of Hamburg, and we
have already achieved record-breaking transmission speeds in Austria, Greece, and Macedonia.

This costs money, but we believe it is money well spent: From 2018 to 2021, we plan to invest
over EUR 20 billion in Germany - much of this will go towards building out the mobile and fixed
networks.

Quantity without quality? Not at all. Quality is one of our top priorities. That's why | am delighted
that we regularly take first place in independent tests of networks and services - in Germany,
Europe, and the United States.

As you can see, our commitment and our investments are bearing fruit. The fact that we have the
resources to do all this is down to you, our shareholders. Please accept my sincere thanks for the
trust you place in us. Our financial situation illustrates that your trust has not been misplaced.

Our customers also have confidence in what we do. This much is clear from the customer growth
we are seeing on both sides of the Atlantic. Our approach to combining fixed and mobile com-
munications in one convergent product is gaining momentum both in Germany, in the form of
MagentaEINS (642,000 customer additions), and in Europe as MagentaOne and similar offerings
(1.1 million customer additions).

In the United States, our Un-carrier strategy continues to flourish. T-Mobile US has added more
than one million new customers every quarter for almost six years. With such rapid growth, our
U.S. subsidiary has once again left every other national competitor trailing in its wake. Further-
more, we expect the merger agreed with Sprint - which is still subject to approval by the regu-
latory authorities - to substantially strengthen our future business.

Over the past year, our colleagues in the United States have also been exploring new horizons in
the area of customer service with their Un-carrier Next initiative. Under the new Team of Experts
program, postpaid customers who call customer service are connected directly to a personal
advisor.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.



In Europe, too, we are working ceaselessly to make our service even better. A key focus for us
in Germany is on ensuring that our service technicians are on time, which they are for almost
95 percent of agreed appointments. We have also significantly reduced the number of customer
complaints.

But regardless of whether it's about great technology or outstanding service - none of it would
be possible without the dedicated employees we have at our Group. They are the people who
make Deutsche Telekom what it is - an industry leader on both sides of the Atlantic. | would like
to take this opportunity to thank my colleagues sincerely for such dedication.

Dear Shareholders,

The financial report is further evidence that not only do we set ourselves ambitious goals - we
also meet and even exceed them. I'm happy to say it again: We keep our promises. Our growth
profile is unique in the industry. We are leaders in our sector and work tirelessly to make sure it
stays that way.

Over the past year, we have laid important strategic groundwork in this regard - for example,
with the completion of the acquisition of Tele2 in the Netherlands and the takeover of UPC in
Austria. We can now become a one-stop shop for integrated product bundles in these countries,
too, which will mean even better services for our customers.

We have already set the bar for the next few years. On average, revenue is expected to increase
by one to two percent per year by 2021, adjusted EBITDA by two to four percent, and free cash
flow by around ten percent.

And it goes without saying that you will benefit from our successes. Following the dividend of
EUR 0.65 per share for 2017, we are proposing - subject to approval by the relevant bodies and
the fulfillment of other legal requirements - a dividend for the 2018 financial year of EUR 0.70

per dividend-bearing share. That’s because Deutsche Telekom is a dependable partner in this
respect, too.

Best regards,

Il

Tim Hoéttges
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SUPERVISORY BOARD’S REPORT TO THE 2019
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The 2018 financial year was characterized by the systematic
implementation of the Group strategy and the Group’s ongoing
transformation in an age of digitalization and technological
change. Good business development on the domestic German
market and in Europe, and continued excellent business de-
velopment in the United States were major features. Despite
the positive overall macroeconomic environment in Europe and
the United States, Deutsche Telekom remains under high com-
petitive and regulatory pressure. The Group held its own in the
challenging environment in the telecommunications industry.
Strong results brought the 2018 financial year to a successful
close. The Group is on course for growth. The Supervisory
Board exercised its functions as an advisory and supervisory
body and gave the Board of Management its full support.

SUPERVISORY BOARD ACTIVITIES
IN THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

We continually monitored the Board of Management’s activities
in managing the business and the Group as a whole. Specifi-
cally, this supervisory role consisted of ensuring that these
activities were lawful, compliant, appropriate, and efficient.

The primary prerequisites for fulfilling this role were the Board
of Management’s written and oral reports. The Board of Man-
agement kept us regularly informed in good time on corporate
strategy, planning, business development of the Group and its
different segments, the risk situation, risk management, com-
pliance, innovation focuses, and any deviations in the business
development from original plans, as well as significant business
transactions involving the Company and its significant subsid-
jaries and associates.

The Board of Management fulfilled its duties to inform quickly
and in full. The Board of Management’s reports met all statutory
requirements, the standards of good corporate governance, and
the criteria imposed on them by us with regard to both content
and scope. In addition to the reports, we requested and received
supplementary information. We reviewed, critically analyzed
and verified the plausibility of these reports and other information.

The Rules of Procedure of the Board of Management and
Supervisory Board include a list of transactions and measures
for which the Board of Management has to obtain approval from
the Supervisory Board. We met with the Board of Management
to discuss and thoroughly review the business transactions and
measures presented to us in the 2018 financial year for approval
in line with this document. We approved the transactions and
measures submitted for resolution.

The frequency of plenary and committee meetings mean that
we are in close contact with the Board of Management. The
Board of Management also reports on individual issues in
writing or in discussions between the meetings. In addition, the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board is in contact with the Chair-
man of the Board of Management at regular appointments at
which current business transactions, strategy issues, planning,
business development, the risk situation, risk management, and
compliance, as well as other significant events, are discussed.

In the 2018 financial year, 6 Supervisory Board meetings, 1
one-day off-site conference, and 28 meetings of the Supervisory
Board committees took place. The overall participation rate was
around 95 percent. Each of the Supervisory Board members
attended more than half of the meetings of the Supervisory
Board and the respective committees on which they sit. Written
votes were used where resolutions were required between the
meetings.

In the meeting on February 21, 2018, in the presence of the
external auditor, we dealt with the Company’s 2017 annual
financial statements and consolidated financial statements, as
well as the Group management report, which is combined with
the management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined
management report), including the combined non-financial
(Group) statement contained in the combined management
report as a separate section. Our approval of the 2017 annual
financial statements was based on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee. The same applies to the review of the com-
bined non-financial statement. We agreed to the Board of
Management’s proposal on the appropriation of net income.
We resolved to reappoint Timotheus Hottges as Chairman of
the Board of Management, to assign the Finance department to
Dr. Christian P. lllek effective January 1, 2019, to make a minor
modification to the Board of Management compensation system
with respect to short-term variable remuneration, and to acquire
shares in OTE. We also approved the agenda for the 2018 share-
holders’ meeting and dealt with the current situation at T-Systems.
The Board of Management reported comprehensively on the

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.



current situation and the most important financial and opera-
tional KPIs for the Company and its segments.

In our meeting on April 29, 2018, following an in-depth report
by the Board of Management and intense discussions, we dealt
with the planned business combination of T-Mobile US and the
mobile communications provider Sprint.

In the meeting before the shareholders’ meeting on May 16,
2018, the Board of Management reported in detail on the cur-
rent situation and the financial and operational KPIs of the Com-
pany and its segments in the first quarter of 2018. The Board
of Management updated us on the core messages from the
Capital Markets Day which took place in May 2018. In addition,
we approved the conversion of the legal form of DTSE from a
GmbH into an SE.

In the meeting on July 13, 2018, we appointed Birgit Bohle as
the new Board member responsible for Human Resources and
as Labor Director, both effective January 1, 2019 until Decem-
ber 31, 2021.

In the meeting on September 4, 2018, the Board of Manage-
ment reported on the current situation and the financial and
operational KPIs of the Company and its segments in the
second quarter of 2018. We also intensively discussed the
Board of Management compensation system. Furthermore,
we passed a resolution to establish a new Board department
for USA and Group Development effective January 1, 2019
and appointed Thorsten Langheim to the Board of Manage-
ment as the member responsible for this new department
effective January 1, 2019 until December 31, 2021.

During the off-site conference of the Supervisory Board and the
Board of Management that was held the following day, we dealt
with the Company'’s strategy. We debated the status of the strat-
egy and progression with its implementation, and discussed
individual strategic focal topics.

In our meeting on December 19, 2018, we adopted resolutions
on a variety of Board of Management compensation topics,
such as target achievement for variable remuneration. The
Board of Management reported on the current situation and the
financial and operational KPIs in the Company and its segments
in the third quarter of 2018. A further focus of the meeting was
the resolution on the budget and on the annual financing plan
for the 2019 financial year. We also acknowledged the medium-
term planning for 2019 to 2022 and dealt with the Group risk
report. In addition, we adopted resolutions on the acquisition of
further spectrum in the United States and on a range of restruc-
turing measures at the Group in Germany.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

In our plenary meetings and in the Audit Committee in particu-
lar, we also regularly supervised the management of the com-
pany by the Board of Management. As part of this, we made
sure that the Board of Management ensured compliance with
legal provisions and internal standards and policies through
the Group-wide compliance organization. We also regularly met
with the Board of Management to discuss the Group-wide risk
management system that it had introduced. Based on our own
reviews and on the audit reports from the external auditors, we
came to the conclusion that the internal compliance systems and
the internal control and risk management systems are effective.

Outside of its meetings, the Supervisory Board attended infor-
mation events to keep up to date on the latest topics and
developments.

ORGANIZATION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD’S ACTIVITIES
To increase the efficiency of our work, and in consideration of
the specific requirements we have to fulfill, we have set up the
committees listed below, all of which have an equal number of
shareholders’ and employees’ representatives, with the excep-
tion of the Nomination Committee. In regard to committee mem-
bership, our aim is to achieve regular rotation among the Super-
visory Board members. Our objective is also to ensure that the
chairperson roles on the committees are occupied by different
members. The committees’ chairpersons regularly reported to
us at our plenary meetings on the content and results of com-
mittee meetings.

SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES
General Committee

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)

Josef Bednarski

Dr. Rolf Bésinger (since June 28, 2018)
Johannes Geismann (until May 17, 2018)
Lothar Schroder

Finance Committee

Dr. Ulrich Schréder (Chairman until February 6, 2018)
Monika Brandl (until June 30, 2018)

Dr. Ginther Braunig (since March 29, 2018)
Klaus-Dieter Hanas (until November 20, 2018)

Nicole Koch (since July 1, 2018)

Dagmar P. Kollmann

Frank Sauerland (since November 28, 2018)

Michael Sommer (until November 20, 2018)
Karl-Heinz Streibich (Chairman since March 29, 2018)
Karin Topel (since November 28, 2018)
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Audit Committee

Dagmar P. Kollmann (Chairwoman)
Josef Bednarski

Dr. Rolf Bésinger (since June 28, 2018)
Johannes Geismann (until May 17, 2018)
Prof. Dr. Michael Kaschke

Petra Steffi Kreusel

Sibylle Spoo (since January 1, 2018)

Staff Committee

Lothar Schroder (Chairman)
Josef Bednarski

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner
Margret Suckale

Nomination Committee

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)

Dr. Rolf Bésinger (since June 28, 2018)
Johannes Geismann (until May 17, 2018)
Dagmar P. Kollmann

Mediation Committee

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)
Josef Bednarski

Dr. Rolf Bésinger (since June 28, 2018)
Johannes Geismann (until May 17, 2018)
Lothar Schroder

Technology and Innovation Committee

Lothar Schréder (Chairman)

Sari Baldauf (until May 17, 2018)

Monika Brandl (from January 1 until June 30, 2018)
Odysseus D. Chatzidis (since July 1, 2018)

Lars Hinrichs

Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke (since November 28, 2018)
Michael Sommer (until November 20, 2018)

Karl-Heinz Streibich

Margret Suckale (since June 28, 2018)

Special Committee for U.S. Business

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)

Dr. Gunther Braunig (since March 29, 2018)
Johannes Geismann (until May 17, 2018)
Constantin Greve (since November 28, 2018)
Dr. Helga Jung (since June 28, 2018)

Lothar Schroder

Dr. Ulrich Schroder (until February 6, 2018)
Michael Sommer (until November 20, 2018)
Sibylle Spoo

Special Committee on the Acquisition of
Spectrum in Germany (since January 1, 2019)
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman)

Josef Bednarski

Lothar Schroder

Karl-Heinz Streibich

The General Committee met eleven times in 2018, one meeting
of which was held jointly with the Finance Committee. The com-
mittee focused mainly on preparing the recommendations for
decision for the plenary meetings in regard to all of the deci-
sions on Board of Management and Supervisory Board matters.
Among other things, the committee reviewed the compensation
system and the appropriateness of Board of Management re-
muneration as scheduled. Succession planning for the Board

of Management was also discussed in the meeting. In the joint
meeting with the Finance Committee, the General Committee
dealt in particular with the 2019 budget and the medium-term
planning for 2019 to 2022.

The Finance Committee met three times, of which one meeting
was together with the General Committee. Investment planning
and focuses were the subject of the meetings. The committee
also dealt with general topics such as interest and foreign cur-
rency management, and a spectrum review. In the joint meeting
with the General Committee, the Finance Committee discussed
the 2019 annual financing plan in particular.

The Audit Committee met five times in 2018. The external audi-
tor was present at all of these meetings. The Audit Committee’s
area of responsibility is defined by German legislation and the
German Corporate Governance Code. It includes, in particular,
the monitoring of accounting and the accounting process, the
effectiveness of the internal control system, risk management
and the internal auditing systems, compliance, and data privacy.
The Audit Committee also handled matters relating to the audit
of the Company’s financial statements, in particular selecting
and ensuring the independence of the external auditor, and
monitored the additional services provided by the external audi-
tor, the commissioning of the external auditor, the stipulation of
the main focuses of the audit, and the agreement on fees. After
thorough discussion, the Audit Committee issued a recommen-
dation to us about our suggestion for the external auditor to be
nominated by the 2018 shareholders’ meeting. The Audit Com-
mittee also regularly discussed the quarterly reports on busi-
ness development. Additionally, the Audit Committee adopted a
resolution on the invitation to tender for the auditing of the an-
nual and consolidated financial statements and other auditing
services from the 2021 financial year onwards. Furthermore, the
Audit Committee commissioned PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt/Main with a limited
assurance engagement on the combined non-financial state-
ment contained within the combined management report. In
the 2018 financial year, the Audit Committee again held one
extraordinary meeting on fundamental issues affecting the
Group. At this meeting, the committee dealt in particular with
the effectiveness of the reporting system, the development

of the report structure, the effectiveness of the internal control
system and the compliance management system, and new legal
requirements affecting the Audit Committee as well as current
legal developments at German and European level. At the same
meeting, the Audit Committee dealt with the topic of data
privacy and data security and the members discussed and fa-
miliarized themselves with new requirements and developments
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For more details
on the Company’s
corporate gover-
nance policy,
please also refer
to a separate
section of the
Annual Report,
page 14 et seq.

regarding German and EU law, financial accounting standards,
the Group Development department, and process analysis
tools. In addition, outside of its meetings the Audit Committee
members attended in-depth workshops on structuring the tender
and selection process for the external auditor, implementing
new, international accounting standards, the digitalization of the
financial statement auditing process, and the risk management
system.

Dagmar P. Kollmann, Chairwoman of the Audit Committee,

has expert knowledge of accounting and auditing. She is also
particularly knowledgeable and experienced in the application
of accounting standards and internal control procedures. She
is independent, and is not a former member of the Board of
Management of Deutsche Telekom AG. Like the members of
the full Supervisory Board, the members of the Audit Committee
overall are very familiar with the sector in which Deutsche
Telekom AG is active.

The Staff Committee held two meetings in 2018 and mainly
discussed matters relating to headcount and staffing require-
ment planning for the purpose of preparing Supervisory Board
resolutions on the 2019 budget. In addition, the committee
dealt with topics including qualitative HR planning, skill and
succession management, the women'’s quota, and HR organi-
zation, and received information on the results of the pulse
survey 2018 on employee satisfaction.

The Nomination Committee met three times in 2018, and dealt
in its meetings with succession planning for the Supervisory
Board.

The Mediation Committee to be formed in accordance with
§ 27 (3) of the Codetermination Act did not meet in 2018.

The Technology and Innovation Committee held three meet-
ings in 2018 and dealt with a very broad range of topics from a
variety of areas. For example, the committee discussed trends
and strategic approaches, 5G, voice control technology, the
transformation of the Technology and Innovation Board depart-
ment, the TV strategy in Europe, and innovative ideas from
corporate bodies and codetermination structures. The commit-
tee supports and promotes innovation and technological devel-
opments at infrastructure and product level. It supports the
Board of Management with advice on how to tap new growth
areas.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The Special Committee for U.S. Business held one meeting
in 2018 and discussed in particular the planned business com-
bination of T-Mobile US and mobile communications provider
Sprint.

The Special Committee on the Acquisition of Spectrum in
Germany has existed since January 1, 2019. The committee
will be kept updated by the Board of Management regarding
the planned 5G auction and provide guidance and advice in
this context.

CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

Johannes Geismann was a member of the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG and, at the same time, State Secretary
at the Federal Ministry of Finance. New member of the Super-
visory Board, Dr. Rolf Bosinger, is also State Secretary at the
Federal Ministry of Finance. Dr. Ulrich Schréder was a member
of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG and, at the
same time, CEO of the Executive Board at Kreditanstalt fur
Wiederaufbau (KfW). New member of the Supervisory Board,
Dr. Gunther Braunig, is also the current CEO of the Executive
Board at KfW (Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau). We are aware
that Deutsche Telekom AG is currently involved in legal disputes
in which the Federal Republic of Germany is the opposing
party. There were no conflicts of interest requiring action with
any of the aforementioned members of the Supervisory Board.
Should a conflict of interest arise, the Supervisory Board mem-
bers will discuss how to proceed with the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board.

Michael Sommer is a member of the supervisory board of ZDF
Enterprises GmbH. The company in question is responsible
for program sales, coproductions, and the marketing of online
rights, among other things. Mr. Sommer has therefore reported
a potential conflict of interest to the Supervisory Board. It was
agreed that he would not take part in deliberations and votes
in the Supervisory Board related to the topics of TV and online
rights. There were no conflicts of interest requiring action as of
Mr. Sommer’s departure from the Supervisory Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Supervisory Board and Board of Management are aware
that good corporate governance is an important foundation

for corporate success. The provisions of the German Corporate
Governance Code are hence reflected in the Company’s statutes.
The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board last issued
their Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code on December 30, 2018.=
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CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION

OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT D

At our meeting on February 21, 2018, we approved the re-
appointment of Timotheus Hottges for the period from Janu-
ary 1, 2019 until December 31, 2023. Thomas Dannenfeldt
announced to us that he would not be standing for a further
term of office on personal grounds. We resolved to assign the
Finance department to Dr. Christian P. lllek effective January 1,
2019.

In our meeting on July 13, 2018, we appointed Birgit Bohle as
the Board member responsible for Human Resources and as
Labor Director, both effective January 1, 2019 until Decem-

ber 31, 2021.

We passed a resolution on September 4, 2018 to establish a

new Board department for USA and Group Development effec-
tive January 1, 2019, and appointed Thorsten Langheim to the
Board of Management as the member responsible for this new
department effective January 1, 2019 until December 31, 2021.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION

OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARDO

Shareholders’ representatives: Dr. Ulrich Schroder resigned
from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board
effective February 6, 2018. He was succeeded by Dr. Ginther
Braunig effective March 21, 2018, who was appointed to the
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG by the Bonn Dis-
trict Court until the end of the next shareholders’ meeting. In
a resolution passed by the shareholders’ meeting on May 17,
2018, Dr. Gunther Braunig was elected for a further term of
office until the end of the 2023 shareholders’ meeting.

After being appointed to the Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Telekom AG by the Bonn District Court until the end of the next
shareholders’ meeting, succeeding Dr. Wulf H. Bernotat effec-
tive September 28, 2017, the shareholders’ meeting on May 17,
2018 appointed Margret Suckale to the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG until the end of the 2023 shareholders’
meeting.

Sari Baldauf left the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG
effective the end of the shareholders’ meeting on May 17, 2018.
In her place, Harald Kriiger was elected by the shareholders’
meeting on May 17, 2018 as a member of the Supervisory Board
until the end of the 2023 shareholders’ meeting.

At the shareholders’ meeting on May 17, 2018, Prof. Ulrich Lehner
was elected for a further term of office as a member of the Super-
visory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG until the end of the 2022
shareholders’ meeting. This further term takes account of the
upper age limit set by the Supervisory Board. Following the
shareholders’ meeting, the Supervisory Board re-elected

Prof. Lehner as Chairman.

Johannes Geismann resigned from his position as a member
of the Supervisory Board effective the end of the share-
holders’ meeting on May 17, 2018. He was succeeded by
Dr. Rolf Bosinger effective June 1, 2018, who was appointed
to the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG by the
Bonn District Court until the end of the next shareholders’
meeting in 2019.

Employees’ representatives: Hans-Jlrgen Kallmeier resigned
from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG effective midnight, December 31, 2017.
He was succeeded by Odysseus D. Chatzidis effective Janu-
ary 3, 2018, who was appointed to the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG by the Bonn District Court.

The employees’ representatives on the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG Josef Bednarski, Monika Brandl,
Klaus-Dieter Hanas, Petra Steffi Kreusel, Lothar Schroder,
Michael Sommer, and Sibylle Spoo, each of whose term of
office expired at the end of the shareholders’ meeting on
May 17, 2018, were court-appointed to the Supervisory Board
at the same time.

Monika Brandl resigned from her position as a member of the
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG effective June 30,
2018. She was succeeded by Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke effec-
tive July 5, 2018, who was appointed to the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG by the Bonn District Court.

At the delegates’ assembly on November 20, 2018, the em-
ployees’ representatives Josef Bednarski, Odysseus D. Chatzidis,
Nicole Koch, Petra Steffi Kreusel, Lothar Schroéder, Nicole
Seelemann-Wandtke, Sibylle Spoo, and Karin Topel were
re-elected to the Supervisory Board, and Constantin Greve
and Frank Sauerland were appointed to the Supervisory Board
for the first time. Klaus-Dieter Hanas and Michael Sommer did
not stand for re-election and left the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG on November 20, 2018.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of the former
members for their valuable support.

]

For detailed
information on the
Board of Manage-
ment members,
please refer to
Deutsche Telekom
AG's website at
www.telekom.
com/en/investor-
relations/
management-
and-corporate-
governance/
board-of-
management.

]

For detailed
information on the
Supervisory Board
members, please
refer to Deutsche
Telekom AG's
website at
www.telekom.
com/en/investor-
relations/
management-and-
corporate-
governance/
supervisory-board.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF

THE PARENT COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

The Board of Management submitted the annual financial state-
ments, the consolidated financial statements, and the Group
management report, of which the latter is combined with the
management report of Deutsche Telekom AG (combined
management report) and includes the non-financial (Group)
statement as a separate section, together with its proposal for
the appropriation of net income, to us in good time.

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesell-
schaft, Frankfurt/Main, which was appointed as auditor of the
single-entity financial statements and auditor of the consoli-
dated financial statements (external auditor) for the 2018 finan-
cial year by the shareholders’ meeting on the recommendation
of the Audit Committee and proposed for appointment by the
entire Supervisory Board, audited the annual financial state-
ments as of December 31, 2018, which were prepared in accor-
dance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch - HGB), and the combined management
report, as well as the consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2018, which were prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of
German commercial law pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB, and the
combined management report, and issued an unqualified audit
opinion for each document. The auditor also issued an unquali-
fied audit opinion for the combined non-financial statement
contained in the combined management report.

Before the Audit Committee passed a resolution on its recom-
mendation to the Supervisory Board for the proposal for elec-
tion to be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting, the external
auditor confirmed that there are no business, financial, personal
or other relationships between itself, its corporate bodies, and
audit managers on the one hand and the Company and its cor-
porate body members on the other that may cast doubt on its
independence. The auditor also stated to what extent non-audit
services were rendered for the Company in the previous finan-
cial year and to what extent such services have been contracted
for the following year. On this basis, the Audit Committee veri-
fied and confirmed the external auditor’s requisite indepen-
dence. It informed us of the outcome of this review before we
prepared our resolution to propose to the shareholders’ meeting
the appointment of said independent auditor.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The external auditor also confirmed to the Audit Committee

and the Supervisory Board in their financial statement review
meetings on February 19 and February 20, 2019, respectively,
that there are no circumstances that may give rise to doubts
about the external auditor’s impartiality. In this context, the
auditor also reported on any services rendered in addition to
auditing services. In the Supervisory Board meeting on Febru-
ary 20, 2019, the Audit Committee informed us about its moni-
toring of the auditor’s independence while taking account of the
non-audit services provided, and of its conclusion that the audi-
tor continues to be independent as necessary.

The external auditor submitted its reports on the nature and
extent as well as the result of its audits (audit report) to us.
The documentation on the financial statements (including the
combined non-financial statement), the external auditor’s audit
report, and the Board of Management’s proposal for the appro-
priation of net income were made available to all members of
the Supervisory Board in good time.

We conducted our own in-depth review of the documents sub-
mitted by the Board of Management and the external auditor’s
audit reports. In preparation, the Audit Committee had con-
ducted a thorough review of the aforementioned documents.
The annual financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements, and the combined management report (including
the combined non-financial statement contained therein), as
well as the Board of Management’s proposal for the appropria-
tion of net income, were explained in detail by the Board of
Management to the members of the Audit Committee at its
meeting on February 19, 2019. The members of the Board of
Management also answered the committee members’ ques-
tions. Moreover, the external auditor also attended this meeting
and reported on its audit, in particular the key audit areas de-
fined in agreement with the Audit Committee and the Super-
visory Board, and the main findings of its audit, and explained
its audit report. The external auditor did not identify any mate-
rial weaknesses in the internal control system at Group level, in
the risk management system, or in the accounting process. The
members of the Audit Committee acknowledged and critically
reviewed the audit report and audit opinion, and discussed
them, as well as the audit itself, with the external auditor. The
review included questions about the nature and extent of the
audit and about the audit findings. The Audit Committee satis-
fied itself that the audit and the audit report were compliant. In
particular, its members had assured themselves that the audit
report and the audit conducted by the independent auditor met
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the legal requirements. The Audit Committee agrees with the
external auditor that there were no material weaknesses, in
particular with regard to the accounting process, in the internal
control or risk management systems at Group level. The same
applies to the combined non-financial statement. The Audit
Committee recommended that we approve the results of the
audit conducted by the external auditor and, since it had no
objections to the documents submitted by the Board of Man-
agement, that we approve the annual financial statements and
the consolidated financial statements; it also recommended that
we not raise any objections against the combined management
report including the combined non-financial statement, and that
we support the Board of Management’s proposal for the appro-
priation of net income.

We performed the final review of the annual financial state-
ments, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined
management report, including the combined non-financial state-
ment, as well as the Board of Management’s proposal for the
appropriation of net income, at the Supervisory Board meeting
on February 20, 2019, taking into account the report and
recommendations of the Audit Committee and the external
auditor’s audit report. The Board of Management attended this
meeting, explained the documents they had submitted, and
answered our questions. The external auditor also attended this
meeting and reported on its audit and the main findings of its
audit, explained its audit report, and answered our questions,
in particular relating to the nature and extent of the audit and
the audit findings. Based on this and the report presented by
the Audit Committee, we were satisfied that the audit and the
audit report were compliant. We followed the Audit Committee’s
recommendation and approved the result of the external auditor’s
audit. The same applies to the combined non-financial statement.

Based on the final outcome of our review of the annual financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the
combined management report, including the combined non-
financial statement, as well as the Board of Management’s pro-
posal for the appropriation of net income, no objections need
be raised. The same applies to the Corporate Governance State-
ment even insofar as it is not to be audited by the external audi-
tor. We followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation and
approved the annual financial statements and the consolidated
financial statements.

The approval of the Supervisory Board constitutes formal
approval of the annual financial statements.

The Supervisory Board’s assessment of the position of the
Company and the Group is the same as that which the Board
of Management presented in its combined management report,
including the combined non-financial statement. It followed
the Audit Committee’s recommendation and approved these
documents.

When dealing with the budget and medium-term planning on
December 19, 2018, we conducted an in-depth examination

of financial and investment plans, discussing in particular the
development of earnings, free cash flow, and balance sheet
ratios. The Board of Management’s proposal concerning the
appropriation of net income was examined by the Audit Com-
mittee on February 19, 2019, and by the Supervisory Board

on February 20, 2019. The external auditor was present at both
meetings. We followed the Audit Committee’s recommendation
to approve and support the Board of Management’s proposal to
pay out shareholder remuneration of around EUR 3,320 million
and to carry forward EUR 3,711 million to unappropriated net
income.

At our meeting on September 4, 2018, the Board of Management
informed us that no dependent company report would be pre-
pared for the 2018 financial year since there was no legal re-
quirement to do so. We acknowledged and approved this step.
Dependent company reports are not planned for subsequent
financial years provided no circumstances or legal requirements
arise that call for such.

We would like to thank the members of the Board of Manage-
ment, all of Deutsche Telekom’s employees and the works
committees for their commitment and dedication in the 2018
financial year.

Bonn, February 20, 2019
The Supervisory Board

ot

Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner
Chairman

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 2018

In the following text, the Board of Management and the Super-
visory Board report on corporate governance at Deutsche
Telekom AG in accordance with Section 3.10 of the German
Corporate Governance Code. This Corporate Governance
Report is published together with the Corporate Governance
Statement in accordance with § 289f HGB, which is published
on Deutsche Telekom’s website. &

Sound, systematic corporate governance is particularly im-
portant for an international group such as Deutsche Telekom
with its many subsidiaries and associates. The Company com-
plies with legal requirements, national provisions, such as
the recommendations of the Government Commission on the
German Corporate Governance Code, as well as with inter-
national standards. The Supervisory Board and the Board of
Management are convinced that sound corporate governance,
taking company and industry-specific issues into account, is
an important building block for the future success of Deutsche
Telekom AG. Accordingly, responsibility for compliance with the
principles of sound corporate governance is vested in senior
management.

In the 2018 financial year, the Board of Management and
Supervisory Board once again carefully examined the corporate
governance of Deutsche Telekom AG and the Deutsche Telekom
Group as well as the contents of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code. During the reporting period just ended, as in prior
years, Deutsche Telekom AG again fulfilled all of the Code’s
recommendations. The Supervisory Board and Board of Man-
agement of Deutsche Telekom AG therefore issued an unqual-
ified Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code on December 30, 2018:

Declaration of Conformity pursuant to § 161 of the German

Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG).

I. The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG hereby declare that, in the period
since the issuance of the most recent declaration of con-
formity pursuant to § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act on
December 30, 2017, Deutsche Telekom AG has complied
with the recommendations of the Government Commission
on the German Corporate Governance Code announced by
the Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection on
April 24, 2017 in the official section of the Federal Gazette
(Bundesanzeiger), without exception.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

II. The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG hereby declare further that Deutsche
Telekom AG has complied with the recommendations of the
Government Commission on the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code, published by the Federal Ministry of Justice and
Consumer Protection in the official section of the Federal
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on April 24, 2017, without
exception.

The Declaration of Conformity can be found on the website of
Deutsche Telekom AG. This website also provides access to the
declarations of conformity from previous years. ™

Cooperation between the Board of Management and the
Supervisory Board. The Board of Management and the Super-
visory Board work closely together for the good of the Company
and maintain regular contact. The Board of Management agrees
the Company’s strategic alignment with the Supervisory Board
and discusses the status of strategy implementation with the
Supervisory Board at regular intervals. The Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG holds a minimum of four meetings a
year. In 2018 there were six Supervisory Board meetings and a
one-day off-site conference on the strategic alignment of the
Company. In addition, 28 Supervisory Board committee meet-
ings were held. The Board of Management keeps the Super-
visory Board fully and regularly informed in good time on
corporate strategy, planning, business developments, the risk
situation, risk management, compliance, innovation focuses,
and any deviations in the business developments from original
plans, as well as significant business transactions involving the
Company and major Group companies. The Board of Manage-
ment regularly submits written and oral reports. Between meet-
ings, the Board of Management also informs the Supervisory
Board of the current business development of the Group and
its segments on a monthly basis. The Board of Management
reports to the Supervisory Board on individual issues in writing
or in discussions. The information and reporting obligations of
the Board of Management specified by the Supervisory Board
go beyond statutory requirements. The activities of the Board
of Management and the Supervisory Board, as well as the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board, are specified in separate
Rules of Procedure. Those that govern the Board of Manage-
ment provide guidance on its schedule of responsibilities and
the majorities required for resolutions, among other matters.
The Chairmen of the two Boards also exchange information
regularly in person.=
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Composition of the Board of Management. As of January 1,
2019, the Board of Management’s schedule of responsibilities
states that there are nine Board departments instead of eight:
the department of the Chairman of the Board of Management;
Finance; Human Resources; Data Privacy, Legal Affairs and
Compliance; T-Systems; Germany; Technology and Innovation;
and Europe. The Board of Management was extended to in-
clude the USA and Group Development Board department.
Each Board of Management member is authorized to manage
the sphere of responsibility allocated to him or her. Certain
matters are subject to approval by the full Board of Manage-
ment. Furthermore, every Board member can submit matters
to the full Board of Management for decision. Members of the
Board of Management should not be older than 65 years of age
(standard age limit). In September 2015, the Supervisory Board
set out target figures for the number of women on the Board of
Management. The Supervisory Board set a short initial deadline
for implementation at the end of 2015 within which the current
proportion of women on the Board of Management (1 of 7) was
to remain stable. The Supervisory Board also resolved that the
proportion of women should increase to 2 of 7 within the second
implementation period by the end of 2020. =

Composition of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG consists of twenty members, ten repre-
senting the shareholders and ten representing the employees.
The Supervisory Board members representing the shareholders
are elected by the shareholders’ meeting by simple majority.
As in previous years, elections to the Supervisory Board were
for individual members held at the last shareholders’ meeting
on May 17, 2018. For each candidate proposed to the share-
holders’ meeting on May 17, 2018, a résumé was included with
the agenda containing relevant details of their expertise, skills,
and experience, as well as their most important activities next
to the Supervisory Board mandate. The standard five-year terms
of office of the individual Supervisory Board members repre-
senting the shareholders end on different dates. This ensures
continuity regarding the Supervisory Board’s composition. The
Supervisory Board members representing employees were most
recently elected at the delegates’ assembly on November 20,
2018, according to the provisions of the German Codetermina-
tion Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz - MitbestG).= The résumés of
all Supervisory Board members are published on the Deutsche
Telekom website and updated annually.

As for its composition, the Supervisory Board has set itself the
following objectives:

m Taking into account the Company’s specific situation, the
Supervisory Board resolves to consider the aspect of diversity
in addition to the requisite expertise of a candidate when
issuing recommendations for future appointments to the
Supervisory Board to the competent election bodies.

= The Supervisory Board has to be composed in such a way
that its members as a group possess the knowledge, ability,
and expert experience required to properly perform its tasks.

The Supervisory Board supports an appropriate degree of
women representation on the Supervisory Board. A minimum
of 30 percent of members of the Supervisory Board shall be
women.

m |n view of the Company’s international focus, candidates with
an international background are to be given appropriate con-
sideration in future appointments to the Supervisory Board.

m Conflicts of interest are to be avoided in appointments to the
Supervisory Board.

The term of office for members of the Supervisory Board shall
end no later than the close of the shareholders’ meeting after
the Supervisory Board member reaches the age of 75 unless
there are special reasons for this not to be the case (standard
age limit).

= A regular limit of three terms of office shall apply for member-
ship on the Supervisory Board. Appointments by court order
that are limited until the next shareholders’ meeting shall not,
however, be considered a term of office.

m The Supervisory Board shall include at least sixteen members
who are independent within the meaning of Section 5.4.2 of
the German Corporate Governance Code. It is assumed that
those Supervisory Board members elected in accordance
with the Codetermination Act are independent in principle
as defined. On the shareholders’ representative side, at least
six members of the Supervisory Board must therefore be
independent.

]
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The Supervisory Board considers the following skills, expertise
and knowledge to be essential for it to exercise its role (profile
of skills and expertise):

1. Strategic skills and expertise

m TC/IT industry, related industries

= Market (competition and customers), sales,
and customer business

Products

Market participants

Regulated industries

M&A processes

n

. Financial skills and expertise

®m Accounting processes, risk management,
audit of financial statements

= Financial KPIs and systems

= Capital and financial markets

. Control skills and expertise
Management/CEQO
Supervisory board
International management experience
Codetermination
Legal affairs/compliance
Regulatory and competition law

HE B B E B ER®

. Innovation skills and expertise
New technologies
Digitalization
IT/NT/telecommunications

" P

5. Sustainability expertise, social skills
= Human resources

= Change management

= Organizational and cultural change

= Diversity

= Sustainability

Regarding the achievement level of the Supervisory Board
membership targets and meeting the stipulations of the profile
of skills and expertise:

The proportion of women on the Supervisory Board was at least
40 percent throughout the 2018 financial year. This means that
the target of reaching the quota of 30 percent, which is now set
out by law, was fulfilled.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The Supervisory Board is composed in such a way that its
members as a group possess the knowledge, ability and expert
experience required to properly perform its tasks. The members
of the Supervisory Board represent various different professions
and many of them have a multinational background. The avoid-
ance of conflicts of interest and compliance with the standard
age limit and the regular limit on terms of office were taken into
consideration in the appointments to the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board is convinced that, as a whole, it meets
the stipulations of the profile of skills and expertise.

Furthermore, the proposals for election took account of the
targets resolved by the Supervisory Board for its own compo-
sition as well as the skills and expertise profile drawn up by
the Supervisory Board for itself as a whole.

The shareholders’ meeting elected Margret Suckale to the
Supervisory Board. She has a high level of experience in com-
mittee work and in leadership roles. Previous seats on the man-
agement boards at Deutsche Bahn AG and BASF SE contribute
to her extensive expertise in legal affairs, HR, regulation, and
corporate governance.

Dr. Gunther Braunig, CEO of KfW Bankengruppe and a recog-
nized expert in capital markets, international financing, legal
affairs, and HR, was also elected to the Supervisory Board by
the shareholders’ meeting. Dr. Braunig has extensive national
and international leadership experience, gained in part during
many years on the executive board of KfW Bankengruppe.

In addition, Harald Krliger, a nationally and internationally
renowned expert in the fields of innovation management and
technology, was elected to the Supervisory Board. He is the
CEO of BMW AG and has spent many years in top management
roles in areas such as production, sales, strategy, and HR.

Prof. Ulrich Lehner has long-standing experience as the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG. He is
also a member of other supervisory bodies for global enter-
prises active in the fields of energy technology, automotive,
consumer goods, pharmaceuticals, and manufacturing tech-
nology. As a qualified auditor, Prof. Lehner is also particularly
knowledgeable about accounting processes and the auditing of
financial statements. He has extensive expertise in national and
international corporate leadership, including from his previous
role as CEO of Henkel AG & Co. KGaA.
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The Supervisory Board is convinced that - in accordance with
the recommendation of the German Corporate Governance
Code - it has a sufficient number of independent members
to provide impartial advice to and monitor the Board of
Management.

The Supervisory Board is convinced that Lars Hinrichs,

Dr. Helga Jung, Prof. Michael Kaschke, Dagmar P. Kollmann,
Harald Kriiger, Prof. Ulrich Lehner, Karl-Heinz Streibich, and
Margret Suckale are independent Supervisory Board members
within the meaning of the German Corporate Governance Code.

The Supervisory Board will continue to ensure that the candi-
dates proposed for election at the shareholders’ meeting can
dedicate the required amount of time to their Supervisory Board
tasks at Deutsche Telekom AG.

Tasks assigned to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory
Board appoints the members of the Board of Management

and regularly supervises its management of the Company. The
Supervisory Board is directly involved in all decisions of strate-
gic importance to the Company. This involvement is guaranteed
through the specification of approval provisos for the Super-
visory Board and through the agreement of the strategic align-
ment of the Company. The work of the Supervisory Board is
specified in Rules of Procedure. To clarify the reporting obliga-
tions on the part of the Board of Management, the Supervisory
Board has drawn up a list of transactions subject to approval.
This list forms an integral part of the Rules of Procedure for the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Management, respectively.
The Supervisory Board and Audit Committee each assess the
efficiency of their work every two years, which also provides
new impetus for their work on a regular basis. The self-assess-
ment carried out to this end is based on a comprehensive ques-
tionnaire followed by intense discussion and consultation on
the results by the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee.
The Supervisory Board carried out its last efficiency audit in
the 2017 financial year. As well as the work of the Supervisory
Board as a whole, this also considered the work of all of the
Board’s committees. A further, separate evaluation of the Audit
Committee was carried out most recently in 2018.

The members of the Supervisory Board take on the necessary
training and development measures required for their tasks on
their own and are supported by Deutsche Telekom AG in doing
so with a range of options including information events and
workshops with internal and external experts. The Company
offers new Supervisory Board members a customized program
to introduce them to the industry and the situation of the Com-
pany. Furthermore, a meeting extraordinary to regular reporting
is held to inform the members of the Audit Committee about the
latest changes in the law, new accounting and auditing stan-
dards, and any changes in corporate governance issues. The
members of the Supervisory Board are also kept up to date
about any new requirements for work on the Supervisory Board
at the regular Board and committee meetings.

In order to perform its tasks more effectively, the Supervisory
Board has nine committees. The General Committee deals with
personnel matters relating to the Board of Management and
prepares the meetings of the Supervisory Board. The Staff Com-
mittee deals with general personnel matters not relating to the
Board of Management. The Finance Committee mainly deals
with complex financial and business management topics within
the Company. The Audit Committee performs the tasks required
by law and recommended by the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code. These include, in particular, monitoring account-
ing and the accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal
control system, the risk management and internal auditing
systems, the audit of financial statements, compliance, and data
privacy. The Technology and Innovation Committee supports
and promotes innovation and technological developments at
infrastructure and product level and supports the Board of Man-
agement with advice on how to tap new growth areas. Further-
more, the Supervisory Board has formed a Nomination Commit-
tee, which consists exclusively of shareholders’ representatives.
The Nomination Committee is responsible in particular for pro-
posing to the Supervisory Board suitable candidates for the
latter to subsequently recommend to the shareholders’ meeting
for election. In addition, there is a Mediation Committee, which
was formed in accordance with § 27 (3) of the Codetermination
Act. Furthermore, a Special Committee for U.S. Business was
established in May 2014. In view of the planned 5G auction in
Germany, a Special Committee on the Acquisition of Spectrum
in Germany began its work on January 1, 2019.=

For further details
about the composi-
tion and working
methods of the
committees, please
refer to the “Super-
visory Board’s
report to the
shareholders’
meeting,”

page 7 et seq.

of the Annual
Report.
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For further details
on the members of
the Supervisory
Board and any
seats they hold on
the supervisory
boards of other
companies,
please refer to
page 270 et seq.
of the Annual
Report.

For details on
conflicts of interest
that have arisen,
please refer to the
“Supervisory
Board’s report to
the 2018 share-
holders’ meeting,”
page 7 et seq.

of the Annual
Report.

The committees’ chairpersons report to the Supervisory Board
on a regular basis on the work of the committees. The Chair-
woman of the Audit Committee, Dagmar P. Kollmann, has
expert knowledge of accounting and auditing. She is also
particularly knowledgeable and experienced in the application
of accounting standards and internal control procedures. She is
independent, and is not a former member of the Board of Man-
agement of Deutsche Telekom AG. Like the members of the full
Supervisory Board, the members of the Audit Committee overall
are very familiar with the sector in which Deutsche Telekom AG
is active.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board coordinates the work
of the Supervisory Board and presides over its meetings. In
addition to the organizational tasks relating to the Supervisory
Board, he maintains regular contact with the Chairman of the
Board of Management and the members of the Board of Man-
agement to discuss issues relating to the Company’s strategy,
planning, business development, the risk situation, risk man-
agement, and compliance, and is informed of the general busi-
ness situation and significant events. In this context, the Chair-
man of the Board of Management in particular informs the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of all events that are signifi-
cant to the situation, development, and governance of the
Company.=

Avoiding conflicts of interest. Board of Management members
and Supervisory Board members are obliged to disclose
immediately any conflicts of interest to the Supervisory Board.
Any functions assumed by members of the Board of Manage-
ment that are not covered by their Board of Management man-
date are subject to approval by the General Committee of the
Supervisory Board.=

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Risk and opportunity management. The Board of Management
and the Supervisory Board consider the approach to the
management of opportunities and risks arising in connection
with the Company’s business activities to be of fundamental
importance for professional corporate governance. The Board
of Management receives regular reports from the Group’s Risk
Management unit concerning current risks and their develop-
ment. In turn, it reports to the Supervisory Board on the risk
situation and the risk management system. The risk manage-
ment system in place at Deutsche Telekom AG is evaluated by
the external auditor, and it is constantly being expanded and
improved. In addition to the responsibilities assigned by law
and those recommended by the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code, the Audit Committee also deals with risk manage-
ment, including the monitoring of the effectiveness of the
internal risk management system. The system is designed to
manage a variety of risks, including financial risks and risks to
the Company’s reputation. =

Compliance. Compliance involves the observance of legal
requirements and internal Group rules. Deutsche Telekom AG
has a Group-wide compliance organization that is continuously
being improved (also published in the 2017 Corporate Respon-
sibility ReportD). There is also a Compliance Committee that
supports the Board of Management in further developing the
framework for an effective compliance management system.
The members of the Compliance Committee are experienced
managers in the areas of compliance, legal affairs, security,
internal auditing, and human resources. The Chief Compliance
Officer, appointed by the Board of Management, chairs the
Compliance Committee. A compliance officer has been ap-
pointed for each of the operating segments. Individual business
units have additional compliance officers/contacts depending
on their respective size and risk situation. Clear reporting struc-
tures have been implemented throughout the Group. The parti-
cular significance attached to compliance is underlined by the
decision to pool all compliance activities in the Board of Man-
agement department for Data Privacy, Legal Affairs and
Compliance.
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Deutsche Telekom AG has implemented a comprehensive
compliance management system. According to this system,

a compliance program is set up based on a structured risk
assessment process performed once a year throughout the
Group.™ The compliance management system also includes
the Code of Conduct, the Code of Ethics, and various policies.
The Code of Conduct defines how employees and management
should practice value-based and legally compliant conduct in
their daily business activities. The Code of Ethics addresses the
members of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG
and persons within the Group who carry special responsibility
for financial reporting. It obliges these individuals to comply
with the principles of honesty, integrity, transparency, and
ethical conduct.= The compliance management system in
place at Deutsche Telekom AG and other selected national and
international companies was certified as being appropriate and
effectively implemented by an external auditor in stages from
2016 through 2018 in accordance with IDW audit standard 980
with the focus on anticorruption.

Internal controls over financial reporting. Deutsche Telekom AG
has implemented a process to systematically assess the effec-
tiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting. This
process again provided evidence of the controls’ effectiveness
throughout the Group for the 2018 financial year. The Audit
Committee assumes the task of monitoring the accounting and

financial reporting processes on behalf of the Supervisory Board.

The system of internal controls over financial reporting is updated
on an ongoing basis and monitored separately by Internal Audit
and external auditors.

The Audit Committee also monitors the effectiveness of
the internal control system, which goes beyond financial
reporting. =

Accounting and audit of financial statements. An agree-
ment has been reached with the external auditor of Deutsche
Telekom AG that the Chairman of the Supervisory Board/the
Audit Committee shall be advised immediately of any issues
uncovered during the audit that might give rise to statements
of exclusion or reservation in the external auditor’s report,
unless these issues can be resolved forthwith. Moreover, it has
been agreed that the external auditor shall immediately report
any findings and issues that emerge during the audit and that
have a direct bearing upon the tasks of the Supervisory Board.
According to this agreement, the external auditor undertakes to
inform the Supervisory Board or make a note in the audit report
of any facts discovered during the audit that might indicate a
discrepancy in the Declaration of Conformity submitted by the
Board of Management and Supervisory Board with the German
Corporate Governance Code. The Audit Committee supervises
the independence of the external auditor.

Transparent shareholder communication. We are committed
to providing institutional investors, retail shareholders, financial
analysts, and the general public with regular, comprehensive,
transparent and up-to-date information about the Company’s
position at the same time and on an equal basis to ensure a
high level of transparency and equality of information. Signifi-
cant information, such as press releases, ad-hoc notifications,
presentations from analyst conferences, all financial reports and
the financial calendar, is made available on the Company’s web-
sites. Additionally, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board once
again made himself available to investors to discuss matters
specific to the Supervisory Board.

Share ownership by members of the Board of Management
and the Supervisory Board. Total direct or indirect holdings
of shares in the Company or associated financial instruments
by members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory
Board do not exceed 1 percent of the shares issued by the
Company.

Bonn, February 20, 2019
The Supervisory Board and the Board of Management

]

For detailed
information about
the compliance
management
system, please
refer to Deutsche
Telekom AG’s
website at
www.telekom.
com/en/company/
compliance.

]

The Code of
Conduct and the
Code of Ethics are
published on
Deutsche Telekom
AG’s website at
www.telekom.
com/en/company/
compliance/
code-of-conduct
and at
www.telekom.
com/en/investor-
relations/
management-
and-corporate-
governance.

For a description of
the main features
of the accounting-
related internal
control system,
please refer to the
section “Account-
ing-related internal
control system” in
the combined
management
report, page 129
of the Annual
Report.
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THE T-SHARE

T-Share information

2018 2017
XETRA CLOSING PRICES
Share price on the last trading day 14.82 14.80
Year high € 15.49 18.05
Year low € 12.81 14.76
TRADING VOLUME
German exchanges billions of shares 3.3 2.4
Market capitalization on the last trading day billions of € 70.6 70.4
WEIGHTING OF THE T-SHARE IN MAJOR STOCK INDEXES ON THE LAST TRADING DAY
DAX 30 % 5.8 4.6
Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50° % 2.2 2.0
T-SHARE - KEY FIGURES
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) € 0.46 0.74
Proposed dividend € 0.70 0.65
Number of shares issued millions, at year-end 4,761 4,761

DEVELOPMENT OF INTERNATIONAL INDEXES

After six years of strong growth, the DAX came under immense
pressure in 2018. Rising interest rates and concerns about the
negative effects of growing protectionism, especially in trade
between the EU, China, and the United States, took their toll on
the index. As a result, Germany’s most important stock market
barometer lost 18.3 percent over the course of the year.

Although somewhat less than the DAX, the Dow Jones EURO
STOXX 50 also ended the year substantially down: On a total
return basis - i.e., including reinvested dividends - this wide-
ranging European stock market index lost 12.0 percent. As with
the DAX, share price performance was impacted by discussions
around interest rates and growing protectionism in global trade.

Similarly, the Nikkei ended the stock market year down

12.1 percent. The United States’ stock market barometer,
the Dow Jones, while performing better than the European
and Japanese stock exchanges, was also unable to buck the
negative trend, falling 5.6 percent.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

T-SHARE PERFORMANCE

The European telecommunications sector performed somewhat
better than the cross-sector indexes but was nevertheless weak
in 2018. The industry’s barometer, the Dow Jones STOXX®
Europe 600 Telecommunications, fell 8.8 percent in the course of
the stock market year. Share price performance was adversely
affected by regulatory discussions and increasing competition on
a number of European markets.

In this environment, the T-Share closed the year 2018 at

EUR 14.82, up slightly by 0.1 percent. The lowest price
recorded during the year was EUR 12.81 on March 26, 2018,
while the highest price of EUR 15.49 was recorded on Novem-
ber 30, 2018, shortly after the publication of our figures for the
third quarter.

On a total return basis - and thus comparable with the DAX -
our share ended the year 2018 up 5.0 percent.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Telekom AG will propose to this year’s shareholders’ meeting, to
be held on March 28, 2019, the distribution of a dividend of
EUR 0.70 per dividend-bearing share.
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T-Share as compared to DAX, Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50®, and Dow Jones STOXX® Europe 600 Telecommunications
January 1 to December 31, 2018 (based on total shareholder return )
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a Total shareholder return measures the value performance of a shareholding over a specific period.
It takes into account dividends paid during the investment period along with any changes in share price.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

The Federal Republic’s shareholding, including that of
Kreditanstalt fir Wiederaufbau (KfW), stands at approximately
32 percent. The proportion of institutional investors decreased
slightly to 52.2 percent, while the share of retail investors
increased to 15.9 percent. As a result, the percentage of shares
in free float remains at 68 percent of the share capital.

Shareholder structure Geographical distribution of free float
% (as of December 31, 2018) % (as of December 31, 2018)
14.5 étsh tri
Federal Republic er countries

19.6

United Kingdom 33.8
159 52.2 Germany
Retail investors Institutional investors

14.8

United States/Canada
17.4 27.2
KfwW

Rest of Europe
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

In order to successfully tackle global challenges, the member
states of the United Nations adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sus-
tainable Development in 2015. The aim is to enable economic
development and prosperity - in line with social justice and
taking account of the ecological limits of global growth. The
Agenda applies equally to all nations of the world.

The core of the 2030 Agenda comprises 17 goals: the Sustain-
able Development Goals (SDGs). In particular, it seeks to reduce
poverty and hunger, promote healthcare and education, enable
equality, protect the environment and climate, and make con-
sumption sustainable. Implementing the ambitious SDGs will
require everyone to work together: policy makers, civil society,
and business. As such, companies are also called upon to make
concrete contributions with respect to their business activities.

We are answering this call. Many of our products, services, and
activities already allow us to make such a contribution. Our con-
tribution to the SDGs also has a positive effect on the entire
value chain at Deutsche Telekom. To enhance clarity, we divide
these value contributions into the five subcategories - Finance,
Structure, Relationships, Employees, and Environment.

Deutsche Telekom’s value contributions

® B
0—0

FINANCE STRUCTURE RELATIONSHIPS
P ———
EMPLOYEES ENVIRONMENT

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

For example, as a responsible employer, we greatly value em-
ployee participation and a working environment that is fair and
respectful; we encourage diversity and support our employees
on their journey toward the digital working world (Employees).
In doing so, we also contribute to meeting SDGs 8 and 5. Our
broadband network build-out makes an active contribution to
creating and expanding high-quality infrastructure and promot-
ing innovation (SDG 9), and at the same time strengthens our
infrastructure (Structure). By consistently improving energy
efficiency as we expand our network, and by delivering cloud-
based services that enhance energy efficiency for our custom-
ers (Environment), we contribute towards SDG 13. Thanks to
products and solutions like these, customers can conserve
yet further resources and heighten the positive effects on the
environment (SDGs 12, 14, 15). The build-out of our broadband
network also gives a large number of people access to digital
education media (SDG 4), while our e-health services improve
medical care (SDG 3). At the same time, we generate revenue
with these services (Finance). Smart city solutions promote
sustainable living (SDGs 11, 17) and we implement them using
new partnerships (Relationships).

To clearly highlight the contribution our products, services,
and activities make towards the individual sustainability
development goals and our value chain, we have marked the
relevant passages of the following pages with the respective
SDG and contribution symbols.

\ |/
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THE GLOBAL GOALS
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DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AT A GLANCE

NET REVENUE

= We are well on track to meeting our growth forecast, posting an increase in net revenue of
0.9 percent to EUR 75.7 billion. On a comparable basis, i.e., excluding exchange rate effects
and effects of changes in the composition of the Group, net revenue increased by as much
as EUR 2.3 billion or 3.1 percent.

= Our United States operating segment posted an increase in revenue of 2.2 percent; in U.S.
dollars, the continuing success of our U.S. operations was evident in revenue growth of
6.8 percent. Revenue in our Europe operating segment grew by 2.6 percent.

m The business trend was stable in our Germany operating segment, with revenue down
1.1 percent due to the first-time application of the IFRS 15 accounting standard.

m Revenue remained on a par with the prior year in our Systems Solutions operating segment,
while in our Group Development operating segment revenue declined.

ADJUSTED EBITDA

= Adjusted EBITDA grew by EUR 1.1 billion to EUR 23.3 billion. Excluding exchange rate effects,
adjusted EBITDA rose by EUR 1.6 billion or 7.2 percent and thus exceeded our expectations.

= Due to the ongoing success of T-Mobile US, we generated an increase in adjusted EBITDA of
8.3 percent in the United States operating segment. In U.S. dollars, this growth reached as much
as 13.6 percent. Adjusted EBITDA also grew in our Europe operating segment (by 3.5 percent)
and in our Germany operating segment (by 2.4 percent). While adjusted EBITDA remained stable
in our Group Development operating segment, it declined in our Systems Solutions operating
segment (-15.7 percent).

m At 30.8 percent, the Group’s adjusted EBITDA margin increased slightly against the prior-year
level of 29.7 percent. The EBITDA margin was 39.7 percent in Germany, 32.6 percent in Europe,
and 27.6 percent in the United States.

EBIT

m EBIT decreased by EUR 1.4 billion to EUR 8.0 billion.

m EBITDA was negatively affected by special factors of EUR 1.5 billion in contrast to positive net
special factors of EUR 1.7 billion in the previous year. Staff-related measures and non-staff-
related restructuring accounted for negative special factors of EUR 1.3 billion, an increase of
EUR 0.6 billion year-on-year. The prior-year period had also benefited from positive special factors
of EUR 1.7 billion from the reversal of impairment losses previously recognized for spectrum
licenses at T-Mobile US, the sale of Strato (EUR 0.5 billion) and of further shares in Scout24 AG
(EUR 0.2 billion), and a settlement agreement concluded with BT (EUR 0.2 billion).

= At EUR 13.8 billion, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses were down EUR 0.8 billion
year-on-year. This was largely attributable to impairment losses of EUR 0.7 billion on goodwill and
property, plant and equipment recognized as special factors in the Europe operating segment,
whereas, in the prior year, impairment losses of EUR 2.2 billion had been recognized in the
Europe and Systems Solutions operating segments. Depreciation and amortization increased
by EUR 0.7 billion.

NET PROFIT

= Net profit decreased from EUR 3.5 billion to EUR 2.2 billion.

= At EUR 2.8 billion, the loss from financial activities was EUR 1.5 billion lower than a year earlier,
offsetting the effects of the reduction in EBIT. The higher loss in the prior year was attributable
to the EUR 1.5 billion impairment of our financial stake in BT recognized in profit or loss, as well
as to higher negative effects from the remeasurement of derivatives. While the settlement amount
of EUR 0.6 billion agreed in the Toll Collect arbitration proceedings had a negative impact in the
reporting year, finance costs improved by EUR 0.4 billion year-on-year.

m The tax expense amounted to EUR 1.8 billion; in the prior year there had been a tax benefit of
EUR 0.6 billion, which was mainly attributable to the remeasurement of deferred taxes at
T-Mobile US as a result of the U.S. tax reform.

= Profit attributable to non-controlling interests decreased year-on-year by EUR 0.9 billion.

m Adjusted earnings per share declined from EUR 1.28 in the prior year to EUR 0.96 in the
reporting year.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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NET DEBT

= Net debt increased from EUR 50.8 billion at the end of 2017 to EUR 55.4 billion.

m Factors in this increase included, in particular, the dividend payment (including to non-controlling
interests) of EUR 3.3 billion, the acquisition of UPC Austria (EUR 1.8 billion), additions to liabilities
in connection with finance leases (EUR 1.0 billion), exchange rate effects (EUR 1.1 billion),
T-Mobile US’ share buy-back program (EUR 0.9 billion), payment obligations arising out of the
Toll Collect settlement (EUR 0.6 billion), and further acquisitions of shares in T-Mobile US and
OTE (EUR 0.4 billion).

® The main factor reducing net debt was free cash flow of EUR 6.2 billion.

CASH CAPEX
m Cash capex (including spectrum investment) decreased from EUR 19.5 billion to EUR 12.5 billion.
m |n the prior year, mobile spectrum licenses had been acquired for EUR 7.4 billion, mainly in
the United States operating segment, compared with cash outflows in the reporting year of
EUR 0.3 billion, primarily in the United States.
= Adjusted for the effects of spectrum acquisition, cash capex was up by EUR 0.1 billion. Capital
expenditures were focused primarily on the United States, Germany, and Europe operating
segments and went toward the build-out and upgrade of our networks.

FREE CASH FLOW

(BEFORE DIVIDEND PAYMENTS AND SPECTRUM INVESTMENT)

= Free cash flow was up by EUR 0.7 billion to EUR 6.2 billion. Adjusted for exchange rate effects
and changes in the composition of the Group, the value thus exceeded our expectations.

= Net cash from operating activities increased by EUR 0.8 billion year-on-year. Lower net interest
payments, which were essentially due to the fact that T-Mobile US has increasingly been
financed internally since 2017, and that refinancing terms continue to be favorable, in particular
had a positive effect on free cash flow. The positive business development in our United States
operating segment was adversely affected by currency translation effects.

m The year-on-year increase of EUR 0.1 billion in cash capex (excluding spectrum investment)
had a negative impact on free cash flow.

ROCE

m QOur key performance indicator ROCE (return on capital employed) decreased by 1.1 percent-
age points in the reporting period to 4.7 percent.

m This was attributable to the decrease in net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT), while the
average amount of net operating assets (NOA) increased slightly over the year.

m NOPAT was impacted in 2018 primarily by negative special factors in connection with staff-
related measures and impairment losses on goodwill, which even the significant improvement
in adjusted EBITDA could not completely offset. In particular, positive special factors in the
prior year had had an offsetting effect on NOPAT.

m NOA increased in 2018 as a result of growth in intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment, as well as an increase in the present value of unrecognized rental and lease obligations,
reflecting Deutsche Telekom’s consistently high level of investment.

For further information, please refer to the section “Development of business in the Group,” page 49 et seq.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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For further informa-

tion, please refer to
the Media section
on our website at
www.telekom.
com/en/media/

media-information.

HIGHLIGHTS IN THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEARD

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Dr. Dirk Wossner was appointed as the new Board member
responsible for Germany effective January 1, 2018. In addition,
Adel Al-Saleh was appointed as the new Board member re-
sponsible for T-Systems effective January 1, 2018.

The former Board member responsible for Human Resources
(CHRO), Dr. Christian P. lllek, became the new CFO as of
January 1, 2019. He succeeds Thomas Dannenfeldt, who left
the Company for personal reasons when his contract expired
at the end of 2018. Birgit Bohle joined the Board of Manage-
ment as of January 1, 2019 as the Board member responsible
for Human Resources as successor to Dr. lllek.

Thorsten Langheim became a member of the Board of Manage-
ment at Deutsche Telekom AG as of January 1, 2019, taking up
the role of head of the newly created Board department respon-
sible for USA and Group Development. The Supervisory Board
intends the new Board department to better reflect the impor-
tance of U.S. business to the Group, in addition to placing a
stronger emphasis on evolving the portfolio. Deutsche Telekom
AG thus has had nine Board departments since the start of 2019.

CAPITAL MARKETS DAY 2018

In May 2018, we presented our new medium-term strategy and
the financial outlook at our Capital Markets Day in Bonn. Our
forecast for growth through to 2021 remains at the same high
level we anticipated at our Capital Markets Day in 2015: Reve-
nue is expected to increase by 1 to 2 percent annually, adjusted
EBITDA by 2 to 4 percent, and free cash flow by around

10 percent. From 2019 onwards, we expect that all business
units will contribute to earnings growth in the Group. The
focus of our strategy is on convergent products and services
for consumers and business customers. Our capital expenditure
is to remain at a high level and will center on the ongoing build-
out of broadband networks and upgrading to the LTE and 5G
standards. The dividend for the financial years starting 2019 will
reflect the development of adjusted earnings per share. We expect
this figure to increase to around EUR 1.20 per share by 2021.

CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS

In March 2018, we exercised our right of first refusal as invited
by the Greek privatization authority Hellenic Republic Asset
Development Fund (HRADF) and acquired a 5 percent stake
in our Greek subsidiary OTE. The transaction was completed
in May 2018 through the acquisition of additional shares in
the amount of EUR 0.3 billion. As a result, we hold around

45 percent in the company’s shares.

In December 2017, T-Mobile Austria agreed to acquire Austria’s
leading cable operator, UPC Austria. The European Commission
approved the deal on July 9, 2018 and the transaction was con-
summated on July 31, 2018. A purchase price of EUR 1.8 billion
was paid in cash. The UPC Austria group has been fully included

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

in our consolidated financial statements since the acquisition
date. In line with our strategy, this acquisition will allow us to
offer convergent product bundles to our customers on the
European market.

Together with their respective majority shareholders Deutsche
Telekom AG and Softbank K.K., T-Mobile US and Sprint Corp.
concluded a binding agreement in April 2018 to combine their
companies. The larger T-Mobile US is expected to achieve
cost and capital expenditure synergies with a net present

value of around USD 43 billion (after integration costs). Around
USD 15 billion has been budgeted for integration costs. The
business combination is expected to make a positive contribution
to adjusted earnings per share at the Deutsche Telekom Group
after the first three years. The new company will have a customer
base of around 127 million. Under the agreement, T-Mobile US
will acquire all of the shares in Sprint. On completion of the
transaction, Deutsche Telekom will hold around 42 percent of
T-Mobile US’ shares and Softbank around 27 percent, while the
free float will account for about 31 percent. Due to the voting-
rights agreement with Softbank, and to the fact that Deutsche
Telekom has the right to appoint the majority of the members of
the Board of Directors, T-Mobile US will continue to be included
as a fully consolidated subsidiary in the consolidated financial
statements. The agreement is subject to approval by the author-
ities as well as other closing conditions.

On November 27, 2018, the European Commission approved
the acquisition of Tele2 Netherlands by T-Mobile Netherlands
and the transaction was consummated on January 2, 2019.
This transaction is part of our long-term strategy and will
establish a stronger, more sustainable provider of conver-
gent fixed-network and mobile services on the Dutch market.
Tele2 Group receives a purchase price in the form of a

25 percent stake in T-Mobile Netherlands and a cash com-
ponent of some EUR 190 million taking any retrospective ad-
justments to the purchase price into account. Tele2 Netherlands
has been fully included in our consolidated financial statements
since the acquisition date.

SETTLEMENT IN THE TOLL COLLECT ARBITRATION
PROCEEDINGS

Together with Daimler Financial Services AG, we reached an
agreement with the Federal Republic of Germany in May 2018
to end the toll collection arbitration proceedings. This agree-
ment puts an end to a lengthy legal dispute regarding the im-
plementation of heavy truck road tolls in Germany. The agreed
settlement amount of around EUR 3.2 billion includes services
previously provided to the Federal Republic of Germany. Daimler
Financial Services AG and Deutsche Telekom have both agreed
to make final payments of EUR 550 million each. The payments
will be made in three tranches by 2020; the first tranche has
already been paid.
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T-MOBILE US SHARE BUY-BACK PROGRAM

In April 2018, T-Mobile US’ Board of Directors authorized an in-
crease in the total share buy-back program to up to USD 9.0 billion,
consisting of the USD 1.5 billion in repurchases already executed
and for up to an additional USD 7.5 billion of T-Mobile US com-
mon stock until the end of 2020. This Board resolution applies
in the event that the business combination of Sprint and
T-Mobile US does not materialize. In addition, in the 2018 finan-
cial year we purchased shares in T-Mobile US on the capital
market totaling USD 0.2 billion, bringing our stake to around

63 percent.

INCREASE IN EXTERNAL CAPITAL FUNDING

FOR COMPANY PENSIONS

We place high importance on our company pension plans in the
Group.[s0G 8] Going forward, pension payments are to be covered
to a greater extent by our own assets. To achieve this, in March
2018 the 12 percent financial stake in the BT Group was trans-
ferred to the Group’s own trust, Deutsche Telekom Trust e.V.,
roughly doubling the level of external capital funding. This capi-
tal may only be used for pension payments. BT continues to be
an integral part of our strategic orientation.

INVESTMENTS IN NETWORKS [SDG 9]

5G network for Germany. At our Network Day in Berlin in
October, we presented an eight-point plan for a fast, success-
ful 5G rollout. By 2025, we plan to cover 99 percent of the
population nationwide and 90 percent of the country with 5G.
We intend to invest an additional EUR 20 billion in Germany in
the four years through 2021. To ensure that business, industry,
and the general public get the most powerful 5G network, we
will also team up with partners. With over 500,000 kilometers
of cable now laid, our fiber-optic network forms the basis for
high-performance fixed and mobile infrastructure. It currently
serves 26 million households with surfing speeds of up to
100 Mbit/s and more over the fixed network. Following the
market launch of supervectoring in August 2018, maximum
speeds of up to 250 Mbit/s became available to 6 million
households. As of the end of 2018, some 14 million house-
holds were benefiting from such transmission rates. Our aim

is to offer speeds of up to 250 Mbit/s to 28 million households
in 2019.

Fiber-optic rollout progresses apace. A host of major fiber-
optic projects to bring light speeds to urban and rural areas got
under way in 2018, for instance in the German rural districts of
Vorpommern-Rlgen and Burgenlandkreis, the city of Bautzen,
the town of Lineburg, and at the Port of Hamburg. A large-
scale digitalization project for Stuttgart and five neighboring
rural districts was also given the go-ahead, under which gigabit
connections are to be rolled out to approximately 90 percent of
the 1.38 million households in the region as well as to all of the
around 140,000 business sites and facilities. The nationwide
build-out of FTTH is gathering speed. We also started the fourth
wave of our nationwide rollout of optical fiber to business parks.
Almost 45,000 businesses located at 106 business parks in over
70 municipalities are already benefiting from bandwidths of up
to 100 Gbit/s. The aim is to connect a total of 3,000 business

parks across Germany to the fiber-optic network by the end of
2022. In addition, we are already planning or preparing to im-
plement further large-scale fiber-optic projects at our national
companies in Europe, such as FTTH coverage of up to one
million households and businesses in Greece and a compre-
hensive FTTH project in the Czech Republic.

1,300 new cell sites for added capacity and coverage. We
installed 1,300 new cell sites in 2018, bringing the total number
of sites in Germany to around 29,000. More than 2,000 new
sites will be added over the next few years. Our high-speed
LTE network covers 97.8 percent of the population. This per-
centage is set to increase to 98 percent by the end of 2019.
The three big network tests - carried out by connect, Chip, and
Computer Bild - confirm that we have the best mobile commu-
nications network in Germany. More than 80 percent of our cell
sites are already connected with optical fiber. They are also
equipped with Single RAN technology and thus ready for the
fifth-generation mobile standard, 5G.

European Aviation Network (EAN) ready. At the start of 2018,
together with Inmarsat and our technology partner Nokia, we
set up the first trans-European integrated LTE network consist-
ing of 300 base stations. The network offers seamless connec-
tivity over land and sea: Airline passengers benefit from the
high bandwidth with high-speed transmission rates that let
them browse social media, share pictures, and even stream
broadband content. Airlines using the service do not have to
share the network capacities with LTE users on the ground.

German cloud data center continues to grow. The next phase
of our expansion activities at the high-performance data center
in Biere, near Magdeburg, went live in September 2018. Biere
now has a capacity of 150 petabytes for processing and storing
cloud data. Since the commissioning of this high-tech Fort Knox
in 2014, global demand for cloud services has continued to
increase substantially. In response, T-Systems has systematically
developed into a multi-cloud provider that collaborates with
leading international providers of cloud solutions. The Open
Telekom Cloud, our public cloud offering, was the first cloud in
Germany to receive the TCDP 1.0 certification promoted by the
Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy.
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T-Mobile Polska signs wholesale FTTH agreement with
Orange. Under an agreement signed in July 2018, T-Mobile
Polska will gain access to Orange’s fiber-optic infrastructure
and will use it to provide services based on data transmissions
in non-regulated areas. The contract will guarantee T-Mobile
Polska access to 1.7 million households. Together with the part-
ner’s plans to invest in the deregulated area by the end of 2020
and in the fiber-optic network in regulated areas, this will enable
T-Mobile Polska to potentially reach over 4 million households.
T-Mobile Polska aims to provide initial individual customers,
and small and medium-sized enterprises with the full range of
fixed-network services based on fiber-optic infrastructure in the
first quarter of 2019 at the latest. The agreement is to run for up
to 20 years. In addition to the agreement with Orange, T-Mobile
Polska signed another wholesale FTTH agreement with network
operator Nexera, covering more than 450 thousand further
households, which will be connected by the end of 2020.

Internet of Things gets off the ground. We are one of the
leading providers in the large-scale technology roll-out of the
Internet of Things (loT) in Germany, Europe, and North America.
The new NarrowBand-loT (NB-1oT) network technology is now
available in over 2,000 locations across Germany, and more
than 300 businesses from various industries are already utilizing
its potential. We also operate NB-loT infrastructure in eight
further European markets and in the United States, with nation-
wide rollout completed in the Netherlands, Austria, Slovakia,
and the United States. Our NB-loT networks are already up and
running in several cities across Poland, the Czech Republic,
Hungary, Croatia, and Greece.

First European NB-loT roaming tests concluded. In June 2018
we announced that, together with the Vodafone Group, we had
successfully concluded the first international roaming tests in
Europe using NB-loT technology. This service will deliver seam-
less coverage and continuity of service for millions of connec-
tions over low-power wide-area networks. The success of this
test marks an important milestone in the development of a
stable roaming environment for mobile loT networks.

INNOVATION

5G under live conditions. The first 5G antennas in Europe
to fully support the fifth-generation communication standard
have been transmitting data under real-world conditions via
our network in Berlin since May 2018 and via our network in
Warsaw since December 2018. In the T-Mobile Austria network
in Innsbruck, a preliminary version of the final 5G standard is
reaching record speeds of 2 Gbit/s with latency of just three
milliseconds. The first live 5G demonstrations were also con-
ducted in Greece and Macedonia. In a world first, the Hamburg
Port Authority, Deutsche Telekom, and Nokia are testing new
aspects of the 5G standard using various applications in real-
world industrial conditions at the Port of Hamburg in Germany.
Since January 2018, the testing ground covering around
8,000 hectares has been used to review this innovative tech-
nology and its suitability for rollout in an industrial environment.
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NOW. NEW. NEXT. This was the motto of our booth at the
Mobile World Congress in Barcelona in February 2018, where
we showcased innovative solutions and visions for the smart
society of today and tomorrow based on the network of the
future. The focus was on the new 5G communication standard,
which will facilitate the interconnection of billions of devices,
and the Internet of Things. In an urban setting, visitors had the
opportunity to experience and interact with digital innovations
across a range of themed zones, including smart city and
Industry 4.0, as well as security topics and future technologies
like drones, smart textiles, and augmented reality sports.

Digitalization reaches all areas of healthcare. From
hospital beds that transmit their whereabouts automatically to
ultrasound scanners that request maintenance work, telemedical
patient care, and mobile apps - the digital revolution is radically
changing the face of healthcare and poses a complex challenge
for everyone affected. Telekom Healthcare Solutions delivers IT
solutions designed to help overcome these challenges. conhlT,
the world’s leading trade fair for healthcare IT, took place in
Berlin in April 2018. Under the motto “Set for a digital future”
(Digital auf Zukunft programmiert), T-Systems showcased its
latest innovations, which include a tracking system to localize
medical equipment and a secure platform for digital
collaboration.

“Shape the digital now.” We presented digital solution modules
for industry at Hannover Messe in April 2018. The focus was on
practical and concrete implementation options for production
planning, manufacturing, and logistics. Visitors were able to
see products and services relating to cloud computing, the
Internet of Things, connectivity, and security, and experience
new trends such as digital twins, blockchains, and artificial
intelligence. We also showcased the new PLM Cloud service, a
cloud-based product lifecycle management (PLM) solution that
was launched at the start of the year. Companies can use the
PLM Cloud to transform what is probably their most important
process, i.e., the development of new products from initial design
through to test simulation, bring that process into the digital
age, and thus accelerate their approach to innovation.

“Magenta connects.” At our booth at IFA 2018 in Berlin, we
brought our entire world of Magenta products to life for trade
fair visitors. The main focus was on Magenta Entertainment, “In
the best network,” Magenta Connected Life, MagentaEINS, and
MagentaSERVICE. Selected highlights: An interactive multi-player
drone race on a 5G LED big screen demonstrated the capabil-
ities of the network of the future. The booth also featured an
e-sport arena where experts from SK Gaming invited visitors to
try out e-sport games including League of Legends and FIFA,
as well as mobile gaming. In the MagentaSERVICE zone, the
new SprachlD service took center stage. In the future, custom-
ers will not need to remember account numbers and pass-
words - when they phone up they will be recognized by their
voice alone. =
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PARTNERSHIPS

Partnerships are key to the success of our Group. We again
entered into and expanded a large number of partnerships in
the reporting year. We would like to present some of them in
detail:

Accession to the Industrial Internet Consortium (lIC). We are
now able to contribute our strengths in the field of loT connec-
tivity, in particular with NB-loT and 5G, to the IIC to strengthen
Europe’s standing in the global consortium. The U.S. organi-
zation is spearheading the digital transformation of economy
and society on an international scale by driving the develop-
ment, rollout, and expansion of loT and Industry 4.0 solutions.
Our goal is to develop common approaches for the interopera-
bility of systems in dialog with [IC members and their partners.
Additionally, the aim is to outline needs and framework condi-
tions in the context of standardization along with security
requirements for loT services and hardware.

Open Telekom Cloud wins European tenders. The European
nuclear research center CERN has enlisted T-Systems to operate
the proven solution developed in 2017 as a pilot system for the
Helix Nebula European research cloud. To this end, T-Systems
will provide a high-performance solution and a multi-cloud solu-
tion, both based on the Open Telekom Cloud. Research institu-
tions throughout Europe can use these solutions and combine
the Open Telekom Cloud with their own IT resources and solu-
tions to create a hybrid model. T-Systems has also designed

a cloud platform for the European Space Agency ESA. The
Copernicus Data and Information Access Services (DIAS)
platform was launched in the first quarter of 2018 and makes
earth observation data collected by ESA satellites available to
the public via the cloud at no cost for direct processing.

Public cloud - strategic partnerships. T-Systems and Microsoft
are entering into a strategic partnership that will focus on pro-
moting public cloud services in four key areas: SAP applica-
tions, managed services on Microsoft Azure and Microsoft
Office 365, digital solutions using artificial intelligence and
mixed reality, and loT. SAP certified the Open Telekom Cloud

in time for Hannover Messe 2018, thus guaranteeing the perfor-
mance of SAP HANA in the public cloud and enabling the solu-
tion to be integrated seamlessly into SAP support processes.
The additional service in the public cloud means companies can
complement their IT landscape with SAP applications flexibly
and easily by self-service and receive appropriate support where
needed.

Global initiative for sustainable cities. In September
2018, we announced a far-reaching collaboration with United
Smart Cities (USC) to help cities become smarter and more
sustainable. The United Smart Cities program is a global
initiative established and coordinated by the United Nations
Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) in cooperation with
the Organization for International Economic Relations (OIiER).
As part of the partnership, we have also taken on a board posi-
tion in USC’s Global Industry Advisory Board (GIAB). The
GIAB consists of 12 members who provide strategic counsel to

all UN organizations on smart city issues across the globe. In
addition, in November 2018 we presented our newest solutions
for the smart city ecosystem at the Smart City Expo World
Congress in Barcelona. We also invited representatives from five
partner cities with whom we have already successfully rolled out
various smart city solutions to appear at our booth. Trenéin in
Slovakia, Athens in Greece, Kazimierz in Poland, Gijén in Spain,
and Krk in Croatia.

5G for connected mobility. In just a few years, cars, traffic
signals, and street lights will all share information via the 5G
communication standard. And these are just three examples for
traffic in the future. The systems involved will have to be secure.
Together with DEKRA, we are working to equip the Lausitzring
test and race track with 5G technology to create an intelligent
mobility test site. Multiple scenarios will be played out at the
site: Connected cars and autonomous vehicles will communi-
cate in real time with each other, with road infrastructure, and
with cyclists and pedestrians. This creates the perfect environ-
ment for car manufacturers, suppliers, and telecommunications
component manufacturers to test intelligent mobility in a real-
world environment.

Digital Cities and Regions initiative. In July 2018, we joined
forces with the German Association of Towns and Municipalities
(DStGB) to launch a new initiative called the Executive Program
Digital Cities and Regions. The partners develop intelligent,
tailor-made solutions with the aim of promoting digitalization in
cities and communities and preparing the regions for the digital
future. The defined success factors are common platforms, a
good digital infrastructure, and courage for cultural change. As
a digital partner, we provide the necessary expertise and help
the towns and municipalities to launch initial projects. 23 cities
from across Germany with very different expectations of the
program have now joined the initiative, which will continue in
2019 on the back of the successful launch and strong demand.

Strategic partnership for better road safety. In August 2018,
we launched a strategic partnership with the automobile asso-
ciation ADAC, with plans to offer products and attractive
benefits to our customers and ADAC members. To this end, we
intend to leverage the opportunities of traffic digitalization. For
example, we worked together with ADAC to further enhance our
CarConnect solution which now lets drivers report breakdowns
to ADAC via just a few clicks in the CarConnect app.
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Cybersecurity for banks. The number of cyberattacks 1
on banks worldwide is on the rise. Industry regulators are
continually tightening up IT security requirements for banks. !
That is why Fiducia & GAD IT AG (IT service provider for all 900 5
Volksbank and Raiffeisenbank branches in Germany) and the S RELATIONSHIPS
German DZ Bank group have joined forces with Telekom

Security to improve cybersecurity for the credit unions over the

long term. In the first phase, the partners established a Security

Operation Center (SOC) to handle specific IT security incidents

for DZ Bank. 42> RELATIONSHIPS
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CORPORATE CUSTOMER DEALS

T-Systems wins major contract with the Sparda group. The
group of Sparda-Banks has signed a seven-year outsourcing
contract with T-Systems with a volume in the mid-three-digit
million euro range. We will take over the entire IT infrastructure
of Sparda-Datenverarbeitung eG, the Sparda group’s central IT
service provider, and migrate all mainframe computers and
server landscapes to high-security data centers operated by
T-Systems.

Brandenburg’s government administration to get high-speed
network. Brandenburg has placed a major telecommunications
order in the high two-digit million euro range with T-Systems. We
will provide the infrastructure and components for telephony and
the wide-area network of the state’s administration. In future,
sites will get connection speeds of up to 10 Gbit/s using up to
ten times more bandwidth than before. Brandenburg intends to
have the network certified by the German Federal Office for
Information Security (BSI).

Campus network for OSRAM. Together with Ericsson we are
building a customized campus solution for high-tech company
OSRAM. With the industry focusing increasingly on the digitali-
zation of processes, the key to this transformation is wireless
connectivity across production sites that is adapted to each
specific use case. Our campus solution offers the companies
their own exclusive network linked to the public network. The
technology for the campus networks is being provided by our
partner Ericsson. We are also working with OSRAM to develop
prototypes for a mobile robot. In the future, driverless transport
vehicles will navigate the works site autonomously using the
campus network.

NEW PRODUCTS AND RATE PLANS

Of course, we again launched new products, services, and rate
plans on the market in the reporting year, some of which are
presented below:

MagentaMobil XL: unlimited data. In March 2018, we presented
our new mobile rate plan for the German market: MagentaMobil XL
includes flat rates and unlimited high-speed data in Germany’s
best mobile network (as judged by computer magazine Chip
1/2019). Quality-conscious customers with modest data needs
can choose the new entry-level rate plan MagentaMobil XS.

We also updated our business customer portfolio with the

new Business Mobil XL Plus rate plan featuring flat rates and
unlimited high-speed data.
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Full-service Internet of Things bundles. The Internet of
Things is revolutionizing our world, improving corporate pro-
cesses, and opening up new business models. This transfor-
mation calls for products that are not only quick, simple, and
safe to use, but also enhance transparency. We offer these
kinds of products for a range of usages in virtually all industries.
One key tenet for us is our end-to-end approach: connectivity,
management of connectivity and hardware, solutions and
services - all from a single source. Our product bundles offer
solutions for tracking, monitoring and maintenance, identity and
access control, connected mobility, and analytics. In May 2018,
Hrvatski Telekom became the first provider in Croatia to make
NB-loT services available commercially. A new loT solution for
consumers, Combi Protect, lets users keep track of pets, purses,
luggage, and more on their smartphone using a GPS tracker
and app. Customers can choose to track movements in real
time and set digital boundaries that trigger an alarm on the
smartphone if crossed.

Team of Experts. In August 2018, T-Mobile US introduced
Un-carrier Next, a new initiative that changes the structure of
their customer service department and solves several significant
pain points for customers: Postpaid customers will get directly
through to a human when they call customer support, and that
human will be one member of a team of experts devoted to that
customer and other customers in their geographic region.

In September 2018, T-Mobile US announced that MetroPCS is
becoming Metro™ by T-Mobile (Metro) and Metro introduced
new unlimited rate plans with tiers that include added benefits.
Metro will offer Amazon Prime, expanded cloud storage, and
mobile backup through Google One, as well as the latest
smartphones.
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AWARDS
We once again won a number of awards in the reporting year,
the largest of which can be seen in the following graphic. =

For information

on further awards
received for our HR
activities, please

Major awards in 2018

¢ New Work Award 2018: ¢ Women on Board Award 2018: ¢ connect hotline test: ¢ SAP Global Platinum refer to the section
T-Systems is awarded second place FidAR, an association to promote the | Trade journal connect rates service at Reseller Partner: “Employees,”
with its Magenta Lighthouse project. advancement of women on supervisory | Deutsche Telekom as “very good” and T-Systems added as an exclusive page 97 et seq.
boards, honors Deutsche Telekom with| best among German broadband providers partner to resellers of solutions
¢ Brand Finance Global 500: an award for its implementation of (connect, issue 9/2018). from the global market leader in
Deutsche Telekom continues to equal gender participation. corporate software.
be the most valuable telecom-
munications brand in Europe. P German Investor Relations Best network 2019:
Prize 2018: Best online shop of the year: Winner of Computer-Bild
AV Test: Deutsche Telekom once again Telekom Magenta SmartHome magazine’s mobile network
Smart home platform wins the award for investor online shop wins in the“Smart test with an overall score
Qivicon singled out with relations excellence in a DAX 30 home applications” category. of 1.8 (Computer-Bild,
the best rating for ranking. issue 25/2018).
“excellent protection.”
» German Innovation Award: Best Corporate
elLearning Award 2018: Deutsche Telekom and Mobile Excellence Awards 2018: Governance company:
Deutsche Telekom wins Inmarsat win the innovation Cosmote wins three gold awards Corporate governance at
with its Digital Learning award for their European for innovative applications designed Crnogorski Telekom rated
Booster project. Aviation Network. to improve customer service quality. Montenegro’s best.

I M >
Tets.t?d ‘i_”sr:'_’mer I Greece’s fastest mobile ICarbon Disclosure Project:
sDa 'f a(h: 'OT ko is acain network 2018: Best in tost: Deutsche Telekom is included in the
eu chethei[ﬁ/ s ??a' | Cosmote wins the Ookla Pgs fntest CDP A List, a climate protection
awarded the quality seal. Speedtest Award for the g gommL;]nlcatlons o ranking which serves as a basis for
World’s most ethical fastest mobile internet istinguishes our networks in the STOXX Global Climate Change
e 2018: network in Greece. Croatia, the Czech Republic, Leaders index.
companies P Greece, Hungary, Macedonia,
Dfet%TSChe Ie‘fh‘fom‘ isone ® Extel Survey 2018: the Netherlands, and Slovakia TOVit seal
ot the most ethical companies Investor Relations at Deutsche with the “best in test” accolade. Testing institute TOV Informations-
worldwide. . . - .
Telekom are rated the best in , . technik certifies the responsible
KONSUMENT test winner: Europe and its IR organization | © Investors” Darling 2018: treatment of customer data at
T-Mobile Austria takes the top spot the best in the European Double victory for Deutsche Deutsche Telekom for the third time.
in the mobile communications telecoms sector. Telekom in thevcategor\esv o
consultation test (issue 3/2018). “Corporate social responsibility” ® CHIP network test 2018:
® connect readers’ choice 2018: and "“Strategy reporting” Deutsche Telekom is the overall winner
EMEA/MEE Partner Excellence Deutsche Telekom wins in eight (manager magazine, of the mobile network test for the ninth
Award 2018: categories and receives awards issue 10/2018). time in a row (CHIP, issue 1/2019).
T-Systems is the SAP service for its subsidiaries congstar and
partner of the year. T-Mobile Austria. German Mobility Award 2018: ® connect mobile network test 2019:
The Connected Drones project Test winners Deutsche Telekom and
Bloomberg Gender Equality Index: ¢ Dow Jones Sustainability Index: run by Deutsche Telekom and T-Mobile Austria score high, including
T-Share listing honors Deutsche Telekom’s commitment to  Deutsche Flugsicherung is singled  with best results in the categories
Deutsche Telekom’s achievements CR, employee, and social issues out as a flagship project in the “Mobile internet” and “Voice and data”
in terms of equal rights. honored with inclusion in the DJSI. field of sustainable mobility. (connect, issue 1/2019).
GROUP ORGANIZATION Fixed-network business includes all voice and data communi-
cations activities based on fixed-network and broadband tech-
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND ORGANIZATION nology. This includes the sale of terminal equipment and other
Business activities. With 178 million mobile customers, 28 million  hardware, as well as the sale of services to resellers. Our mobile
fixed-network lines, and 20 million broadband customers, we communications business offers mobile voice and data services
are one of the leading integrated telecommunications companies  to consumers and business customers; in addition, we sell mobile
worldwide. We offer our consumers fixed-network/broadband, devices and other hardware. We also sell mobile services to

mobile, internet, and internet-based TV products and services, resellers and to companies that buy network services and
as well as ICT solutions for our business and corporate custom-  market them to third parties (mobile virtual network operators,

ers. We have an international focus and are represented in or MVNOs). Drawing on a global infrastructure of data centers
more than 50 countries. With a staff of some 215,675 employees  and networks, our corporate customer arm, T-Systems, operates
(as of December 31, 2018) throughout the world, we generated information and communication technology (ICT) systems for
revenue of EUR 75.7 billion in the 2018 financial year, around multinational corporations and public-sector institutions.

68 percent of it outside Germany.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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12 RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
ANDPRODUCTION

O

FINANCE

We believe that economic, social, and ecological aspects can
be reconciled; sustainability is the guiding principle behind all
our actions. A range of sector-specific and general conditions
are crucial to the success of business activities. These include
first-rate quality at reasonable costs - in data privacy and secu-
rity, in customer service, in network build-out, and in materials
procurement - as well as qualified staff and good working con-
ditions within our own Group, but also at our suppliers. It is also
important to consider the potential consequences of climate
change for our business activities: for example, to construct
our network infrastructure in such a way that it is protected
from severe weather conditions, changes in temperatures, and
higher wind speeds. We also help our customers to reduce their
carbon footprint with innovative products and services. Further-
more, we want to reduce the Group’s CO, emissions despite
rapid growth in data traffic and the network build-out that this
requires. Also beyond our core business, we do everything we
can to ensure that our actions are socially acceptable. For us,
this means conducting ourselves in a way that is ethical and
compliant with the law and informing and involving our stake-
holders in a transparent way.

Our responsible corporate governance and business success
are based on our shared corporate values and our Guiding
Principles, which are as follows:

m Customer delight and simplicity drive our action
m Respect and integrity guide our behavior

m Team together - Team apart

= Best place to perform and grow

= | am T - count on me

We want to be a sustainably growing company that delights
its customers, creates value for its investors, and in which
employees enjoy their work.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Organization. Our financial reporting conforms with our Group
strategy and is based on the following organizational structure.

Organizational structure

Deutsche Telekom Group

Germany United Europe Systems Group
Fixed-network States Fixed-network Solutions Development
and mobile Mobile and mobile Global Selected
communications || communications || communications || ICT solutions subsidiaries

Our Group is divided into five operating segments plus the
Group Headquarters & Group Services segment, each of which
we describe in detail below.

Our Germany operating segment comprises all fixed-network
and mobile activities for consumers and business customers in
Germany. It also focuses on the wholesale business to provide
telecommunications services for carriers and our Group’s other
operating segments. Separate sales entities for consumers and
business customers allow the operating segment to take a
customer-centric sales approach. The bundling of customer
service activities places a further focus on customer satis-
faction and quality assurance. Build-out of the mobile and fixed
networks is managed by the Technology business unit in the
Germany operating segment. As a pioneer of digitalization, the
Germany operating segment offers its customers an individual
service and product portfolio that is innovative while at the
same time secure and simple.

Our United States operating segment combines all mobile
activities in the U.S. market. T-Mobile US is the third largest
provider in the United States and its mobile network offers the
highest transmission speeds as well as high network coverage.
T-Mobile’s success on the U.S. mobile market has been built on
the back of the various Un-carrier initiatives launched in the last
few years. T-Mobile US expects the acquisition of online TV
provider Layer3 TV completed on January 22, 2018 to further
strengthen its TV and video portfolio. Layer3 TV has been
included in Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial state-
ments as a fully consolidated subsidiary since the acquisition
date. On April 29, 2018, T-Mobile announced that it had entered
into a Business Combination Agreement with Sprint Corp. As a
result of the merger, T-Mobile is expected to be able to rapidly
launch a nationwide 5G network, accelerate innovation, and
increase competition in the U.S. wireless, video, and broadband
industries.
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Our Europe operating segment comprises all fixed-network and
mobile operations of the national companies in Greece, Romania,
Hungary, Poland, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovakia, Austria,
Albania, Macedonia, and Montenegro. The acquisition of cable
network operator UPC Austria on July 31, 2018 has helped us to
transform our subsidiary in Austria into an integrated provider.
UPC Austria has been included in Deutsche Telekom’s consoli-
dated financial statements as a fully consolidated subsidiary
since the acquisition date. In addition to consumer business,
most of the national companies also offer ICT solutions for
business customers. As part of our international wholesale
business, Deutsche Telekom Global Carrier (TGC) sells whole-
sale telecommunications services to our operating segments

as well as to third parties.

As a leading ICT service provider, our Systems Solutions oper-
ating segment offers business customers a portfolio of integrated
products and solutions. With offerings for fixed and mobile
communications, IT infrastructure, digitalization, and security,
in addition to global partnerships, we offer our customers help
and guidance to implement digital business models. Our Systems
Solutions segment is realigning itself towards a portfolio-based
structure under the transformation program launched at the
start of 2018. Alongside an integrated and customer-centric
sales unit, operations are split over ten portfolio units with full
profit and loss accountability (TC Services, SAP, Digital Solu-
tions, Public Cloud, Security, Internet of Things, Classified ICT,
Road Charging, Managed Infrastructure Services and Private
Cloud, and Dedicated Sl Solutions), plus the emerging busi-
ness unit, Health. A new organizational structure took effect

on January 1, 2019 on the basis of these business areas. A
comprehensive cost-saving program has also been launched.

Our Group Development operating segment comprises the
entities T-Mobile Netherlands and Deutsche Funkturm (DFMG)
and our equity investment in Stroer SE & Co. KGaA. We plan
to actively manage these entities and investments and increase
their value, with the aim of giving them the level of entrepre-
neurial freedom they need and thus promoting their strategic
further development. The management teams maintain an
intensive dialog with the segment management and the relevant
supervisory and advisory boards. Deutsche Telekom Capital
Partners (DTCP) and the Group functions of Mergers &
Acquisitions and Strategic Portfolio Management have also
been assigned to Group Development. Our financial stake

in BT was transferred to the Group’s own trust company,
Deutsche Telekom Trust e.V., in March 2018 as capital funding
to cover Deutsche Telekom’s future pension obligations.

Group Headquarters & Group Services comprises all Group
units that cannot be allocated directly to one of the operating
segments. The segment also reports on our new Technology
and Innovation Board department. As the organization that
sets the direction and provides momentum, it defines strategic
aims for the Group, ensures they are met, and becomes directly
involved in selected Group projects. Group Services provides
services to the entire Group; in addition to typical services
such as financial accounting, human resources services, and
operational procurement, Group Services also includes agency
services, which are provided by our personnel service pro-
vider, Vivento. On the one hand, it is in charge of securing
external employment opportunities for employees, mainly civil
servants, predominantly in the public sector. On the other,
Vivento also seeks to strategically place them internally, with
the aim of retaining professional expertise within the Group,

so as to reduce the use of external staff. We integrated Vivento
Customer Services GmbH, a provider of call center services,
into our Germany operating segment as of January 1, 2018;
previously it was part of our Group Headquarters & Group
Services segment. Further units are Group Supply Services
(GSUS) for our real estate management and our strategic pro-
curement, and MobilitySolutions, which is a full-service provider
for fleet management and mobility services.

Our Technology and Innovation Board department unites the
cross-segment network, innovation, and IT activities of our
Germany, Europe and Systems Solutions operating segments.
These include Deutsche Telekom IT, which focuses on the
Group’s internal national IT projects, and our central innovation
unit, Product Innovation and Customer Experience (PIC), which
works closely with our operating segments to develop new busi-
ness areas and create products by focusing on the product and
customer experience. Additional units are Network Infrastructure
(NWI), Strategy & Technology Innovation (S&TI), and Pan-Net.
NWI manages and operates a global network to offer voice and
data communication services to wholesale customers. S&TI
ensures efficient and customized research and provision of
technologies, platforms, and services for mobile and fixed-
network communications. Pan-Net is responsible for the shared
pan-European network and for developing and providing ser-
vices for our European national companies. The new Innovation
Hub (IHUB), established as of October 1, 2018, pools the exper-
tise required for future innovation projects within the Technology
and Innovation Board department to ensure flexible innovation
development.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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For details on the
activities of the
Supervisory Board
in the reporting
year, please refer to
page 7 et seq.

MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION

As of December 31, 2018, Board of Management responsibilities
were distributed across eight Board departments. Five of these
are the central management areas:

® Chairman of the Board of Management
and the Board departments

= Finance

= Human Resources

m Data Privacy, Legal Affairs and Compliance
m Technology and Innovation

In addition, there are three segment-based Board departments:

= Germany
= Europe
m T-Systems

Changes in the composition of the Board of Management.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Telekom AG appointed Dr. Dirk Wossner to the Board of Man-
agement as the new Board member responsible for Germany
and Adel Al-Saleh as the new Board member responsible for
T-Systems. At its meeting on February 21, 2018, the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to extend Timotheus
Hottges’ contract as Chairman of our Board of Management

by five years. Timotheus Hottges was reappointed as Chairman
of the Board of Management effective January 1, 2019. Also at
its meeting on February 21, 2018, the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to appoint Dr. Christian P. lllek
as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) effective January 1, 2019. The
former CFO, Thomas Dannenfeldt, left Deutsche Telekom AG for
personal reasons when his contract expired at the end of 2018.

At its meeting on July 13, 2018, the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to appoint Birgit Bohle as the
new Board of Management member responsible for Human
Resources and as Labor Director effective January 1, 2019.
Birgit Bohle succeeded Dr. Christian P. lllek in this position.

At its meeting on September 4, 2018, the Supervisory Board

of Deutsche Telekom AG resolved to appoint Thorsten Langheim
as the Board of Management member responsible for USA and
Group Development, a newly created Board of Management
department, effective January 1, 2019. Deutsche Telekom AG
thus has had nine Board departments since the start of 2019.

Shareholders’ representatives. Dr. Ulrich Schroder resigned
from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG effective February 6, 2018. Dr. Glinther
Braunig was initially court-appointed to the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG effective March 21, 2018 and subse-
quently elected to this position by resolution of the shareholders’
meeting on May 17, 2018. Margret Suckale was court-appointed
to the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG effective

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

September 28, 2017 and subsequently elected to this position
by resolution of the shareholders’ meeting on May 17, 2018.

Sari Baldauf’s term of office expired at the end of the share-
holders’ meeting of May 17, 2018. Harald Krliger was elected to
the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG by the share-
holders’ meeting of May 17, 2018.

Prof. Ulrich Lehner was elected for a further term of office on
the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG by the share-
holders’ meeting of May 17, 2018. The members of the Super-
visory Board once again elected Prof. Lehner to the position
of Chairman.

Johannes Geismann resigned from his position on the Super-
visory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG as of the end of the
shareholders’ meeting of May 17, 2018. Dr. Rolf Bosinger
was court-appointed to the Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Telekom AG effective June 1, 2018.

Employees’ representatives. Hans-Jlrgen Kallmeier resigned
from his position as a member of the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom AG effective midnight, December 31, 2017.
Odysseus D. Chatzidis was court-appointed to the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Telekom AG effective January 3, 2018.

Monika Brandl resigned from her position on the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Telekom AG effective midnight June 30,
2018. Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke was court-appointed to
the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG effective
July 5, 2018.

The delegates’ assembly on November 20, 2018 re-elected
the employees’ representatives Josef Bednarski, Odysseus D.
Chatzidis, Nicole Koch, Petra Steffi Kreusel, Lothar Schréoder,
Nicole Seelemann-Wandtke, Sibylle Spoo, and Karin Topel to
the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG until the end of
the 2023 shareholders’ meeting and elected Constantin Greve
and Frank Sauerland for the first time as Supervisory Board
members for the same period. Klaus-Dieter Hanas and Michael
Sommer did not stand for re-election and left the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Telekom AG on November 20, 2018.

The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG advises the
Board of Management and oversees its management of busi-
ness. It is composed of 20 members: 10 represent the share-
holders and 10 the employees. =

The members of the Board of Management are appointed and
discharged in accordance with § 84 and § 85 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG) and § 31 of the
German Codetermination Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz -
MitbestG).

Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation are made pursuant
to § 179 and § 133 AktG and § 18 and § 21 of the Articles of

Incorporation. According to § 21 of the Articles of Incorporation,
the Supervisory Board is authorized, without a resolution by the
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shareholders’ meeting, to adjust the Articles of Incorporation to
comply with new legal provisions that become binding for the
Company and to amend the wording of the Articles of
Incorporation.

Composition of the Board of Management

Members of the Board of Management Department

Chairman of the Board of
Management (CEO)

Timotheus Héttges

Adel Al-Saleh T-Systems

Dr. Dirk Wossner Germany
Thomas Dannenfeldt (until December 31, 2018) Finance (CFO)
Dr. Christian P. lllek (since January 1, 2019)

Srini Gopalan Europe

Dr. Christian P. lllek (until December 31, 2018) Human Resources

Birgit Bohle (since January 1, 2019)

Dr. Thomas Kremer Data Privacy, Legal Affairs

and Compliance

Claudia Nemat Technology and Innovation

Thorsten Langheim USA and Group Develop-

ment (since January 1, 2019)

The compensation system for our Board of Management is
oriented towards the long-term performance of our Group.
Since 2013, the compensation for our Supervisory Board has
no longer included any long-term remuneration components.
The recommendations of the German Corporate Governance
Code are complied with.=

GROUP STRATEGY

m Deutsche Telekom expands position as leading
telecommunications provider in Europe
m Group strategy successfully implemented again in 2018

OUR CORPORATE STRATEGY:

LEADING EUROPEAN TELCO

Since 2014, we have been aligning all of our corporate activities
with our Leading European Telco strategy - with the aim of
becoming Europe’s leading telecommunications provider.

This strategy has proved very successful: In terms of market
capitalization, we are Europe’s highest-value telecommunica-
tions company (as of December 31, 2018). In the reporting year,
we increased revenue, adjusted EBITDA, and free cash flow
once again. At the same time, we see our Group as facing new
challenges:

m The parallel build-out of broadband and mobile infrastructure
(optical fiber and 5G) calls for high investments and inno-
vative approaches to implementation. This situation is inten-
sified by sustained public and political pressure on our build-
out strategy, predominantly in Germany.

= |nnovative technologies like artificial intelligence are increas-
ingly becoming part of everyday life. Voice-controlled assis-
tants and chatbots, to name just a couple of examples, are
permanently changing the face of the customer experience,
our working environment, and our responsibility in the digital
society.

= Businesses need simple, end-to-end solutions for connecting
their production operations and managing ever increasing
data streams. Providers like Google and Microsoft are also
entering the global connectivity field.

On top of this, our direct competitors in the telecommunica-
tions industry are digitalizing more and more elements of
their core business, improving efficiency, and enhancing the
customer experience.

We are tackling these challenges head on. We continue to
systematically implement our Leading European Telco strategy.
As the graphic below shows, our claim to leadership ranges
over three dimensions: customer experience, technology, and
business customer productivity. From this we derive three spe-
cific action areas with which we are creating the foundation for
future organic growth. Because only if we grow can we sustain-
ably secure our earnings performance and continue to meet
the demands of our investors. This growth target is supported
by two areas of operation which provide the framework for our
internal activities.

Leading European Telco corporate strategy

GROW

LEAD IN CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE

LEAD IN
TECHNOLOGY

LEAD IN BUSINESS
PRODUCTIVITY

SAVE FOR GROWTH INVESTMENTS

SIMPLIFY, DIGITALIZE, ACCELERATE »

STRATEGIC AREAS OF OPERATION

One connectivity & perfect service

We want to offer our customers a seamless and technology-
neutral telecommunications experience. Hence, we market
fixed-network and mobile communications in one convergent
product (fixed-mobile convergence, FMC). By the end of the
reporting year, some 4.3 million customers in Germany had
opted for MagentaEINS; that is more than 0.6 million more than
in the prior year. The integrated national companies of our Europe
operating segment won some 1.1 million new customers for
MagentaOne and similar FMC offerings in 2018. Because we
want to continue on this path of growth, we work continuously
to improve and expand our convergent offer.

35

For a description of
the compensation
systems for the
Board of Manage-
ment and the
Supervisory Board,
please refer to the
section “Other
disclosures” in

the combined
management
report,

page 129 et seq.
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Our offer also includes attractive TV content across all screens
and on any device. In 2018, we realigned our TV service in
Germany under the MagentaTV brand, overhauling the user
interface and adding further content. We aggregate linear televi-
sion with extensive features, access to content from the biggest
video-on-demand providers (Sky, Netflix, Maxdome, and
Amazon Prime Video), exclusive TV series, and a wide range

of sports content on a single platform. For the first time ever,
customers can now access our TV content irrespective of their
internet provider. The success of this product bears out our
strategy: In the reporting year we won 0.2 million new TV cus-
tomers in Germany. In the same period, the number of TV
customers at our national companies in Europe grew in organic
terms by 0.1 million. By standardizing our technical platforms
and expanding our services to selected markets, we have
consolidated our leading position.

As a premium provider, we set ourselves apart from our com-
petitors with perfect customer service: In the reporting year,
we presented several service improvement initiatives in Germany,
including improved self-service options, callback services, a
service for optimizing home Wi-Fi, and installation packages
for the home network. Our top rating in the connect hotline test
(number 1 spot among German broadband providers in 2018)
shows that we are on the right track. We will continue our ef-
forts in 2019 to offer customers the best service, for example

by noticeably further improving our first-call resolution rate for
customer queries. In the United States, T-Mobile US leads the
competition in numerous service quality surveys. This year, we
introduced the Team of Experts initiative in the United States
with the aim of giving customers even more personal service
and systematically removing frustration factors in customer
service. This is one of the reasons why we won 4.9 million new
mobile customers in the United States in 2018. At our national
companies in Europe, we are currently focusing on increasing
the level of digitalization in customer interaction; for example,
using our specially developed service app. Following successful
international rollout, this app aims to improve both the customer
experience (e.g., with self-administration of contracts) and the
monetization of our offerings (e.g., with customer-specific
approaches).

We measure customer satisfaction using the globally recog-
nized TRI*M method. Based on this performance indicator,
we improve our customer contact processes, and our products
and services. At the same time, we determine the loyalty of our
customers towards the Company. The results are presented as a
performance indicator, the TRI*M index, which ranges between
minus 66 and plus 134 points. At the end of the reporting year,
the indicator came in at 67.7 points versus an adjusted value of
67.2 points at the start of the year (measured on a comparable
basis). Our goal for the coming years is to achieve a steady
overall improvement in customer satisfaction.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Integrated gigabit networks

Convergent products require integrated networks.

That is why we are systematically building out and interlinking
our fixed and mobile networks, so that we can offer our cus-
tomers the fastest possible connection at top quality, anytime,
anyplace. As part of this, we are also striking out in new direc-
tions, for example, with innovative technologies like fixed-
network substitution using mobile technology to offer speeds of
over 1 Gbit/s, or the use of artificial intelligence to ensure infra-
structure is built out in line with demand, as well as exploring
new partnerships and joint ventures. Integrated management
also improves the capacity utilization of our infrastructure and
increases efficiency in operations and maintenance.

Fiber optic-based fixed networks are the basis for an integrated
network experience. We already operate the largest fiber-optic
network in Germany with around 500,000 kilometers of fiber-
optic cable. In 2018, we added some 60,000 kilometers. We
are currently investing over EUR 5 billion annually in building out
and operating networks across Germany, with over EUR 4 billion
of this attributable to the Germany operating segment. That’s
more than any of our competitors are investing. We continued to
build out our network in the reporting year by deploying vectoring.
At present, we can offer high-speed internet to some 28 million
households using this technology - around 14 million of these
are already benefiting from speeds of up to 250 Mbit/s. At the
same time, we are resolutely pressing ahead with the transition
to fiber-optic technology: By 2022, for example, we plan to
supply around 3,000 business parks with fiber to the office

and thus offer gigabit connections to around 80 percent of
companies in business parks across Germany. In addition,
existing customers are gradually being migrated to IP-based
solutions and in consultation with the customers themselves.
The migration of the German mass market will be completed in
2019 as planned. We have already completed the migration to
IP lines in five national companies (Hungary, Croatia, Slovakia,
Macedonia, and Montenegro) and will continue to move forward
with our migration efforts in Greece on a step-by-step basis.

In mobile communications, we set ourselves apart from our
competitors with the outstanding quality of our network. We
have regularly come out on top in independent network tests.

In 2018, we won the three big network tests - by connect,
Chip, and Computer Bild - in Germany. Independent certifi-
cation organization TUV rated our mobile network as offering
the best “quality to the customer.” In our Europe operating seg-
ment, six national companies were rated as “best in test overall”
by the P3 communications network experts, as was T-Mobile
Netherlands. Furthermore, T-Mobile US was once again the
clear winner in the OpenSignal tests in August 2018. We intend
to remain a quality leader and hence are further building out
our LTE networks: In Germany, we plan to cover approximately
99 percent of the population with LTE by the end of 2020; in our
European national companies, coverage is to reach around

98 percent on average.
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With the fifth-generation mobile communications standard
(5G) [s0G 9], we will create a highly reliable mobile network with
extremely low latency and high data throughput. To this end,
network functions will be decoupled from the access medium
(e.g., optical fiber, copper, or air). By distributing computing
power in the network (mobile edge computing) and creating
dedicated network layers for individual applications (network
slicing), 5G creates the basis for future technologies such as
virtual reality, autonomous driving, and the Internet of Things.
Our goal is to work with policy-makers and industry to build the
most powerful digital infrastructure for Germany - in cities and
rural areas alike. We will continue to make massive investments
in infrastructure, but at the same time need fair and reliable
conditions to be in place.

Secure ICT solutions & big loT

Our international network solutions remained popular among
German business customers in 2018. Secure, reliable global
connectivity is essential to the advancing digitalization of criti-
cal processes in companies and industry associations. We
remain a dependable partner to German industry thanks to our
portfolio of international communications solutions that combine
the strengths of our national network infrastructure with our
international network assets.

Our business with “traditional” IT outsourcing services for inter-
national corporate customers has been in decline for a number
of years now, mainly due to persistent intense competition. For
this reason, our Systems Solutions operating segment is cur-
rently undergoing a radical transformation comprising four key
thrusts: a shift to portfolio-based business management, the
integration of our sales organization, the reduction of interdis-
ciplinary costs by streamlining processes and hierarchy levels,
and a significant increase in the level of automation in service
provision with a higher share of offshore/nearshore services.
We made excellent progress with the transformation in the
reporting year and will be able to implement the new portfolio-
based organization in 2019 as planned. We will also tailor our
IT and cloud offers even more closely to the needs of our SME
customers in the future. In 2018, we generated revenue of some
EUR 700 million in this area in our Germany operating segment,
up once again by around 20 percent against 2017. As we expect
this business to grow significantly over the coming years, we
are expanding our IT and cloud ecosystem for SMEs together
with market-leading technology partners.

For us, the biggest growth driver in the business customer
environment is the Internet of Things. Over the next few
years, we expect billions of new devices - means of production
such as machines or tools, everyday objects like cars or fridges,
but also public infrastructure like street lights or park benches -
to be connected to the Internet. Our NarrowBand loT networks
(NB-loT) alongside M2M connectivity create the basis for
cost-effective and energy-efficient networking. In addition,

we will provide our customers - e.g., in the automotive, health-
care and public sectors - with the platforms to manage these
devices and use the data collected for their business. As a
leading network operator in the NB-loT environment, we also

operate networks in ten countries, offering coverage nationwide
in the Netherlands, Austria, Slovakia, and the United States. At
present, we work with over 500 customers in Europe, helping
them to prepare and roll out their NB-loT-based hardware and
applications. These customers include, for example, Ista (smart
submetering), BMW (paperless displays), the City of Hamburg
(smart parking), Veolia and Geotermia Zakopane in Poland
(smart metering), and Dual Inventive (rail track monitoring).

We supplement these offers with our comprehensive cyber-
security portfolio. Telekom Security, which was estab-
lished in early 2017, is today Germany'’s leading provider of
cybersecurity solutions. In the medium term, we also want to
take on a leading role in Europe. Since cyberattacks pose a
growing threat to companies and our customers’ need for data
privacy and security is increasing, we expect growth rates in
this business area to remain consistently high over the next
few years.

SUPPORTING AREAS OF OPERATION

Save for growth investments

Future growth requires adequate investment. To this end, we
are investing in our own innovativeness as well as integrating
successfully new developments from outside our Company.
Thanks to our strict cost discipline, we generate the funds we
need to finance this investment and safeguard our competitive-
ness. We will therefore systematically continue on this path of
cost transformation. In the long term, we also want to be Europe’s
leading telecommunications provider in terms of efficiency.

We take a value-oriented approach to managing our invest-
ment portfolio. Business areas that cannot be adequately
developed within the Group are disposed of, while our growth
ambitions are bolstered by means of equity investments and
acquisitions. Since 2018, we can also offer convergent prod-
ucts from a single source in Austria and the Netherlands:
The acquisition of cable provider UPC Austria by T-Mobile
Austria was consummated. The European Commission also
unconditionally approved the acquisition of Tele2 Netherlands
by T-Mobile Netherlands.

We aim to strengthen our position in the U.S. mobile market
through the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint,
agreed in April 2018. Not only is the planned combination

of business activities under the all-new, larger T-Mobile US
consistent with our strategy of successfully developing our U.S.
business, it will also bolster the customer-oriented Un-carrier
strategy and allow us roll out 5G technology across the United
States faster and better than before. After implementation of
the planned combination, the new company will have a value
of approximately USD 150 billion; the anticipated synergies will
have a present value of around USD 43 billion (after integration
costs).
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Simplify, digitalize, accelerate

Simplicity in our offers and in our organization makes the digital
transformation of our core business easier. In this way, we in-
crease our implementation speed - both in the interaction with
customers and in the implementation of new, strategic initiatives.
This is why we want to become simpler, more digital, and ulti-
mately more agile.

There are two main thrusts to our pursuit of simplicity. First, we
want to offer our customers intuitive products and easy to under-
stand rates: Our convergent products such as MagentaEINS are
a first step in this direction. Going forward, we want to signifi-
cantly further reduce product complexity. Second, we want our
internal operation to be as efficient as possible, i.e., in terms

of time and costs. Hence we will scrutinize our organization,
processes, and decision-making procedures and further optimize
them wherever possible.

The digitalization of our core business is helping us to improve
customer experience and increase our efficiency. Our innovative
service app lets our customers in Germany and Europe view
their data and contracts at any time and get the most benefit
from our extensive services. The app is a resounding success:
For example, our customers rate the MeinMagenta app for iOS
with 4.4 out of 5 stars. Long term, our plan is to digitalize all
value creation stages in their entirety. To this end, we are imple-
menting more agile IT solutions and systematically expanding
our expertise in innovative technologies like artificial intelligence.
Data-based analyses are already helping us to maintain our
hardware more proactively, understand customer needs better,
and manage our networks more efficiently. Innovation that
works: A study by Berlin University of Applied Sciences and
CEBIT in the reporting year rated, for example, our chatbot

at T-Mobile Austria - Tinka - the best chatbot out of all the
DAX 30 and MDAX companies.

However, simplicity and digitalization also call for new organi-
zational forms, new skills, and a cultural shift. Given this, in the
reporting year we introduced the principle of end-to-end cus-
tomer responsibility, particularly in areas close to the market,
and implemented an agile organizational structure. We target
and systematically develop our employees’ abilities in line with
the challenges being faced in the digital age and promote diver-
sity as a source of change, innovation, and creativity across
our entire Company. Future Work offers our employees modern,
open office environments that provide the perfect setting to
encourage flexibility and new ways of working together.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

In summary, our Leading European Telco strategy is reflected in
our goal:

To be the leading European telecommunications provider.

= \We want to be a leader in terms of customer experience,
technology, and the implementation of advances in produc-
tivity for our business customers. Because only when we lead
can we grow and meet the demands of our investors in the
long term.

= This growth will be made possible by carefully managing our
financial resources and systematically transforming the
Company to be simple, digital, and agile in every sense.

= We play a responsible and active role in society. We are a
partner, not just at a social level, but also at a political one,
and we work in the interests of ensuring the open, forward-
looking development of all countries in which we are active.

MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

We continue to be committed to the concept of value-oriented
corporate governance. We want to strike a balance between the
contrasting expectations of our stakeholders so that sufficient
funding is available for an attractive dividend, debt repayment,
responsible staff restructuring, and new investment for a positive
customer experience.

m Shareholders expect an appropriate, reliable return on their
capital employed.

= Providers of debt capital expect an appropriate return and
that Deutsche Telekom is able to repay its debts.

= Employees expect jobs that are secure, prospects for the
future, and that any necessary staff restructuring will be done
in a responsible manner.

= “Entrepreneurs within the enterprise” expect sufficient
investment funding to be able to shape Deutsche Telekom'’s
future business and develop products, innovations, and ser-
vices for the customer.
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FINANCE STRATEGY

We presented our updated finance strategy for the years 2018
through 2021 at the Capital Markets Day in late May 2018. Our
forecast for growth through to 2021 remains at the same high
level we anticipated at our Capital Markets Day in 2015.

Part of our finance strategy is to achieve our target financial
ratios - relative debt (ratio of net debt to adjusted EBITDA) and
equity ratio - along with a liquidity reserve that covers our ma-
turities of the coming 24 months at least. With these clear state-
ments we intend to maintain our rating in a corridor from A- to
BBB and safeguard undisputed access to the capital market.

There is a reliable dividend policy for shareholders, which is
subject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment
of other legal requirements. For the 2018 financial year, we will
propose a dividend of EUR 0.70 per dividend-bearing share,
which will also serve as a baseline for the dividend going for-
ward. Starting from the 2019 financial year, the dividend is to
reflect relative growth in earnings per share with a lower limit
fixed at EUR 0.50 per dividend-bearing share. In terms of ad-
justed earnings per share, for 2018 we continue to expect a
figure of around EUR 1.00 per share as announced at the
Capital Markets Day in 2015 and expect this to rise to around
EUR 1.20 per share through 2021. We thus offer our share-
holders both an attractive return and planning reliability.

We will also take share buy-backs into consideration, both

of Deutsche Telekom AG shares and shares in T-Mobile US.
However, no shares will be bought back in the first three years
after the successful closing of the business combination of
T-Mobile US and Sprint.

Total capital expenditure is also to remain high in the next few
years. The scope for investment is to be used to further roll out
our broadband infrastructure and to accelerate the transformation
of the Company to an IP-based production model. In mobile
communications, the infrastructure build-out will focus on the
LTE and 5G standards and, in the fixed network, on optical fiber
and vectoring. The finance strategy supports the transformation
of our Group into the Leading European Telco. In order to
generate a sustainable increase in value, we intend to earn our
cost of capital in the medium term. We aim to achieve this goal
in part by optimizing the utilization of our non-current assets.
We also intend to achieve our target of earning our cost of capi-
tal through strict cost discipline and improved cross-functional
collaboration. Additionally, we focus our performance manage-
ment on unadjusted EBIT. By taking capital expenditure into
consideration, we can align EBIT more closely with the ROCE
concept and support our rigorous focus on the efficient allocation
of capital at the Deutsche Telekom Group.

Our finance strategy until 2021

Reliable shareholder
remuneration policy

LEAD IN CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE

ONE CONNECTIVITY &
PERFECT SERVICE

= DIVIDEND?

= € 0.70 per share for 2018
(payout in 2019)

= After 2018, the dividend
will reflect the relative
growth of adjusted
earnings per share (EPS)P

= Floor remains at
€ 0.50 per share

= BUY-BACKS®
= Taken into consideration
= Deutsche Telekom AG
shares or increase of the
stake in T-Mobile US

TECHNOLOGY

SAVE FOR GROWTH INVESTMENTS

SIMPLIFY, DIGITALIZE, ACCELERATE »

BASED ON EXISTING LOW-RISK COUNTRY PORTFOLIO

GROW Undisputed access to debt
capital markets
LEAD IN LEAD IN BUSINESS
= RATING
PRODUCTIVITY A to BBB
= NET DEBT/

SECURE ICT SOLUTIONS &
BIG 10T ADJUSTED EBITDA¢
2.251t02.75x®

= EQUITY RATIO
2510 35%

= LIQUIDITY RESERVE
covers maturities
of coming 24 months

aSubject to approval by the relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.

b Adjusted earnings per share (EPS) in 2018 as starting point.

¢Not relevant for the first three years after the successful closing of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint.
dDeviation from the target range for a short period after the successful closing of the business combination of T-Mobile US and Sprint.
e Target corridor raised due to the increase in net debt as a result of the mandatory application of the IFRS 16 accounting standard.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In order to set and achieve our strategic goals more effectively,
we pursue a Group-wide, value-oriented performance manage-
ment approach. We use a specific set of performance indicators
to reliably and transparently measure success.

The following tables and information provide an overview of our
key financial and non-financial performance indicators.

Financial performance indicators

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ROCE % 4.7 5.8 5.7 4.8 5.5
Net revenue billions of € 75.7 74.9 73.1 69.2 62.7
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 8.0 9.4 9.2 7.0 7.2
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) billions of € 23.3 22.2 21.4 19.9 17.6
Free cash flow
(before dividend payments and
spectrum investment) billions of € 6.2 55 49 4.5 4.1
Cash capex (before spectrum investment)  billions of € (12.2) (12.1) (11.0) (10.8) (9.5)
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+ BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baal Baafl Baal Baal Baatl

PROFITABILITY

In order to underline the importance of the successful long-term
development of our Group, we have incorporated sustainable
growth in enterprise value into our medium-term aims and im-
plemented it as a separate KPI (key performance indicator) for
the entire Group. Return on capital employed (ROCE) is our
central performance indicator. ROCE is the ratio of operating
result after depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
plus imputed taxes (net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT))
to the average value of the assets tied up for this purpose in
the course of the year (net operating assets, NOA).

ROCE is the performance indicator that helps us to embed our
aim of sustainably increasing the value of our Group across all
operational activities. Additional value accrues when the return
on capital employed exceeds the cost of capital. Our goal,
therefore, is to achieve or exceed the return targets imposed
on us by providers of debt capital and equity on the basis of
capital market requirements. We measure return targets using
the weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

Calculation of the ROCE financial performance indicator
millions of €

2018 2017 2016
ROCE % 4.7 5.8 5.7
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) 8,001 9,383 9,164
Share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method (529) 76 (53)
Interest component of unrecognized rental and lease obligations 630 525 573
Other NOP adjustments 1 0 0
NET OPERATING PROFIT (NOP) 8,103 9,984 9,684
Tax (imputed tax rate 2018: 27.8 %; 2017: 31.5%; 2016: 30.3 %) (2,253) (3,145) (2,934)
NET OPERATING PROFIT AFTER TAXES (NOPAT) 5,850 6,839 6,750
Cash and cash equivalents 3,679 3,312 7,747
Operating working capital (511) (3,555) (5,056)
Intangible assets 64,950 62,865 60,599
Property, plant and equipment 50,631 46,878 46,758
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale? 145 161 372
Investments accounted for using the equity method 576 651 725
Other assets 331 410 279
Present value of unrecognized rental and lease obligations 15,760 13,127 14,320
Other provisions (6,435) (6,527) (6,388)
Other NOA adjustments 0 0 0
NET OPERATING ASSETS (NOA) 129,126 117,322 119,356
AVERAGE NET OPERATING ASSETS (@ NOA) 124,024 118,927 119,101

2 Excluding the carrying amounts of companies accounted for using the equity method.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.



COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

24 Deutsche Telekom at a glance 72  Development of business at Deutsche Telekom AG
31 Group organization 76  Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement
35  Group strategy 89  Innovation and product development

38  Management of the Group 97  Employees

43 The economic environment 102  Forecast

49  Development of business in the Group 113  Risk and opportunity management

60 Development of business in the operating segments 129  Other disclosures

NOPAT is an earnings indicator derived from the income state-
ment. As it does not take cost of capital into account, it also
includes the interest component of unrecognized rental and
lease obligations.

NOA includes all assets that make a direct contribution to rev-
enue generation. These include all elements on the asset side
of the consolidated statement of financial position that are es-
sential to the rendering of services. Operating working capital
is calculated from trade and other receivables, inventories, trade
and other payables, as well as additional current and non-current
assets and liabilities selected in line with the internal steering
logic. NOA also includes rental and operating lease obligations
recognized by the lessor where required for operations. The
figure for other provisions is deducted as no return target exists
for this.

We believe that ROCE best reflects the expectations of the

four aforementioned stakeholders. The indicator measures

how efficiently we generate revenues with the capital employed.
ROCE is especially informative when taking a long-term view,
because it takes into account both the immense value of the
assets that are tied up in our capital-intensive infrastructure,
and their utilization. This reveals the crucial advantage of this
KPI. It does not focus on the absolute amount of the earnings
generated, but rather how much earnings the capital employed
generates.

REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Revenue corresponds to the value of our operating activities.
Absolute revenue depends on how well we are able to sell our
products and services on the market. The development of our
revenue is an essential indicator for measuring the Company’s
success. New products and services as well as additional sales
activities are only successful if they increase revenue.

EBITDA corresponds to EBIT (profit/loss from operations)
before depreciation, amortization and impairment losses. EBIT
and EBITDA measure the short-term operational performance
and the success of individual business areas. We also use the
EBIT and EBITDA margins to show how these indicators de-
velop in relation to revenue. This makes it possible to compare
the earnings performance of profit-oriented units of different
sizes. Taking unadjusted EBIT/EBITDA as performance indi-
cators means special factors are also taken into account. This
promotes a holistic view of our costs. However, special factors
have an impact on the presentation of operations, making it
more difficult to compare performance indicators with corre-
sponding figures for prior periods. For this reason, we additio-

nally adjust our performance indicators to provide transparency.
Without this adjustment, statements about the future develop-
ment of earnings are only possible to a limited extent. The
adjusted values are calculated on the basis of the unadjusted
performance indicators.=

FINANCIAL FLEXIBILITY

We define free cash flow as net cash from operating activities
less net cash outflows for investments in intangible assets
(excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment. This
indicator is the main yardstick for providers of debt capital and
equity. It measures the potential for further developing our
Company, for generating organic growth, and for the ability to
pay dividends and repay debt.

Central free cash flow management is responsible for trans-
parency, steering, forecasts, and performance measurement

in relation to free cash flow and especially in relation to working
capital. As part of our measures to optimize working capital
over the long term, in the reporting year the focus was on
further extending the period of payment for our payables in
Germany and Europe, expanding inventories management there,
and further optimizing receivables management in all our oper-
ating segments. We plan to continue down this route in the
coming years by focusing on the following areas: extending the
period of payment for payables and improving receivables and
inventories management in the United States, Germany, and
Europe.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) relates to cash out-
flows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
and property, plant and equipment, which are relevant for cash
outflows as a component of free cash flow.

A rating is an assessment or classification of the creditworthi-
ness of debt securities and its issuer according to uniform
criteria. Assessment of creditworthiness by rating agencies
influences interest rates on debt securities and thus also our
borrowing costs. As part of our finance policy, we have defined
a target range for our ratings. We are convinced that with

a rating between A- and BBB (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) or
between A3 and Baa?2 (Moody’s) we essentially have the neces-
sary entry to the capital markets to generate the required
financing.

For the reconcili-
ation of EBITDA,
EBIT, and net
profit/loss to the
respective figures
adjusted for special
factors, please refer
to the table on
page 54.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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For further infor-
mation on the first-
time application of
the accounting
standards, please
refer to the section
“Summary of
accounting
policies” in the
notes to the
consolidated
financial
statements,

page 153 et seq.

For further infor-
mation, please refer
to the section
“Forecast,”

page 102 et seq.

EFFECTS OF THE APPLICATION OF THE NEW IFRS 16
“LEASES” ACCOUNTING STANDARD ON OUR FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The mandatory first-time application of the new IFRS 16 “Leases’
accounting standard as of January 1, 2019 has a material impact
on Deutsche Telekom’s consolidated financial statements. The
new standard requires payment obligations from existing operat-
ing leases to be discounted and recognized as lease liabilities;
as financial liabilities, they increase net debt. At the same time,
the lessee capitalizes a right of use. Operating expenses previ-
ously recognized in connection with operating leases will in
future be recognized either in depreciation charges for capital-
ized right-of-use assets or in interest expenses for discounted
obligations from operating leases, as appropriate. This will sig-
nificantly improve EBITDA without any attendant change in the
economic circumstances. In the statement of cash flows, the
repayment portion of the lease payments from existing operating
leases will reduce net cash from/used in financing activities and
no longer affect net cash from operating activities. Interest pay-
ments will remain in net cash from operating activities and thus
also in free cash flow.=

]

Since expenses and cash outflows for leases are substantial
elements of our earnings performance and solvency, starting
the 2019 financial year we will take into account the effects of
the mandatory first-time application of the IFRS 16 accounting
standard when determining our financial performance indi-
cators. We also want to ensure maximum comparability with
our previous performance indicators. In the future, our opera-
tional performance will be measured on the basis of “EBITDA
after leases” (EBITDA AL) (previously EBITDA). EBITDA AL is
calculated by adjusting EBITDA for depreciation of the capital-
ized right-of-use assets and for interest expenses on recognized

NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

lease liabilities. The “free cash flow” financial performance indi-
cator will be replaced by “free cash flow after leases” (free cash
flow AL). Free cash flow AL is determined by adjusting free
cash flow for repayments of lease liabilities. To improve compa-
rability of our performance indicators with the EBITDA and “free
cash flow” indicators reported in the financial statements of
T-Mobile US in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which in future will
continue to differentiate between operating and finance leases,
expenses and repayments for finance leases at T-Mobile US will
not be taken into account when determining EBITDA AL and
free cash flow AL.

The ROCE calculation method has to be adjusted effective the
start of the 2019 financial year as a result of the mandatory first-
time application of the IFRS 16 accounting standard. NOA will
be determined taking capitalized right-of-use assets from leases
into consideration. By contrast, the present value of unrecognized
rental and lease obligations as well as adjustments to their res-
pective interest components will no longer be taken into account
when determining NOPAT. As part of these changes, the defini-
tion of ROCE will be both refined and simplified, since operating
working capital will in future be calculated solely from trade and
other receivables, inventories, and trade and other payables.
No further adjustments to NOPAT, NOA, or other assets under
NOA will be necessary. Overall, the new calculation method will
have a minor effect on ROCE.

From the start of the 2019 financial year, we will take the effects
of the mandatory first-time application of the IFRS 16 accounting
standard into account when calculating the actual values for our
financial performance indicators. As such, the statements made
with regard to our two-year forecast already refer to the new
“after leases” indicators. =

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index) 67.7 68.6 70.2 67.4 65.9
Employee satisfaction (commitment index)? 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.1 4.0
FIXED-NETWORK AND MOBILE CUSTOMERS
Mobile customers millions 178.4 168.4 165.0 156.4 150.5
Fixed-network lines millions 27.9 27.9 28.5 29.0 29.8
Broadband customers ¢ millions 20.2 18.9 18.4 17.8 17.4
SYSTEMS SOLUTIONS
Order entryd millions of € 6,776 5,241 6,851 5,608 7,107

a Commitment index according to the most recent employee surveys in 2017 and 2015.
b Excluding wholesale.

¢ Starting in Q2 2018, we no longer report the number of broadband lines from a technical perspective. Instead, we report the number of broadband customers. The figures for 2016 and 2017

have been adjusted accordingly.

d The figure for 2016 was adjusted retrospectively due to the change in the structure of the Group implemented as of January 1, 2017.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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We want our customers to be satisfied - or even delighted -

as satisfied customers act as multipliers for our Company’s
success. As a responsible, service-oriented company, the needs
and opinions of our customers are of great importance to us,
and we want them to stay with our Company in the long term.
For this reason, we measure customer retention/satisfaction
in our companies using the globally recognized TRI*M method.
The results of systematic surveys are expressed by an indicator
known as the TRI*M index. To underscore the major significance
of customer retention/satisfaction for our operations, since 2010
we have made this key indicator one of four parameters for the
long-term variable remuneration (Variable Il) for our Board of
Management members. It is also used as a parameter in the
long-term incentive plan, which was launched in 2015 and is
offered to our managers (with the exception of Board of Man-
agement members). We take the TRI*M indexes calculated

for the operating entities as an approximation of the respective
entities’ percentage of total revenue to create an aggregate
TRI*M Group value. Over a period of four years, the eligible
managers can benefit from the development of customer
retention/satisfaction across the Group.=

Our employees want to contribute to the further development
of the Company and identify with it. We want to establish an
open dialog and a productive exchange with our employees:
New ways of working and modern means of communication
help us achieve this, as do regular surveys. The most important
feedback instruments across the Group (excluding T-Mobile US)
for assessing employee satisfaction include regular employee
surveys and the pulse survey carried out twice a year. In our
Company, we measure the employee satisfaction performance
indicator using the commitment index - derived from the re-
sults of the last employee survey and updated with the results
of the last pulse survey.[SbG 8l=

In view of the major significance of employee satisfaction for the
success of the Company, Board members are now also being
managed and incentivized by means of the long-term variable
performance-based remuneration (Variable Il). Employee feed-
back as one of four parameters has been relevant for Variable Il
since 2010, and for the long-term incentive plan which was
relaunched in 2015 for our managers (excluding Board members).
This allows Board members and eligible managers to benefit
from the development of employee satisfaction across the
Group.

As one of the leading providers of telecommunications and
information technology worldwide, the development of our
Group - and thus also our financial performance indicators -

is closely linked to the development of customer figures.
Acquiring and retaining customers are thus essential to the
success of our Company. We have different ways of measuring
the development of our customer figures according to the busi-
ness activity in our operating segments: Depending on the
activities of each segment, we measure the number of mobile
customers and/or the number of broadband customers and
fixed-network lines.

In our Systems Solutions operating segment, we use order
entry as a non-financial performance indicator. We define and
calculate order entry as the total of all amounts resulting from
customer orders received in the financial year. Order entry in
the form of long-term contracts is of great significance to the
Group in order to estimate revenue potential. In other words,
order entry is an indicator that provides a high degree of planning
reliability.

THE ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

= Economic development in our core markets positive
m Regulatory intervention continues to impact negatively
on the telecommunications market

MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

The global economy grew by 3.7 percent in the reporting year -
more than in any single year in the period 2012 through 2016,
and on a par with 2017. In our core markets, economic growth
rates recorded positive trends overall in 2018. While growth in
the United States was significantly stronger year-on-year, in the
eurozone growth has tailed off in recent months.

GDP in Germany increased by 1.5 percent year-on-year, driven
by consumer and public spending as well as investments. Aver-
age unemployment in 2018 was 5.2 percent, putting employ-
ment levels in Germany at a record high. The U.S. economy
grew by 2.9 percent in the reporting year, with unemployment
at 3.9 percent - its lowest level yet. The countries in our Europe
operating segment posted consistently robust growth in 2018.
The national economies continued to profit from rising domestic
consumption and stable demand. The situation in the national
labor markets in our Europe operating segment continued to
improve thanks to positive economic growth.

The following table shows the GDP growth rate trends and the
unemployment rates in our most important markets.
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For further infor-
mation on customer
satisfaction, please
refer to the section
“Group strategy,”
page 35 et seq.

DEGENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH

o

909, EMPLOYEES

For further infor-
mation on employee
satisfaction, please
refer to the section
“Employees,”

page 97 et seq.
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Development of GDP and the unemployment rate in our core markets from 2016 to 2018

%

GDP estimate Estimated

GDP for 2016 GDP for 2017 for 2018 Unemployment rate  Unemployment rate unemployment rate

compared with 2015  compared with 2016 | compared with 2017 in 2016 in 2017 for 2018

Germany 2.2 2.2 1.5 6.1 5.7 5.2
United States 1.6 2.2 2.9 4.9 4.4 3.9
Greece (0.2) 1.5 2.1 23.6 21.5 19.6
Romania 4.8 7.0 4.2 5.9 4.9 4.3
Hungary 2.3 4.1 4.7 5.1 4.2 3.6
Poland 3.1 4.8 5.1 6.2 4.9 3.3
Czech Republic 2.5 4.4 2.9 4.0 2.9 2.4
Croatia 3.5 2.9 2.8 13.4 1.1 9.1
Netherlands 2.2 2.9 2.5 6.0 4.9 3.9
Slovakia 3.1 3.2 4.2 9.7 8.1 6.9
Austria 2.0 2.6 2.7 6.0 5.5 4.8

Source: National authorities, Eurostat, European Commission, consensus forecasts. January 2019.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS MARKET

Demand for high-speed broadband - over the fixed and mobile
networks - remains high. According to estimates by Analysys
Mason, data traffic over the fixed network grew by 38 percent
worldwide in 2018. In the same period, estimates by Dialog
Consult put the average data volume per fixed-line connection
and month in Germany at 90 gigabytes - more than quadruple
the level seen five years ago. Analysys Mason estimates that
mobile data traffic grew worldwide in 2018 by 67 percent, al-
most representing a fifteen-fold increase in five years. For the
telecommunications industry, these developments present both
a challenge and the opportunity to monetize the strong growth
in volume.

Worldwide, revenues on the market for information and commu-
nications technologies (ICT) grew by 4.1 percent in the report-
ing year to EUR 3.26 trillion. The high-tech association Bitkom
(Federal Association for Information Technology, Telecommu-
nications and New Media) and EITO (European Information
Technology Observatory) expect the telecommunications market
segment (services and equipment) to record an increase of

3.3 percent worldwide to EUR 1.82 trillion and the information
technology (IT) market segment to record an increase of

5.1 percent for 2018.

In the European Union (EU), revenues in the telecommunications
market segment increased by 1.3 percent in 2018. Revenues
with telecommunications equipment rose by 3.2 percent, while
revenues with telecommunications services only grew slightly
by 0.6 percent. In the Central and Eastern European Countries
(excluding Russia), revenues with telecommunications equip-
ment and services grew by 3.7 percent in the reporting year. In
2018, telecommunications revenues in Europe continued to grow
at a slower pace overall than in other major industrial nations:
The United States posted growth of 2.6 percent and China

of 3.1 percent. While telecommunications policy in the EU is
designed to relentlessly drive price competition by way of
regulatory intervention, outside of the EU the focus is much
more on encouraging investments.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The telecommunications industry is characterized by intense
competition. Consumers benefit from a greater range of pro-
ducts to choose from. Each of our markets is occupied by three
or four mobile operators with their own network infrastructure.
On top of this, we are seeing mobile providers becoming estab-
lished in many markets using the network infrastructure of the
mobile network operators. Competition is also intense in the
fixed network. Established telecommunications companies are
competing with cable network operators, city network opera-
tors, and resellers, who predominantly make use of regulated
wholesale products. Added to this are internet companies with
over-the-top (OTT) communication services that further intensify
the competitive pressure.

The rapid technological transformation in the telecommuni-
cations sector calls for high investments to build out next-
generation network infrastructure. The rollout of 5G networks
is fast approaching and the telecommunications networks are
continually being upgraded with optical fiber. Established tele-
communications companies like Deutsche Telekom are invest-
ing a substantial portion of their revenues in building out net-
work infrastructure and acquiring spectrum. To ensure that
these efforts can continue, it is essential that the market
environment, especially in the European markets, improves.

In such a capital-intensive and innovative industry as telecom-
munications, consumers benefit first and foremost from high
investments by telecommunications network operators. As
such, economies of scale and fair conditions for private invest-
ment and build-out partnerships play a prominent role.

Alongside the supply of basic broadband infrastructure, looking
ahead the focus will be on connecting billions of things, appli-
ances, machines, and sensors of all kinds to create an Internet
of Things (loT). In the next few years, connectivity will not be
restricted to millions of smartphones and computers - billions
of appliances worldwide will also communicate with each other.
The network infrastructures of the gigabit society must enable
the transportation of growing data volumes in parallel with pro-
viding intelligent features and services that offer the best sup-
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port for the diverging challenges generated by future applica-
tions, such as connected automated driving, loT, Industry 4.0,
e-health, and smart grids. The demands of these applications
can vary a great deal with respect to real-time requirements,
latency, availability, bandwidth, mobility, security, and energy
efficiency, to name a few. For this reason, steps must be taken
to ensure quality-assured services are possible both now and in
the future. The infrastructures for the gigabit society will comprise
an intelligent, application-specific mix of technologies at both a
network and features level.

GERMANY

According to EITO, revenue from IT products and services,
telecommunications, and consumer electronics increased by

2.1 percent to around EUR 138.2 billion in Germany in the report-
ing year. This was primarily attributable to the 2.5 percent growth
in information technology. Telecommunications revenues (tele-
communications services, hardware, and infrastructure systems)
increased by 1.4 percent to around EUR 58.4 billion.

The number of broadband lines in Germany grew by 3.0 percent
in 2018 to around 34.1 million at year-end, according to EITO.
For 2019, the number of broadband lines is expected to grow by
a further 2.3 percent to 34.9 million. Companies with their own
infrastructure benefited the most from this market growth, along
with resellers and regional providers. High-bandwidth lines are
increasingly marketed in cable and VDSL/vectoring networks.
The offerings in this area are supported by innovative hybrid
connection technologies. The availability of high bandwidths

in Germany and the large choice of HD content and video-on-
demand services are stimulating customer growth in IPTV busi-
ness. Convergent offers comprising fixed-network and mobile
communications (fixed-mobile convergence, FMC) offer custom-
ers many advantages and help increase customer retention.
The trend towards FMC offerings continued in the reporting
year, with more and more providers expanding their portfolios.
We launched our first convergent offering, MagentaEINS, on
the market in fall 2014. Since then, we have been gradually
enhancing the service both in the area of traditional communi-
cation and add-on services such as smart home, cloud comput-
ing, and security applications. Vodafone and O, made up
ground in terms of convergent offers.

In the German mobile market, service revenues increased by
1.4 percent against 2017 to approximately EUR 20.0 billion. This
moderate revenue growth was driven largely by the continued
rise in data usage, which offset the aforementioned regulatory
effects as well as sustained price and competitive pressure.
The use of mobile data is growing exponentially, the percentage
of voice and data rate plans is rising steadily. Traditional voice
and text messaging services are increasingly being replaced by
free IP messaging services like WhatsApp and social networks
like Facebook. Connected products such as smartphones and
tablets, as well as watches, shoes, bicycles, and much more,
are growing ever more popular, pushing up demand for mobile
broadband speeds and for large data volumes in the rate plan
portfolios.

Digitalization is continuing apace, and as a result there is also
growing demand by the industry for even more connectivity to
allow machines and production sites to be networked and to
tap efficiencies in value chains. Extensive IT and cloud solu-
tions, as well as intelligent approaches to M2M communication
(machine-to-machine) are needed in order to meet these
demands.

UNITED STATES

The mobile communications market in the United States con-
tinues to be divided between four major nationwide providers

- AT&T, Verizon Wireless, T-Mobile US, and Sprint - and various
regional network operators. In addition there are a number of
mobile virtual network operators, which rely on the networks of
one or more of the four national carriers to transport their voice
and data traffic. The two largest national network operators are
AT&T and Verizon Wireless, followed by T-Mobile US and Sprint.

The market continues to be very dynamic. Comcast, Charter,
DISH, TracFone, and Google have successfully entered or are
on the verge of entering the wireless market, demonstrating the
intensity of current competition in the sector. For example, the
cable companies Comcast and Charter have both begun offer-
ing mobile services to their customers. Both Comcast’s and
Charter’s mobile services leverage their respective existing
Wi-Fi networks, falling back on Verizon’s network when out

of their respective Wi-Fi footprints. Both offerings have slowly
churned subscribers away from the traditional wireless provi-
ders, exerting new and unique competitive pressures and blur-
ring market boundaries. Altice, after announcing an MVNO
partnership with Sprint last year, has been gradually building
up its mobile department in preparation of a launch some time
in 2019. DISH, which holds licenses to vast swathes of airwaves,
has announced near-term plans for both a Narrowband loT net-
work and a 5G network (DISH has license obligations to build
out much of its spectrum by 2020).

AT&T’s USD 85.4 billion acquisition of Time Warner, Inc. has
closed, but is still making its way through the courts. AT&T
beat an antitrust challenge by the U.S. Department of Justice at
court, with the decision on the appeal forthcoming. The consoli-
dation and convergence of the U.S. telecommunications market
is expected to continue, as fixed and wireless become more
integrated and wireless companies acquire content providers.
On April 29, 2018, T-Mobile US and Sprint announced their
intention to merge. The transaction is subject to customary
closing conditions, including regulatory, antitrust, and national
security approvals.

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
ANDINFRASTRUCTURE

o

FINANGE

The FCC has issued a public notice requesting input from in-
dustry and analysts on the status of competition in the mobile
wireless services market. Metrics are sought on total number
of wireless connections, data usage trends, spectrum holdings,
innovation and 5G, network quality, and market definition, etc.
Although specific metrics are forthcoming, data consumption
and smartphone penetration are steadily on the rise, and,
with the advent of mobile 5G services expected in 2019, data
consumption is expected to spike. For example, smartphone
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FINANCE

data usage is expected to surpass fixed broadband usage in
2018. With over 400 million mobile devices, there are more
wireless devices in the United States than people - in fact,
about 1.2 devices for every person in the country. More than
68 percent of these devices are data-intensive smartphones.

In the United States, 5G commercialization is moving at a swift
pace. One of the four national service providers began deploying
a 5G fixed wireless Internet service at the beginning of October
2018. Another has announced plans to deploy 5G based on the
3rd Generation Partnership (3GPP), a leading mobile standards
body, 5G standard by the end of the year. The other two pro-
viders plan to launch mobile 5G services in early 2019.

For its part, the FCC has taken various steps to encourage in-
vestment in the wireless space. For example, to help providers
prepare for the deployment of next generation networks, the
FCC has cleared regulatory hurdles, and preempted several
state and local obstacles, in efforts to streamline the impending
build-out required to realize true 5G mobile networks. And on
November 14, 2018, the FCC began auctioning off spectrum

in the 28 GHz band (Auction 101), its first ever high-band 5G
spectrum auction. This auction will be followed in early 2019 by
a second auction of spectrum in the 24 GHz band (Auction 102),
for a total of 1.55 gigahertz of spectrum. An additional auction
is planned for 2019 for spectrum in the 37 GHz, 39 GHz, and
47 GHz bands. However, there are not yet any further details
published by the FCC regarding the award of that spectrum.

EUROPE

In the 2018 financial year, the traditional telecommunications
markets continued last year’s growth trend in the highly com-
petitive market environment of our Europe operating segment.
Steady growth in broadband and TV services offset declining
revenues from voice telephony in fixed-network business.
Growth rates for mobile data usage remained high, especially
due to the wide range of video services available. Overall, mobile
business developed positively, making it a driver of growth in
the traditional telecommunications markets. The continued
levying in 2018 of special taxes on telecommunications services
in some countries had a negative impact, for example in Greece
and Hungary.

Compared with prior years, expenses for the acquisition of
spectrum and extension of existing mobile licenses remained
at a moderate level in 2018. Spectrum award proceedings were
held primarily in Hungary. In the reporting year, several merger
and takeover transactions were concluded in the countries of
our Europe operating segment (for instance T-Mobile Austria
and UPC Austria, Digi/Invitel and the sale of Telenor to PPF in
Hungary, and Vodafone/Cyta in Greece).

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The trend towards convergent product bundles combining
fixed-network and mobile communications (FMC) continues, for
example with Kombinieren & Sparen (combine & save) in Austria,
Love in Poland, and MagentaOne and CosmoteOne in our sub-
sidiaries with integrated telecommunications infrastructure.
These offers are enjoying strong growth and, for some pro-
viders, already address the majority of consumers. Streaming
video services like Netflix and Amazon Prime Video continue
to be of limited significance in Southern and Eastern Europe:
According to Ampere Analysis, the household penetration
rate there was 6 percent in the reporting year compared with
30 percent in Western Europe. In the business customer seg-
ment, the advance of digitalization prompted massive growth
in M2M/loT applications. We participate in this growth with
our smart city projects, for instance in Hungary, Romania,

and Greece.

SYSTEMS SOLUTIONS

In the information and communications technology (ICT) industry
in our core market of Western Europe, the volume addressed

by our portfolio in the Systems Solutions operating segment in-
creased by 5.3 percent in the reporting year to over EUR 185 billi-
on. However, this trend impacted the business areas of the market
in very different ways.

In the telecommunications segment, the market was dominated
by continued price erosion in telecommunications services and
by intense competition. The focus in this segment continues to
be on the substitution of elements of the portfolio and demand
for stable, intelligent and secure network solutions with increas-
ingly large bandwidths. Growth in ICT security (cyber security),
the Internet of Things, cloud computing, and unified communi-
cations is leading to a long-term stabilization of the markets
served by our operating segment. Substitution effects between
fixed-network and mobile operations continue to intensify. The
migration to all-IP solutions, e.g., the combination of Internet
access, Voice over IP, IP VPN, and Unified Communications,
continues to increase.

In terms of IT services, demand has grown further for cloud
services and cybersecurity services, as has the importance of
digitalization, intelligent networks, the Internet of Things (in-
cluding Industry 4.0), and communication between machines
(M2M). The advance of digitalization and the shift towards cloud
solutions also transformed demand in the systems integration
business. Traditional project business - application development
and the associated integration - stagnated. By contrast, the
market for consultation and integration services for cloud solu-
tions grew by almost 25 percent.
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The market for outsourcing computing and desktop services
(CDS) grew marginally by 0.1 percent in the reporting year

to EUR 54 billion. Two contrasting trends played a role in this
context: Business from long-term, rather traditional outsourcing
contracts declined by 4 percent, while the market for cloud
computing grew by 13 percent.

Competitive and price pressure persisted in all submarkets of
our Systems Solutions operating segment. This was caused in
part by competitors such as BT Global Services and Orange
Business Services in the telecommunications market and IBM,
Atos, and Capgemini in the IT segment; in addition, the IT seg-
ment in particular came under price pressure from cloud pro-
viders such as Amazon Web Services, Google, and Microsoft.
This effect is further intensified by providers of services ren-
dered primarily offshore. We are positioning ourselves in this
environment as a digital enabler, a cloud transformer, and an
ICT operator, with a focus on quality, data security, and end-to-
end responsibility for the transformation, integration, and oper-
ation of ICT services. Furthermore, we are increasingly entering
into strategic partnerships with our competitors with the aim of
offering our customers innovative solutions.

GROUP DEVELOPMENT

The environment of our Group Development operating segment
is largely dominated by the markets served by our companies
T-Mobile Netherlands and Deutsche Funkturm (DFMG).

The mobile communications market in the Netherlands has
been marked by high price and competitive pressure for quite
some time, and this situation intensified again in 2018. One

of the trends contributing toward this is the growing bundling
of fixed-network and mobile products into convergent offers
(FMC), an area that is dominated by the two companies KPN
and VodafoneZiggo. As in the past, the trend towards bundled
offers brings pressure to bear on prices for mobile products.
The strong discount segment, comprising mobile providers’
secondary brands and MVNOs, has further intensified compe-
tition. On November 27, 2018, the European Commission un-
conditionally approved the acquisition of telecommunications
provider Tele2 Netherlands by T-Mobile Netherlands and the
transaction was consummated on January 2, 2019.

DFMG is the biggest provider of passive wireless infrastructure
for mobile communications and broadcasting in Germany.
The market also saw increased demand for cell sites in the 2018
financial year, due on the one hand to the fact that network
operators plan to close gaps in coverage, and on the other to
the fact that demand for mobile data services is growing, which
calls for a further increase in the density of mobile networks.

MAJOR REGULATORY DECISIONS

Our business activities are largely subject to national and
European regulation, which is associated with extensive powers
to intervene in our product design and pricing. We were again
subject to extensive regulation in our mobile and fixed-network
businesses in 2018. The focus was primarily on the regulation
of services for wholesale customers and the corresponding
charges as well as the award of mobile spectrum.

REGULATION

Supreme Administrative Court ruling in our favor provides
legal certainty for rolling out VDSL in the direct vicinity of local
exchanges. Competitors had appealed against the Federal Net-
work Agency’s decision of September 2016 to green-light the
deployment of vectoring. In September 2018, the Supreme Ad-
ministrative Court upheld the Agency’s decision, simultaneously
establishing legal certainty regarding the VDSL rollout.

Federal Network Agency decision on StreamOn. On Decem-
ber 15, 2017, the Federal Network Agency prohibited elements
of the MagentaMobil StreamOn add-on option. According to the
Federal Network Agency, two aspects of this option breached
the EU Regulations on net neutrality and roaming. The ruling
stipulates that we must transmit all StreamOn data traffic at
the maximum available bandwidth and that this also cannot
be deducted from the included data volume contingent when
roaming within the EU. However, we believe that our service
complies with EU law. We continue to seek a preliminary in-
junction against the Agency’s decision with the Mlnster Higher
Administrative Court.

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
ANDINFRASTRUGTURE

o

4Z> RELATIONSHIPS

Federal Network Agency decisions on bitstream charges. On
March 8, 2018, we received the Federal Network Agency'’s final
decision on our rate application dated September 21, 2017.

The application relates to the rates we can charge to wholesale
customers for access to our broadband lines for “layer 2 bitstream
access.” In its final decision, the Federal Network Agency con-
firmed its preliminary decision from December 2017 and largely
approved the majority at the current levels. We had requested
an increase in the monthly rate as part of contingent models. As
per the preliminary decision, this application was not approved
in the final decision. On September 18, 2018, the Agency pub-
lished a draft consultation on bitstream charges for supervector-
ing, which is used to make download bandwidths of up to

250 Mbit/s available. The approved charges are higher than the
charges for slower speeds and were adopted unchanged in the
final decision on December 18, 2018. The Agency thus consis-
tently acknowledges investments in higher bandwidths.

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
ANDINFRASTRUCTURE

o

o STRUCTURE
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For further infor-
mation on the

spectrum awards,

please refer to
the section “Risk
and opportunity
management,”
page 113 et seq.

Federal Network Agency grants preliminary approval of

new interconnection rates. On December 17, 2018, the Agency
provisionally approved the fixed-network interconnection rates.
The charges for fixed-network termination were reduced by

20 percent from EUR 0.10/min. to EUR 0.08/min. and for

call origination by around 43 percent from EUR 0.23/min. to
EUR 0.13/min. These rates were approved through Decem-
ber 30, 2020 in the draft ruling. The draft approval of the final
rates is now the subject of a national consultation process, to
be followed by consultation on a European level. The final rates
approval is expected mid-2019.

AWARDING OF SPECTRUM

In Germany, the terms and conditions for awarding spectrum

in the 2.1 GHz and 3.4 to 3.7 GHz ranges in the coming auction
turned into a central topic of political debate in the latter half of
2018. Attention focused predominantly on requests to close

gaps in mobile data coverage and internet access (known as
“white spots”) alongside as rapid and comprehensive a rollout
as possible of the new 5G mobile standard. The aim is to ex-
pand coverage to rural areas in particular and to all major trans-
portation routes (road, rail, water). Given this, the final award
conditions included extensive coverage obligations as well as
legally disputed conditions on the granting of access between
mobile network operators. Along with at least eight further
market players, we have filed suit against the final award
conditions.

The table below provides an overview of the main spectrum
awards such as auctions as well as license extensions in
Germany and at our international subsidiaries. It also indicates
spectrum to be awarded in various countries in 2019.=

Main spectrum awards

Expected Expected

start of award  end of award Frequency ranges Acquired spectrum

procedure procedure (MHz) Award process (MHz) Spectrum investment
Germany Q12019 Q2 2019 2,100/3,400-3,700 Auction (SMRA?) tbd tbd
Greece Q32019 Q4 2019 3,400 - 3,800 Auction (SMRA®), expected tbd tbd
Croatia Q12019 Q22019 2,100/ 3,400 - 3,800 tbd tbd tbd
Macedonia Q12019 Q2 2019 2,100 Extension of licenses 2x 15 MHz No extension fees
Macedonia Q12019 Q12019 1,800 Extension of licenses tbd thd
Macedonia Q2 2019 Q2 2019 700/2,100/ 3,400 - 3,800 Auction, details tbd tbd tbd
Netherlands Q12020 Q2 2020 700/1,500/2,100 Auction, details tbd tbd tbd
Austria Q12019 Q2 2019 3,400 - 3,800 Regional auction (CCAP) tbd tbd
Austria Q12020 Q2 2020 700/1,500/2,100 Auction (CCAP), expected tbd tbd
Poland Q2 2019 Q4 2019 3,700 - 3,800 tbd tbd tbd
Poland Q3 2020 Q4 2020 700/3,600 - 3,800 tbd tbd tbd
Romania Q4 2019 Q4 2019 700/800/1,500/2,600/ Auction, details tbd tbd tbd

3,400 - 3,600
Slovakia Q32019 Q42019 700 Auction (SMRA®), expected tbd tbd
Czech Republic Q32019 Q4 2019 700/ 1,800 Auction, details tbd thd tbd
Hungary Q4 2018 Q42018 2,100 Extension of licenses 2x 15 MHz HUF 11 billion
(approx. € 34 million)
Hungary Q32019 Q32019 700/1,500/2,100/2,300/ Auction, details tbd tbd tbd
2,600/ 26,000
United States Q42018 Q22019 28,000 Auction (SMRA?), thd tbd
since Nov. 14, 2018

United States Q12019 Q22019 24,000 Auction (CCAP) tbd tbd

2 Simultaneous electronic multi-round auction with ascending, parallel bids for all available frequency ranges.
b Combinatorial clock auction, three-stage, multi-round auction for spectrum from all available frequency ranges.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS IN THE GROUP

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
ON BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT IN 2018

Bonn, February 12, 2019

We closed another successful year with strong results. In 2018,
we once again met our most important corporate targets and set
a course for the future. Net revenue increased by 0.9 percent to
EUR 75.7 billion - in organic terms, i.e., adjusted in particular for
the negative currency translation effects in the reporting year,
net revenue grew by as much as 3.1 percent. The U.S. business
continued to record strong growth, but Europe also put in a very
positive business performance, and we can certainly rely on our
home market in Germany. This development is the result of the
great response we are seeing from customers, in particular in
mobile communications and broadband business - in Germany
and Europe also in the success of our convergent product range.
In addition to consumer and business customer services, these
products remain the focus of our strategy. The acquisitions of
UPC Austria and Tele2 Netherlands further improved our position
in Europe, especially with regard to the convergent product offer-
ing. We want to further develop our good position in the U.S.
business by means of the agreed business combination of
T-Mobile US and Sprint.

Adjusted EBITDA grew by 5 percent to EUR 23.3 billion, mainly
on account of the strong development of operations driven by
revenue growth and a further improvement in cost efficiency -
it was not only the United States, but also Germany and in
particular Europe that bolstered the earnings trend. Free cash
flow (before dividend payments and spectrum investment)
totaled EUR 6.2 billion; this represents year-on-year growth of
around 13.7 percent.

Profit from operations (EBIT) decreased by EUR 1.4 billion in
the reporting year to EUR 8.0 billion, due to an increase in
special factors in connection with staff-related measures and
to the positive special factors which had increased EBIT in the
prior year as a result of the reversal of impairment losses previ-
ously recognized for spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US, as well
as of the sale of Strato and Scout24 AG. We also recorded
higher depreciation and amortization compared with 2017 as a
result of the high level of investment in building and expanding
our mobile networks and fixed-network infrastructure, as well as
for the forward-looking migration to IP as part of our integrated
network strategy.

Net profit decreased by EUR 1.4 billion to EUR 2.1 billion. The
positive trend in loss from financial activities was offset by an
increase in the tax burden compared with the prior year. The
prior-year burden was significantly reduced by the reduction in
the U.S. federal tax rate, which resulted in a non-cash deferred
tax benefit at T-Mobile US. ROCE decreased year-on-year due
largely to the higher net special factors compared with the
prior year.

Net debt increased from EUR 50.8 billion to EUR 55.4 billion,
primarily due to the acquisition of UPC Austria, our share
buy-back programs, and the ongoing high level of capital
expenditure for network build-out and modernization in the
United States, Germany, and Europe. Currency translation
effects also had a negative impact.

We presented our revised strategy and the financial outlook at
our Capital Markets Day in May 2018. Our forecast for growth
through to 2021 remains at the same high level we anticipated
at our Capital Markets Day in 2015. There is a reliable dividend
policy for our shareholders, which is subject to approval by the
relevant bodies and the fulfillment of other legal requirements.
For the 2018 financial year, we will propose a dividend of
EUR 0.70 per dividend-bearing share, which will also serve
as a baseline for the dividend going forward. Starting from the
2019 financial year, the dividend is to reflect relative growth in
earnings per share with a lower limit fixed at EUR 0.50 per
dividend-bearing share.

The trends in the industry, in particular on the European tele-
communications markets, remain challenging, e.g., rising com-
petition and strict regulatory requirements. The market for infor-
mation and communications technologies, however, continues
to grow. In order to succeed in the future, we continue to invest
heavily in the key to our success: our network infrastructure. In
2018, we made investments (before spectrum) of EUR 12.2 bil-
lion. In the fixed network, our focus was on investments in fiber-
optic roll-out, IPTV, and the continued migration to an IP-based
network. In mobile communications, we invested in LTE, increased

network coverage, and upgraded capacity to meet increasing de-

mand for high-speed data transmission rates. Including spectrum
payments, this figure was EUR 12.5 billion. Despite this high
level of investment, our rating remained solid through 2018, and
we had unrestricted access to the capital market at all times.

Against this backdrop, we are reasserting our commitment to
the strategic goal of being the leading European telecommuni-
cations provider. With this goal in mind, in 2018 we continued
to focus intently on delivering state-of-the-art networks, prod-
ucts, and services that give our customers simple, convenient
access to the digital world. This keeps us in a good position to
remain the driving force in our markets behind the creation of
a modern and competitive digital future.

COMPARISON OF THE GROUP’S EXPECTATIONS

WITH ACTUAL FIGURES

In the 2017 Annual Report, we outlined expectations for the
2018 financial year for our financial and non-financial key per-
formance indicators anchored in our management system. The
following tables summarize the pro-forma figures for 2017, the
results expected for the reporting year, and the actual results
achieved in 2018. The performance indicators that we also
forecast in the 2017 Annual Report and their development are
presented in the individual sections.

49

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.



50

Comparison of the expected financial key performance indicators with actual figures

Pro-forma figures Expectations Results
for 2017 for 2018 in 2018

ROCE % 5.8 decrease 4.7
Net revenue billions of € 74.9 slight increase 75.7
Profit (loss) from operations (EBIT) billions of € 9.4 decrease 8.0
EBITDA (adjusted for special factors) billions of € 22.2 23.62 23.3
Free cash flow (before dividend payments and spectrum investment) billions of € 55 6.32 6.2
Cash capex (before spectrum investment) billions of € 12.1 12.5 12.2
Rating (Standard & Poor’s, Fitch) BBB+ from A- to BBB BBB+
Rating (Moody’s) Baafl from A3 to Baa?2 Baafl
Comparison of the expected non-financial key performance indicators with actual figures

Pro-forma figures Expectations Results

for 2017 for 2018 in 2018

Customer satisfaction (TRI*M index) 67.2 slight increase 67.7
Employee satisfaction (commitment index)® 4.1 stable trend 4.1
FIXED-NETWORK AND MOBILE CUSTOMERS
GERMANY
Mobile customers millions 431 increase 442
Fixed-network lines millions 19.2 decrease 18.6
Broadband lines millions 13.2 increase 13.6
UNITED STATES
Branded postpaid millions 38.0 increase 425
Branded prepay millions 20.7 increase 211
EUROPE
Mobile customers millions 48.8 increase 50.5
Fixed-network lines millions 8.4 slight decrease 9.1
Broadband customers® millions 5.5 increase 6.4
SYSTEMS SOLUTIONS
Order entry billions of € 52 increase 6.8

2 Contrary to the forecasts published in the 2017 combined management report (2017 Annual Report, page 101 et seq.), we adjusted the forecast figures for 2018 during the course of the
year (Interim Group Report as of March 31, 2018, page 26; Interim Group Report as of June 30, 2018, page 27; and Interim Group Report as of September 30, 2018, page 29).

b Commitment index as per the 2017 employee survey.
¢ Starting in Q2 2018, we no longer report the number of broadband lines from a technical perspective. Instead, we report the number of broadband customers.

We once again look back on a successful financial year. Our Our key performance indicator ROCE (return on capital em-
performance in 2018 was dominated by substantial growth in ployed) declined by 1.1 percentage points in the reporting year
revenue and adjusted EBITDA. Revenue reached EUR 75.7 bil- to 4.7 percent. This negative trend was due to a decrease in
lion, achieving the expected rate of increase - adjusted for net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) while the average
exchange rate effects and changes in the composition of the amount of net operating assets (NOA) increased slightly over
Group, this increase was even more pronounced. Adjusted the year. NOPAT was impacted by negative special factors of
EBITDA also followed this trend, reaching EUR 23.3 billion - EUR 2.2 billion in 2018, in particular due to expenses for
adjusted for exchange rate effects and changes in the compo- staff-related measures and for non-staff-related restructuring
sition of the Group, it even surpassed our expectations of totaling EUR 1.3 billion, as well as impairment losses totaling
EUR 23.6 billion by EUR 0.2 billion. Adjusted for exchange EUR 0.7 billion recognized primarily on goodwill. Even the sig-
rate effects and changes in the composition of the Group, free nificant improvement in adjusted EBITDA could not completely
cash flow exceeded our expectations by EUR 0.1 billion. At offset these effects. In the prior year, NOPAT had been affected
EUR 12.2 billion, cash capex (before spectrum investment) fell by negative special factors of EUR 0.4 billion, while positive
short of the figure forecast. Adjusted for exchange rate effects special factors, such as the reversal of impairment losses

and changes in the composition of the Group, this shortfall previously recognized for spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US
amounts to just under EUR 0.2 billion, due primarily to lower (EUR 1.7 billion) or the sale of Strato (EUR 0.5 billion) and of

capital expenditure in our Systems Solutions operating segment.  further shares in Scout24 AG (EUR 0.2 billion), had an off-

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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setting effect. Overall, NOPAT amounted to EUR 5.9 billion in
2018, down from EUR 6.8 billion in 2017. NOA increased from
EUR 118.9 billion to EUR 124.0 billion in 2018 as a result of
growth in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment,
as well as an increase in the present value of unrecognized
rental and lease obligations, reflecting Deutsche Telekom’s
consistently high level of investment.

We are also very well on track with our non-financial key perfor-
mance indicators, especially with regard to the development

of fixed-network and mobile customer numbers. In our United
States operating segment in particular, we again recorded
continued strong mobile customer additions, both in the post-
paid and prepay segments. The customer growth in our Europe
operating segment is largely a result of the fixed-network lines
added as part of the acquisition of UPC Austria. Even without
this effect, the number of fixed-network lines grew by 3.2 per-
cent. At the end of the reporting year, customer satisfaction
came in at 67.7 points versus 67.2 points at the start of the year.
Changes to the revenue shares contributed by each country and
steps to harmonize the statistical units in the countries led to us
recalculating the baseline figure for 2018 on the basis of the
new structures these changes entailed. The new baseline thus
diverges from the figure of 68.8 reported as of December 31,
2017. This moderate upward trend is attributable to a slight
increase in the Europe operating segment. Germany and
Systems Solutions each essentially matched their prior-year
levels. Our goal for the coming years is to achieve a steady
overall improvement in customer satisfaction. Order entry at
our Systems Solutions operating segment improved markedly
in 2018, thanks in part to the successful conclusion of major
deals in the traditional IT business. Order entry in our growth
areas also developed very well in the reporting year.=

FIRST-TIME APPLICATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

The new accounting standards IFRS 15 “Revenue from Con-
tracts with Customers” and IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
took effect as of January 1, 2018. Prior-year comparatives
were not adjusted.

IFRS 15 introduces an amended model for determining and
recognizing revenue. The effects of the new regulations on our
operating segments differ depending on the underlying busi-
ness model and, for the most part, neutralize each other. For
example, in our Germany operating segment - where the sale
of subsidized handsets in combination with service contracts is
still customary - the amortization of capitalized contract assets
reduces revenue to a minor extent. In our United States operat-
ing segment - where customers are predominantly offered
payment-by-installment models or lease models - there is a
positive impact on revenue and EBITDA, mainly from the

capitalization of customer acquisition costs and their distributi-
on over the average customer retention period. At Group level,
there is an insignificant effect on revenue and a positive effect
on EBITDA.

IFRS 15 has a material impact on the presentation of the
Group's results of operations and its financial position. The
main effects are explained where the changes in the relevant
items of the statement of financial position are discussed.=

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP

NET REVENUE

In 2018, we generated net revenue of EUR 75.7 billion, which was
0.9 percent or EUR 0.7 billion up on the prior-year level. Adjusted
for negative net exchange rate effects of EUR 1.6 billion, and for
slightly positive effects of changes in the composition of the
Group, revenue increased by EUR 2.3 billion or 3.1 percent.

Our United States operating segment in particular contributed
to the positive revenue trend with an increase of 2.2 percent -
or, adjusted for exchange rate effects, of a substantial

6.8 percent. This increase was due primarily to higher service
revenues from the rise in the average branded customer base,
triggered in particular by the continued growth in existing and
greenfield markets, the growing success in new customer seg-
ments, along with lower customer churn. In our German home
market, revenue declined by 1.1 percent compared with the
prior year. Adjusted for the effects of IFRS 15, revenue was at
a comparable level with the previous year, with revenue from
mobile business rising year-on-year. Higher IT and broadband
revenues almost compensated for the decrease in fixed-network
revenue. In our Europe operating segment, revenue was up by
2.6 percent year-on-year; adjusted for exchange rate effects and
without the inclusion of UPC Austria as of July 31, 2018, it in-
creased by 1.5 percent. Revenues in business customer oper-
ations and in mobile business had a positive effect. Fixed-
network revenue also increased slightly year-on-year, mainly due
to the positive revenue effect from TV and broadband business.
These increases were partially offset by a decline in wholesale
business. In our Systems Solutions operating segment, revenue
remained on a par with the prior-year level. Revenues developed
positively in our growth business, while declining as expected
in our traditional IT business, notably in the international cor-
porate customer business and due to the general market
contraction in the core market of Western Europe, as well as to
deliberate portfolio decisions. Revenue generated by our Group
Development operating segment decreased by 3.4 percent
year-on-year, a decline attributable in part to forgone revenue
following the deconsolidation of Strato as of March 31, 2017.
Positive effects on revenue at T-Mobile Netherlands resulted
from high mobile handset sales; however, these were more than
offset by negative regulatory effects.=

For details on
remeasurement
and reclassification
effects, please refer
to the section
“Initial application
of standards,
interpretations, and
amendments in the
financial year” in
the notes to the
consolidated
financial state-
ments,

page 154 et seq.

For further infor-
mation on the
trends in our main
financial and
non-financial key
performance
indicators, please
refer to the relevant
passages in this
section as well

as in the section
“Development

of business

in the operating
segments,”

page 60 et seq.

For further infor-
mation on revenue
development,
please refer to the
section “Develop-
ment of business
in the operating
segments,”

page 60 et seq.
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For further informa-

tion, please refer to
Note 35 “Segment
reporting” in the
notes to the
consolidated
financial
statements,

page 226 et seq.

For further informa-

tion on the develop-

ment of EBITDA/
adjusted EBITDA in
our segments,
please refer to the
section “Develop-
ment of business
in the operating
segments,”

page 60 et seq.
For an overview of
the development
of special factors,
please refer to the
table on page 54.

Contribution of the segments to net revenue

millions of €

2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
NET REVENUE 75,656 74,947 709 0.9 73,095
Germanya? 21,700 21,931 (231) (1.1) 21,774
United States 36,522 35,736 786 2.2 33,738
Europe® 11,885 11,589 296 2.6 11,454
Systems Solutions® 6,936 6,918 18 0.3 6,993
Group Development? 2,185 2,263 (78) (3.4) 2,347
Group Headquarters & Group Services P 2,735 2,935 (200) (6.8) 3,460
Intersegment revenue (6,307) (6,425) 118 1.8 (6,670)

2 We assigned Vivento Customer Services GmbH, a provider of call center services, to our Germany operating segment as of January 1, 2018; previously it was part of our Group Headquarters &
Group Services segment. Comparative figures have been adjusted retrospectively. For further information on changes in the organizational structure, please refer to the section “Group
organization,” page 31 et seq. and Note 35 “Segment reporting” in the notes to consolidated financial statements, pages 226 et seq.

b Since January 1, 2017, we have reported on the Group Development operating segment and within the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment on the Board of Management

department Technology and Innovation. Comparative figures have been adjusted retrospectively.

Contribution of the segments to net revenue =
%
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At 48.3 percent, our United States operating segment again
provided the largest contribution to net revenue of the Group.
This was an increase of 0.6 percentage points compared with
the prior year, due in particular to ongoing strong customer
additions. The proportion of net revenue generated internation-
ally continued to increase, from 67.2 percent to 67.8 percent.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

EBITDA, ADJUSTED EBITDA

Excluding special factors, adjusted EBITDA increased year-on-
year by EUR 1.1 billion or 5.0 percent to EUR 23.3 billion in
2018. Negative exchange rate effects, primarily from the trans-
lation of U.S. dollars into euros, decreased the carrying amount
by EUR 0.5 billion. Excluding these effects, adjusted EBITDA
increased by as much as EUR 1.6 billion or 7.2 percent.

Adjusted EBITDA in our United States operating segment in-
creased substantially, primarily due to higher revenue - the
application of IFRS 15 also had a positive effect. Positive trends
were also recorded by our Germany and Europe operating
segments thanks to lower personnel costs and the successful
implementation of our efficiency and digitalization initiatives -
even without taking into account the acquisition of UPC
Austria as of July 31, 2018 in the Europe operating segment.
The decrease in adjusted EBITDA at our Systems Solutions
operating segment was mainly attributable to the higher costs
involved in establishing operations in growth areas, especially
in the Internet of Things and the healthcare market, and to
higher expenses resulting from the ongoing migration to all IP.
Adjusted EBITDA in our Group Development operating segment
remained stable at the prior-year level.

EBITDA decreased by EUR 2.1 billion or 8.9 percent compared
with the prior year to EUR 21.8 billion due to a EUR 3.2 billion
decrease in special factors to EUR -1.5 billion. The decline was
attributable to a EUR 0.6 billion rise in expenses for staff-related
measures and expenses for non-staff-related restructuring total-
ing EUR 1.3 billion. The prior year included a partial reversal
of impairment losses on spectrum licenses at T-Mobile US,
increasing the carrying amount by EUR 1.7 billion. Other posi-
tive factors in 2017 were income of EUR 0.5 billion from the
divestiture of Strato, EUR 0.2 billion from the sale of further
shares in Scout24 AG, and EUR 0.2 billion from the settlement
agreement with BT.=
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Contribution of the segments to adjusted Group EBITDA

Proportion of Proportion of

adjusted adjusted
2018  Group EBITDA 2017 Group EBITDA Change 2016
millions of € % millions of € % millions of € Change % millions of €

EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR

SPECIAL FACTORS) IN THE GROUP 23,333 100.0 22,230 100.0 1,103 5.0 21,420
Germany® P 8,610 36.9 8,412 37.8 198 2.4 8,161
United States 10,088 43.2 9,316 41.9 772 8.3 8,561
Europe® 3,880 16.6 3,749 16.9 131 3.5 3,866
Systems Solutions® 429 1.8 509 2.3 (80) (15.7) 530
Group Development? 921 3.9 915 4.1 6 0.7 943
Group Headquarters & Group Services@ P (515) (2.2) (661) (3.0 146 221 (594)
Reconciliation (79) (0.3) (11) (0.0) (68) n.a. (48)

2 We assigned Vivento Customer Services GmbH, a provider of call center services, to our Germany operating segment as of January 1, 2018; previously it was part of our Group Headquarters &
Group Services segment. Comparative figures have been adjusted retrospectively. For further information on changes in the organizational structure, please refer to the section “Group
organization,” page 31 et seq., and Note 35 “Segment reporting” in the notes to consolidated financial statements, pages 226 et seq.

b Since January 1, 2017, we have reported on the Group Development operating segment and within the Group Headquarters & Group Services segment on the Board of Management depart-

ment Technology and Innovation. Comparative figures have been adjusted retrospectively.

EBIT

Group EBIT stood at EUR 8.0 billion in the reporting year,
down EUR 1.4 billion or 14.7 percent against the prior year.
This decrease is partly due to the effects described under
EBITDA. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
stood at EUR 13.8 billion overall, down EUR 0.8 billion on the
prior year. Impairment losses on intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment - mainly on goodwill in our Europe
operating segment in the national companies in Poland and
Romania - reduced EBIT by EUR 0.7 billion. In the prior year,
impairment losses totaling EUR 2.2 billion were recognized,
mainly on goodwill in the Systems Solutions and Europe
operating segments. Depreciation and amortization was

EUR 0.7 billion higher than in the prior year.=

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Profit before income taxes increased slightly from EUR 5.0 bil-
lion in the prior year to EUR 5.2 billion. At EUR 2.8 billion, the
loss from financial activities was EUR 1.5 billion lower than a
year earlier, offsetting the effects of the reduction in EBIT.

The high loss in the previous year was due in particular to the
EUR 1.5 billion impairment of our financial stake in BT that was
recognized in profit or loss. In March 2018, we transferred our
financial stake in BT to Deutsche Telekom Trust e.V., where it
will be used as plan assets to cover our pension obligations.
With effect from the beginning of 2018, changes in the value of
our stake are recognized directly in equity (other comprehensive
income) and no longer as profit/loss from financial activities in
the income statement. Nor will future dividend income from the
stake in BT be recognized in profit/loss from financial activities.
Finance costs decreased by EUR 0.4 billion. This was essentially
due to the fact that T-Mobile US has increasingly been financed

internally since 2017, and that refinancing terms continue to be
favorable. The share of profit/loss of associates and joint ven-
tures accounted for using the equity method decreased to
EUR -0.5 billion. This was mainly attributable to the settlement
agreement reached to end the Toll Collect arbitration proceed-
ings, which had a negative effect of EUR 0.6 billion. By contrast,
the profit distribution of Toll Collect GmbH - EUR 0.1 billion of
which is attributable to Deutsche Telekom - had a positive effect.
Losses from financial instruments increased losses from finan-
cial activities by EUR 0.4 billion, primarily as a result of the
remeasurement of derivatives, in particular at T-Mobile US. In
the prior year, losses from financial instruments were impacted
by negative effects totaling EUR 0.8 billion.

NET PROFIT/LOSS

Net profit decreased year-on-year by EUR 1.3 billion to

EUR 2.2 billion in 2018. After recording a tax benefit of

EUR 0.6 billion in the prior year, which was primarily attri-
butable to the reduction in the U.S. federal tax rate from

35 percent to 21 percent and to related non-cash deferred
tax benefits of EUR 2.7 billion, we recorded a tax expense of
EUR 1.8 billion in 2018.= Profit attributable to non-controlling
interests decreased compared with 2017 by EUR 0.9 billion

to EUR 1.2 billion. The recognized deferred tax benefit as well
as the partial reversal in the prior year of impairment losses on
spectrum licenses in our United States operating segment in
particular contributed to this trend.=

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA, EBIT,
and net profit/loss to the respective figures adjusted for special
factors.
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For further informa-
tion, please refer to
Note 26 “Depreci-
ation, amortization
and impairment
losses” in the notes
to the consolidated
financial state-
ments, page 216.

For further informa-
tion, please refer to
Note 30 “Income
taxes” in the notes
to the consolidated
financial state-
ments,

page 218 et seq.

For further informa-
tion on the develop-
ment of our results
of operations,
please refer to the
disclosures under
“Notes to the
consolidated
income statement”
in the notes to the
consolidated
financial state-
ments,

page 214 et seq.
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Consolidated income statement and effects of special factors

millions of €

EBITDA 2018 EBIT 2018 EBITDA 2017 EBIT 2017 EBITDA 2016 EBIT 2016
EBITDA/EBIT 21,836 8,001 23,969 9,383 22,544 9,164
GERMANY (598) (598) (308) (308) (905) (905)
Staff-related measures (565) (565) (221) (221) (857) (857)
Non-staff-related restructuring (46) (46) (26) (26) (38) (38)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions 0 0 0 0 8 8
Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 13 13 (61) (61) (18) (18)
UNITED STATES (160) (160) 1,633 1,633 406 406
Staff-related measures (15) (15) (7) (7) (11) (11)
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (145) (145) (11) (11) 417 417
Impairment losses 0 0 1,651 1,651 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0
EUROPE (122) (797) (130) (995) (93) (277)
Staff-related measures (90) (90) (93) (93) (100) (100)
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 (3) (3) (4) (4)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (14) (14) 18 18 25 25
Impairment losses 0 (674) 0 (865) 0 (184)
Other (19) (19) (53) (53) (14) (14)
SYSTEMS SOLUTIONS (266) (322) (229) (1,477) (252) (276)
Staff-related measures (194) (194) (132) (132) (136) (136)
Non-staff-related restructuring (4) (4) (2) (2) (5) (5)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairment losses 0 (56) 0 (1,248) 0 0
Other (68) (68) (94) (94) (111) (135)
GROUP DEVELOPMENT (27) (27) 893 893 2,547 2,132
Staff-related measures (6) (6) 1 1 (35) (35)
Non-staff-related restructuring 0 0 (5) (5) (3) (3)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (21) (21) 708 708 2,585 2,585
Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 (415)
Other (1) (1) 189 189 0 0
GROUP HEADQUARTERS & GROUP SERVICES (322) (322) (119) (119) (579) (579)
Staff-related measures (288) (288) (107) (107) (499) (499)
Non-staff-related restructuring (59) (59) (49) (49) (31) (31)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (44) (44) 63 63 (19) (19)
Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 69 69 (26) (26) (29) (29)
GROUP (1,497) (2,204) 1,740 (374) 1,125 502
Staff-related measures (1,159) (1,159) (559) (559) (1,638) (1,638)
Non-staff-related restructuring (109) (109) (85) (85) (81) (81)
Effects of deconsolidations, disposals and acquisitions (223) (223) 778 778 3,015 3,015
Impairment losses 0 (707) 1,651 (463) 0 (599)
Other (6) (6) (45) (45) (171) (195)
EBITDA/EBIT (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 23,333 10,204 22,230 9,757 21,420 8,663
Profit (loss) from financial activities
(adjusted for special factors) (2,091) (2,895) (2,323)
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
(ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 8,114 6,863 6,340
Income taxes (adjusted for special factors) (2,225) 949 (1,858)
PROFIT (LOSS) (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 5,889 7,812 4,482
PROFIT (LOSS) (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of the parent (net profit (loss))
(adjusted for special factors) 4,545 6,039 4,114
Non-controlling interests (adjusted for special factors) 1,344 1,773 368

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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Condensed consolidated statement of financial position

millions of €

Dec. 31, 2018 Change Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS 21,870 1,478 20,392 26,638 32,184 29,798
Cash and cash equivalents 3,679 367 3,312 7,747 6,897 7,523
Trade and other receivables 9,988 265 9,723 9,362 9,238 10,454
Contract assets 1,765 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 145 (16) 161 372 6,922 5,878
Other current assets 6,293 (903) 7,196 9,157 9,127 5,943
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 123,505 2,562 120,943 121,847 111,736 99,562
Intangible assets 64,950 2,085 62,865 60,599 57,025 51,565
Property, plant and equipment 50,631 3,753 46,878 46,758 44,637 39,616
Capitalized contract costs 1,744 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Investments accounted for using the equity method 576 (75) 651 725 822 617
Other non-current assets 5,604 (4,944) 10,548 13,765 9,252 7,764
TOTAL ASSETS 145,375 4,041 141,334 148,485 143,920 129,360
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES 29,144 1,778 27,366 33,126 33,548 28,198
Financial liabilities 10,527 2,169 8,358 14,422 14,439 10,558
Trade and other payables 10,735 (236) 10,971 10,441 11,090 9,681
Current provisions 3,144 (228) 3,372 3,068 3,367 3,517
Contract liabilities 1,720 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale 36 36 0 194 4 6
Other current liabilities 2,982 (1,682) 4,664 5,001 4,648 4,436
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 72,794 1,296 71,498 76,514 72,222 67,096
Financial liabilities 51,748 2,577 49,171 50,228 47,941 44,669
Non-current provisions 8,793 (2,737) 11,530 11,771 11,006 10,838
Other non-current liabilities 11,668 870 10,798 14,515 13,275 11,589
Contract liabilities 585 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 43,437 967 42,470 38,845 38,150 34,066
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 145,375 4,041 141,334 148,485 143,920 129,360

Structure of the consolidated statement of financial position

millions of €
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Other assets
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For further informa-
tion on the effects
of the first-time
application of the
new accounting
standards IFRS 9
and IFRS 15,
please refer to the
section “Summary
of accounting
policies” in the
notes to the
consolidated
financial state-
ments,

page 153 et seq.

For further informa-
tion, please refer
to the section
“Consolidated
statement of cash
flows,” page 152,
and Note 34 “Notes
to the consolidated
statement of

cash flows,”

page 223 et seq.,
in the notes to the
consolidated
financial
statements.

Total assets amounted to EUR 145.4 billion, up by EUR 4.0 bil-
lion against December 31, 2017.

The mandatory first-time application of the new accounting
standards IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as of January 1, 2018 resulted in
remeasurement and reclassification effects recognized directly
in equity. For example, assets increased as of January 1, 2018
on account of contract assets of EUR 1.8 billion to be capi-
talized for the first time in accordance with IFRS 15 and con-
tract costs to be capitalized of EUR 1.2 billion. By contrast,
reclassifications and remeasurements were made from trade
and other receivables, decreasing them by EUR 0.3 billion
compared with December 31, 2017. Liabilities and shareholders’
equity also increased as of the date of first-time application as a
result of the initial recognition of current and non-current con-
tract liabilities amounting to EUR 2.5 billion. At the same time,
current and non-current other liabilities decreased by a com-
parable amount. =

Cash and cash equivalents increased by EUR 0.4 billion
year-on-year.

Trade and other receivables increased by EUR 0.3 billion to
EUR 10.0 billion, mainly due to higher receivables in both the
United States and Germany operating segments. In the United
States operating segment, this increase was the result of the
higher volume of receivables for terminal equipment sold under
installment plans and the larger customer base. Exchange rate
effects from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros also con-
tributed to the increase, which was partially offset in particular
by reclassification and remeasurement effects from the man-
datory first-time application of the new accounting standards
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.

Other current assets developed as follows until December 31,
2018: Other current financial assets decreased by EUR 0.5 bil-
lion to EUR 2.8 billion, due, among other factors, to the remea-
surement as of the reporting date of derivatives. Exchange rate
effects from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros had an
offsetting effect. Inventories decreased by EUR 0.2 billion to
EUR 1.8 billion, mainly due to the reduction in the stock levels
of terminal equipment (in particular higher-priced smartphone
models) in the United States operating segment; exchange rate
effects, mainly from the translation of U.S. dollars into euros,
had an offsetting effect. Income tax receivables increased by
EUR 0.3 billion.

Intangible assets grew by EUR 2.1 billion to EUR 65.0 billion,
mainly due to additions totaling EUR 4.0 billion. They mainly
comprised capital expenditures in the United States, Europe,
and Germany operating segments and in the Group Head-
quarters & Group Services segment. Exchange rate effects of
EUR 1.7 billion, particularly from the translation of U.S. dollars
into euros, and effects of changes in the composition of the
Group in the amount of EUR 1.5 billion resulting from the ac-

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

quisition of the Austrian cable operator UPC Austria in the
Europe operating segment and the online TV provider Layer3
TV in the United States operating segment, also increased the
carrying amount. Depreciation and amortization of EUR 4.3 bil-
lion and impairment losses of EUR 0.7 billion reduced the
carrying amount. In the Europe operating segment, the annual
impairment test resulted in impairment losses on goodwill

of EUR 0.6 billion in total in our national companies in Poland
and Romania. The first-time application of IFRS 15 as of Janu-
ary 1, 2018 produced effects that reduced the carrying amount
by EUR 0.1 billion.

Property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 3.8 billion

to EUR 50.6 billion. Additions of EUR 11.3 billion, primarily in
the United States and Germany operating segments, increased
the carrying amount. They included, in particular, capital expen-
diture in connection with the modernization of the T Mobile US
network as well as for broadband and fiber-optic build-out, the
IP transformation, and mobile infrastructure in the Germany
operating segment. They also included EUR 0.9 billion for
capitalized higher-priced mobile handsets in connection with
the JUMP! On Demand business model at T-Mobile US, under
which customers do not purchase the device but lease it. Changes
in the composition of the Group, particularly the acquisition of
UPC Austria and Layer3 TV, also increased the carrying amount
by EUR 1.4 billion. Exchange rate effects, primarily from the
translation of U.S. dollars into euros, increased the carrying
amount by EUR 0.6 billion. By contrast, depreciation, amorti-
zation and impairment losses of EUR 8.8 billion overall, and
disposals of EUR 0.6 billion reduced the carrying amount. Of
these disposals, EUR 0.3 billion was attributable to terminal
equipment returned by customers under the JUMP! On Demand
model.

Other non-current assets developed as follows until Decem-
ber 31, 2018: Other non-current financial assets decreased by
EUR 4.1 billion to EUR 1.6 billion. On March 23, 2018, we trans-
ferred our 12 percent financial stake in BT, which was worth
EUR 3.1 billion at the time, to the Group’s own trust, Deutsche
Telekom Trust e.V., where it will serve as plan assets to cover
pension entitlements. The impairment loss on the exchange-
traded stake in BT - which was recognized in other comprehen-
sive income for the period from January 1, 2018 until the date
of transfer - reduced the carrying amount by EUR 0.7 billion.
Negative effects from the remeasurement of derivative financial
instruments as of the reporting date also reduced the carrying
amount.

Our current and non-current financial liabilities increased by
EUR 4.7 billion compared with the prior year to EUR 62.3 billion
in total. This was mainly due to the euro bonds with a total
volume of EUR 3.4 billion issued by Deutsche Telekom Inter-
national Finance B.V., U.S. dollar bonds with a total volume of
EUR 1.5 billion (USD 1.75 billion), and pound sterling bonds
with a total volume of EUR 0.3 billion (GBP 0.3 billion), as well
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as to the bonds issued by T-Mobile US with a volume of

EUR 2.0 billion (USD 2.5 billion). In addition, OTE issued a
euro bond with a volume of EUR 0.4 billion. The settlement
agreed in the Toll Collect arbitration proceedings increased
financial liabilities by EUR 0.6 billion. Payment of the first
tranche of EUR 0.2 billion in the reporting year reduced finan-
cial liabilities. The early repayment of T-Mobile US’ debt instru-
ments in the amount of EUR 2.7 billion (USD 3.4 billion) and
regular repayments in the Group of euro bonds of EUR 1.1 billion
and U.S. dollar bonds of EUR 0.7 billion (USD 0.85 billion) also
decreased the carrying amount of financial liabilities. The initial
recognition and measurement of forward-payer swaps with a
total volume of USD 9.6 million in the United States operating
segment gave rise to a remeasurement loss recognized directly
in equity of EUR 0.4 billion.=

Trade and other payables decreased from EUR 11.0 billion at
the end of 2017 to EUR 10.7 billion. A decline in liabilities in the
United States operating segment was offset by a slight increase
in liabilities in the Germany operating segment. Exchange rate
effects from the translation from U.S. dollars into euros had an
increasing effect.

Current and non-current provisions decreased substantially
against the prior-year level by EUR 3.0 billion to EUR 11.9 billion,
of which EUR 5.5 billion (December 31, 2017: EUR 8.4 billion)
related to provisions for pensions and other employee benefits.
The decrease is mainly due to the transfer of our stake in BT
and the associated netting of these plan assets with the defined
benefit obligations. At EUR 6.4 billion, other provisions were
slightly lower than in the prior year.

Shareholders’ equity increased from EUR 42.5 billion as of
December 31, 2017 to EUR 43.4 billion. This increase was
attributable in particular to the net profit of EUR 3.3 billion

and to the transition to IFRS 9 and 15. The cumulative effect

of this was an increase of EUR 1.5 billion in retained earnings
(including shares attributable to non-controlling interests) recog-
nized directly in equity as of January 1, 2018. Currency trans-
lation effects of EUR 1.0 billion recognized directly in equity and
capital increases from share-based payments of EUR 0.4 billion,
especially in our United States operating segment, also increased
shareholders’ equity. By contrast, the carrying amount was
reduced in particular by dividend payments for the 2017 financial
year to Deutsche Telekom AG shareholders in the amount of
EUR 3.1 billion and to non-controlling interests in the amount of
EUR 0.2 billion. In addition, transactions with owners reduced
shareholders’ equity by a further EUR 1.4 billion. These trans-
actions include EUR 0.9 billion for T-Mobile US’ share buy-back
program, EUR 0.3 billion for the acquisition of another 5 percent
stake in the Greek subsidiary OTE, and EUR 0.2 billion for the
T-Mobile US shares acquired by Deutsche Telekom in the first
quarter of 2018. Furthermore, the subsequent measurement in
other comprehensive income of equity instruments held reduced
the carrying amount by EUR 0.6 billion; this figure includes
the impairment loss of EUR 0.7 billion on the exchange-traded
stake in BT that was recognized in other comprehensive income
for the period from January 1, 2018 through March 23, 2018.

Calculation of net debt

millions of €

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017 Change Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015 Dec. 31, 2014
Financial liabilities (current) 10,527 8,358 2,169 14,422 14,439 10,558
Financial liabilities (non-current) 51,748 49,171 2,577 50,228 47,941 44,669
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 62,275 57,529 4,746 64,650 62,380 55,227
Accrued interest (719) (692) (27) (955) (1,014) (1,097)
Other (928) (781) (147) (1,029) (857) (1,038)
GROSS DEBT 60,628 56,056 4,572 62,666 60,509 53,092
Cash and cash equivalents 3,679 3,312 367 7,747 6,897 7,523
Available-for-sale financial assets/financial
assets held for trading 0 7 (7) 10 2,877 289
Derivative financial assets 870 1,317 (447) 2,379 2,686 1,343
Other financial assets 654 629 25 2,571 479 1,437
NET DEBT 55,425 50,791 4,634 49,959 47,570 42,500

57

For further infor-
mation on the
development of
financial liabilities,
please refer to
Note 12 “Financial
liabilities” in the
notes to the
consolidated
financial
statements,

page 196 et seq.
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Note 37 “Leases,”
pages 232 and
233, and Note 38
“Other financial
obligations,”
page 234,

in the notes to
the consolidated
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Changes in net debt

millions of €
1,344 55,425
1,106
988 260 269
448
50,791 (6,250) 873 550
1,792
3,254
1 i1
Net debt at Free Dividends Acquisition Share Toll Collect Acquisition  Finance Acquisition Acquisition Exchange Other Net debt at
Jan. 1, cash flow  (including of UPC buy-back settlement leases of of spectrum rate effects Dec. 31,
2018 (before to non- Austria  program at T-Mobile US Layer3 TV effects 2018
dividend  controlling- T-Mobile US and OTE
payments  interests) shares by
and spectrum Deutsche
investment) Telekom AG

Our net debt increased by EUR 4.6 billion year-on-year to

EUR 55.4 billion. The reasons for this are presented in the
graphic above. Other effects of EUR 1.3 billion include, among
other factors, liabilities for the acquisition of media broadcasting
rights and financing options under which the payments for trade
payables become due at a later point in time by involving banks
in the process. Remeasurement losses from forward payer swaps
recognized directly in equity are also included.

Off-balance sheet assets and other financing formats. In
addition to the assets recognized in the statement of financial
position, we use off-balance-sheet assets. This primarily relates
to leased property. =

Off-balance-sheet financial instruments mainly relate to the
sale of receivables by means of factoring. Total receivables
sold as of December 31, 2018 amounted to EUR 4.7 billion
(December 31, 2017: EUR 4.7 billion). This mainly relates to
factoring agreements in the United States and Germany
operating segments. The agreements are used in particular
for active receivables management.

Furthermore, in the reporting year, we chose financing options
totaling EUR 0.2 billion (2017: EUR 0.3 billion) which extended
the period of payment for trade payables from operating and
investing activities by involving banks in the process and
which upon payment are shown under cash flows used in/from
financing activities. As a result, we show these payables under
financial liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

In 2018, we leased network equipment for a total of EUR 1.0 bil-
lion (2017: EUR 1.0 billion), primarily in the United States oper-
ating segment, which is recognized as a finance lease. In the
statement of financial position, we therefore also recognize this
item under financial liabilities and the future repayments of the
liabilities in net cash from/used in financing activities.

Finance management. Our finance management ensures our
Group’s ongoing solvency and hence its financial equilibrium.
The fundamentals of Deutsche Telekom’s finance policy are
established each year by the Board of Management and over-
seen by the Supervisory Board. Group Treasury is responsible
for implementing the finance policy and for ongoing risk
management.

The rating of Deutsche Telekom AG

Standard &

Poor’s Moody’s Fitch
LONG-TERM RATING
Dec. 31, 2014 BBB+ Baal BBB+
Dec. 31, 2015 BBB+ Baal BBB+
Dec. 31,2016 BBB+ Baal BBB+
Dec. 31,2017 BBB+ Baal BBB+
DEC. 31, 2018 BBB+ Baa1l BBB+
OUTLOOK CreditWatch

negative Negative Stable
SHORT-TERM RATING A-2 P-2 F2
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Financial flexibility

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
RELATIVE DEBT
Net debt
_ 2.4x 2.3x 2.3x 2.4x 2.4x
EBITDA (adjusted for
special factors)
EQUITY
RATIO % 29.9 30.0 26.2 26.5 26.3

To ensure financial flexibility, we primarily use the KPI relative
debt. This is a core component of our finance strategy and an
important performance indicator for investors, analysts, and
rating agencies.

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows

millions of €

2018 2017 2016
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17,948 17,196 15,533
Cash outflows for investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill and
before spectrum investment) and property, plant and equipment (CASH CAPEX) (12,223) (12,099) (10,958)
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment 525 400 364
FREE CASH FLOW (BEFORE DIVIDEND PAYMENTS AND SPECTRUM INVESTMENT) 6,250 5,497 4,939
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (14,297) (16,814) (13,608)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (3,259) (4,594) (1,322)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 17) (226) 250
Changes in cash and cash equivalents associated with non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale (8) 3 (3)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 367 (4,435) 850
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,679 3,312 7,747

Free cash flow. Free cash flow of the Group before dividend
payments and spectrum investment grew from EUR 5.5 billion
in the prior year to EUR 6.2 billion, with net cash from operat-
ing activities increasing by EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 17.9 billion.
Exchange rate effects adversely affected the positive business
trend in the United States operating segment. In addition, posi-
tive effects from factoring agreements - in particular in the
Systems Solutions and Germany operating segments - on net
cash from operating activities were EUR 0.3 billion lower than
in the prior year. A EUR 0.1 billion increase in income tax pay-
ments compared with the prior year also had a negative impact.
Furthermore, the comparable figure in the prior year included

a EUR 0.1 billion higher dividend payment from BT (totaling
EUR 0.2 billion), while the profit of EUR 0.1 billion distributed

by Toll Collect GmbH was a key component in the reporting
year. A decrease of EUR 0.8 billion in net interest payments
compared with the prior year, mainly due to the fact that
T-Mobile US has increasingly been financed internally since
2017, and that refinancing terms continue to be favorable, had a
positive effect on the trend in net cash from operating activities.

Cash capex (before spectrum investment) increased by
EUR 0.1 billion compared with 2017. Capital expenditures
were focused primarily on the United States, Germany, and
Europe operating segments and went toward the build-out
and upgrade of our networks. Adjusted for exchange rate
effects, cash capex was significantly higher overall than in
the prior year.=

For further infor-
mation on the
statement of cash
flows, please refer
to Note 34 “Notes
to the consolidated
statement of cash
flows” in the notes
to the consolidated
financial state-
ments,

page 223 et seq.
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INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
ANDINFRASTRUCTURE

o

FINANCE

DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS IN
THE OPERATING SEGMENTS=

GERMANY=
CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT

thousands
Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017 Change Change % Dec. 31, 2016
Mobile customers 44,202 43,125 1,077 2.5 41,849
Contract customers 25,435 25,887 (452) (1.7) 25,219
Prepay customers 18,767 17,238 1,529 8.9 16,630
Fixed-network lines? 18,625 19,239 (614) (3.2) 19,786
Of which: retail IP-based 15,356 11,996 3,360 28.0 9,042
Retail broadband lines® 13,561 13,209 352 2.7 12,922
Of which: optical fiber 7,236 5,803 1,433 24.7 4,250
Television (IPTV, satellite) 3,353 3,139 214 6.8 2,879
Unbundled local loop lines (ULLs) 5,236 6,138 (902) (14.7) 7,195
Wholesale broadband lines 6,722 5,639 1,083 19.2 4,377
Of which: optical fiber 4,970 3,783 1,187 31.4 2,555

2 The baseline as of January 1, 2018 increased (by 62 thousand) due to the inclusion of new products launched in the Business Customer portfolio. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.
b The baseline as of January 1, 2018 increased (by 53 thousand) due to the inclusion of new products launched in the Business Customer portfolio. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

Total

In Germany we continue to be market leader both in terms of
fixed-network and mobile revenues. This success is attributable
to our high-performance networks. We offer best customer
experience with multi-award winning network quality - like in
the connect readers’ choice awards where we came top of the
fixed and mobile provider categories - and a broad portfolio of
products. Due to the growing demand for our convergent prod-
uct MagentaEINS the number of new customers increased by
642 thousand year-on-year, bringing the total number of custom-
ers to 4.3 million at the end of 2018.

In mobile communications, we won another 1,077 thousand
customers in 2018. High demand for mobile rate plans with
included data volumes resulted in an increase in the number
of branded contract customers under the Telekom and congstar
brands. Business fluctuations at one of our service providers in
2018, due in part to the deregistration of inactive SIM cards,
had a negative impact overall on customer development. We
recorded growth in the number of prepay customers.

By the end of 2018, we had migrated 21.9 million retail and
wholesale lines to IP, which corresponds to an overall migration
rate of 86 percent.

We continued to see strong demand for our fiber-optic products.
As of the end of 2018, the number of lines had increased to
12.2 million overall. In other words, we connected another

2.6 million lines to our fiber-optic network in Germany in the
course of the reporting year. With the progress made in fiber-
optic rollout and innovative vectoring technology, we also drove
the marketing of higher bandwidths.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Mobile communications

In 2018, we won a total of 329 thousand contract customers under
the Telekom and congstar brands and at Telekom Deutschland
Multibrand GmbH. The number of mobile contract customers
with service providers decreased, primarily due to business
fluctuations - in part from the deregistration of inactive SIM
cards - at one of our service providers. The number of prepay
customers increased by 1,529 thousand.

Fixed network

Due to the persistently challenging development in the fixed-
network market, primarily owing to aggressive pricing offers
of competitors, we are pursuing new paths in marketing. Our
focus is on convergent offerings, such as the market launch of
MagentaTV in October 2018 with exclusive access to a wide
range of extra content from the German TV stations ARD and
ZDF, and our TV and fiber-optic lines. As a result, in 2018 the
number of broadband lines grew by 299 thousand and the
number of TV customers by 214 thousand. In the traditional
fixed network, the number of lines decreased by 676 thousand.

Our MagentaZuhause rate plans offer a comprehensive product
portfolio for the fixed network based on IP technology and rate
plan-specific bandwidths. MagentaZuhause Hybrid bundles
fixed-network and mobile technology in a single router. To date,
458 thousand customers, primarily based in rural areas, have
selected this innovative product.


http://www.telekom.com/en/investor-relations
http://www.telekom.com/en/investor-relations
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Wholesale

As of December 31, 2018, fiber-optic lines accounted for
41.6 percent of all lines - 9.5 percentage points higher than
the prior-year figure. This accelerated growth was driven largely
by high demand for our contingent model. The number of
unbundled local loop lines decreased by 902 thousand or

DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS

Other disclosures

14.7 percent compared with the end of the prior year. This is due
first to the move to higher-quality fiber-optic lines, and second to
retail customers switching to cable operators. In addition, whole-
sale customers are migrating their retail customers to their own

fiber-optic lines. The total number of lines in the wholesale sector
increased compared with 2017 to 12.0 million.

millions of €

2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
TOTAL REVENUE 21,700 21,931 (231) (1.1 21,774
Consumers 11,543 11,797 (254) (2.2) 11,739
Business Customers? 6,082 6,017 65 1.1 5,923
Wholesale 3,720 3,747 (27) (0.7) 3,742
Other? 355 370 (15) (4.1) 370
Profit from operations (EBIT) 3,969 4,276 (307) (7.2) 3,552
EBIT margin % 18.3 19.5 16.3
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (4,042) (3,828) (214) (5.6) (3,703)
EBITDA 8,012 8,104 (92) (1.1) 7,256
Special factors affecting EBITDA (598) (308) (290) (94.2) (905)
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 8,610 8,412 198 2.4 8,161
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 39.7 38.4 37.5
CASH CAPEX (4,240) (4,214) (26) (0.6) (4,031)

a As of July 1, 2017, a share of revenue previously recognized under “Other” was assigned to Business Customers on account of a reorganization. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

Total revenue

Total revenue decreased by 1.1 percent year-on-year in 2018.
Adjusted for the effects of the IFRS 15 accounting standard,
the application of which is mandatory from January 1, 2018,
total revenue developed on a par with the prior year. In mobile
business, revenue declined by 2.0 percent year-on-year;
excluding the effects of IFRS 15, revenue increased compared
with the prior year. Higher IT and broadband revenues had a
positive impact on fixed-network revenue. This was sufficient
to almost completely offset the year-on-year decrease in fixed-
network revenues (primarily from voice components).

Revenue from Consumers declined by 2.2 percent year-on-year;
adjusted for the effects of IFRS 15, the decline was only marginal.
Volume-related revenue decreases continued to affect traditional
fixed-network business. By contrast, revenue from broadband
business increased.

Revenue from Business Customers grew by 1.1 percent; this
growth was even slightly stronger once adjusted for the effects
of IFRS 15. Mobile revenues increased by 2.6 percent and IT
revenues by 22.1 percent compared with 2017. In the fixed net-
work, by contrast, a decline was recorded in traditional voice
telephony, due largely to the increasing number of customers
moving to flat-rate plans.

Wholesale revenue was down slightly year-on-year. Adjusted for
the effects of IFRS 15, revenue would have grown.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA amounted to EUR 8.0 billion in 2018, a decline of

1.1 percent against the prior year, due mainly to higher special
factors for expenses in connection with our staff restructuring.
EBITDA adjusted for special factors totaled EUR 8.6 billion in
the reporting year, up 2.4 percent compared with the prior year.
This year-on-year increase was attributable largely to the lower
headcount and the successful implementation of our efficiency
and digitalization initiatives. Our adjusted EBITDA margin in-
creased to 39.7 percent, up from 38.4 percent in the prior year.

EBIT

Profit from operations decreased by 7.2 percent year-on-year
to EUR 4.0 billion. In addition to the effects described under
EBITDA, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
increased on account of sustained high investments in our
network infrastructure.

Cash capex

Cash capex increased by 0.6 percent year-on-year. As part

of our integrated network strategy, we again made significant
investments in the broadband and fiber-optic rollout, our IP
transformation, and our mobile infrastructure.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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UNITED STATES=
CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT

thousands
Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017 Change Change % Dec. 31, 2016
Mobile customers 79,651 72,585 7,066 9.7 71,455
Branded customers? 63,656 58,715 4,941 8.4 54,240
Branded postpaid @ 42,519 38,047 4,472 11.8 34,427
Branded prepay? 21,137 20,668 469 2.3 19,813
Wholesale customers® 15,995 13,870 2,125 15.3 17,215

2 Due to certain acquisitions by T-Mobile US at the beginning of 2018, the number of branded postpaid customers as of the first quarter of 2018 included an adjustment of 13 thousand and
the number of branded prepay customers as of the first quarter of 2018 included an adjustment of 9 thousand.

b T-Mobile US believes current and future regulatory changes have made the Lifeline program offered by T-Mobile US’ wholesale partners uneconomical. T-Mobile US will continue to support
its wholesale partners offering the Lifeline program, but has excluded the Lifeline customers from the reported wholesale subscriber base resulting in the removal of 4,528 thousand re-

ported wholesale customers in 2017.

Total

At December 31, 2018, the United States operating segment
(T-Mobile US) had 79.7 million customers, compared to 72.6 mil-
lion customers at December 31, 2017. Net customer additions
were 7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, com-
pared to 5.7 million net customer additions for the year ended
December 31, 2017 due to the factors described below.

Branded customers. Branded postpaid net customer additions
were 4,459 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018,
compared to 3,620 thousand branded postpaid net customer
additions for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase
in branded postpaid net customer additions was due primarily
to higher gross customer additions from wearables, specifically
the Apple watch, lower churn, continued growth in existing and
greenfield markets, and the growing success of new customer
segments such as T-Mobile ONE™ Unlimited 55+, T-Mobile ONE

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Military and T-Mobile for Business. These increases were
partially offset by the impact from more aggressive service
promotions and the launch of Un-carrier Next - All Unlimited
(with taxes and fees) in the first quarter of 2017.

Branded prepay net customer additions were 460 thousand for
the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 855 thousand
branded prepay net customer additions for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The decrease was due primarily to increased
competitive activity in the marketplace, partially offset by lower
migrations to branded postpaid plans.

Wholesale customers. Wholesale net customer additions were
2,125 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018, com-
pared to 1,183 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2017.
The increase was due primarily to lower deactivations driven
by the removal of Lifeline program customers during 2017.
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DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS
millions of €

2018 2017 Change Change % 2016

TOTAL REVENUE 36,522 35,736 786 2.2 33,738
Profit from operations (EBIT) 4,634 5,930 (1,296) (21.9) 3,685
EBIT margin % 12.7 16.6 10.9
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (5,294) (5,019) (275) (5.5) (5,282)
EBITDA 9,928 10,949 (1,021) (9.3) 8,967
Special factors affecting EBITDA (160) 1,633 (1,793) n.a. 406
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 10,088 9,316 772 8.3 8,561
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 27.6 26.1 25.4
CASH CAPEX (4,661) (11,932) 7,271 60.9 (5,855)

Total revenue

Total revenue for the United States operating segment of
EUR 36.5 billion in 2018 increased by 2.2 percent, compared
to EUR 35.7 billion in 2017. In U.S. dollars, T-Mobile US’ total
revenues increased by 6.8 percent year-on-year due primarily
to growth in service revenue from increases in T-Mobile US’
average branded customer base primarily from the continued
growth in existing and greenfield markets, the growing success
of new customer segments such as T-Mobile ONE™ Unlimited
55+, T-Mobile ONE Military, and T-Mobile for Business, along
with lower postpaid churn in 2018, and higher connected de-
vices, partially offset by lower branded postpaid Average Rev-
enue per User (ARPU). Additionally, the increase in equipment
revenues from a higher average revenue per device sold due
to an increase in the high-end device mix and a positive im-
pact from IFRS 15 since January 1, 2018, partially offset by a
decrease in the number of devices sold and lower volumes of
purchased leased devices at the end of the lease term, also
contributed to the increase in total revenues.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

In euros, adjusted EBITDA increased by 8.3 percent to

EUR 10.1 billion in 2018, compared to EUR 9.3 billion in 2017.
Adjusted EBITDA margin increased to 27.6 percent in 2018,
compared to 26.1 percent in 2017. In U.S. dollars, adjusted
EBITDA increased by 13.6 percent during the same period.
Adjusted EBITDA increased due primarily to higher total reve-
nues as discussed above, the positive impact of the reimburse-
ments from our insurance carriers, net of costs incurred related
to hurricanes, for 2018 of USD 247 million, compared to costs
incurred related to hurricanes for 2017 of USD 294 million, as

well as from the positive impact from IFRS 15 and lower losses
on equipment sales. These increases were partially offset by
higher employee-related costs, costs related to managed ser-
vices, higher lease, employee-related and repair and mainte-
nance costs associated with network expansion, higher
commissions, and lower gains on the disposal of spectrum.

EBITDA for 2018 included special factors of EUR -0.2 billion
compared to special factors of EUR 1.6 billion for 2017. Special
factors in 2018 mainly included costs related to the proposed
Sprint transaction. The decrease in special factors was primarily
due to a spectrum impairment reversal in 2017. Overall, EBITDA
decreased by 9.3 percent to EUR 9.9 billion in 2018, compared
to EUR 10.9 billion in 2017, due to the factors described above,
including special factors.

EBIT

EBIT decreased to EUR 4.6 billion in 2018 compared to
EUR 5.9 billion in 2017 driven by lower EBITDA and higher
depreciation related to the continued build-out of our 4G
LTE network, and the implementation of the first component
of our new billing system.

Cash capex

Cash capex decreased to EUR 4.7 billion in 2018, compared to
EUR 11.9 billion in 2017. In U.S. dollars, cash capex decreased
to USD 5.5 billion compared to USD 13.2 billion in 2017, due
primarily to spectrum licenses acquired in 2017. Excluding the
effects of spectrum acquisitions, the increase in cash capex from
2017 to 2018 was not significant. Cash capex in 2018 was related
to network build and the continued deployment of 600 MHz.
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EUROPE=

CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT

thousands

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017 Change Change % Dec. 31, 2016
EUROPE, TOTAL Mobile customers 50,542 48,842 1,700 3.5 47,952
Contract customers 26,665 25,483 1,182 4.6 24,315
Prepay customers 23,877 23,359 518 2.2 23,637
Fixed-network lines 9,068 8,439 629 7.5 8,631
Of which: IP-based 7,420 5,734 1,686 29.4 5,016
Broadband customers?@ 6,405 5,530 875 15.8 5,291
Television

(IPTV, satellite, cable) 4,835 4,244 591 13.9 4,049

Unbundled local loop lines
(ULLs)/wholesale PSTN 2,275 2,265 10 0.4 2,259
Wholesale broadband lines 411 389 22 5.7 370
GREECE Mobile customers 7,893 7,981 (88) (1.1) 7,125
Fixed-network lines 2,566 2,547 19 0.7 2,564
Broadband customersa 1,893 1,757 136 7.7 1,631
ROMANIA Mobile customers 5,360 5,258 102 1.9 5,722
Fixed-network lines 1,741 1,865 (124) (6.6) 1,969
Broadband customersa 1,101 1,134 (33) (2.9) 1,148
HUNGARY Mobile customers 5,330 5,293 37 0.7 5,332
Fixed-network lines 1,663 1,632 31 1.9 1,629
Broadband customersa 1,148 1,073 75 7.0 1,012
POLAND Mobile customers 10,787 10,454 333 3.2 10,634
Fixed-network lines 18 32 (14) (43.8) 20
Broadband customersa 18 25 (7) (28.0) 40
CZECH REPUBLIC Mobile customers 6,188 6,176 12 0.2 6,049
Fixed-network lines 318 197 121 61.4 140
Broadband customers@ 251 176 75 42.6 141
CROATIA Mobile customers 2,273 2,244 29 1.3 2,234
Fixed-network lines 931 967 (36) (3.7) 1,001
Broadband customersa 618 624 (6) (1.0) 618
SLOVAKIA Mobile customers 2,369 2,243 126 5.6 2,225
Fixed-network lines 853 858 (5) (0.6) 850
Broadband customersa 543 516 27 5.2 479
AUSTRIAP Mobile customers 7,194 5,702 1,492 26.2 4,594
Fixed-network lines 644 0 644 n.a. 0
Broadband customersa 594 0 594 n.a. 0
OTHER® Mobile customers 3,149 3,490 (341) (9.8) 3,438
Fixed-network lines 333 340 (7) (2.1) 358
Broadband customersa 238 225 13 5.8 222

a Starting Q2 2018, we no longer report the number of retail broadband lines from a technical perspective. Instead we report the number of broadband customers
Prior-year comparatives have been adjusted.

b Following the acquisition of UPC Austria, we report fixed-network lines and broadband customers in Austria for the first time from Q3 2018.
¢ “Other”: national companies of Albania, Macedonia, and Montenegro, as well as the lines of the GTS Central Europe group in Romania.
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Total Fixed network

The markets in our segment remained intensely competitive
throughout the reporting year. We rose to the challenge in several
ways, for instance by achieving substantial growth in 2018 of
49.9 percent in the number of FMC customers (fixed-mobile
convergence), thanks in part to our convergent product port-
folio, MagentaOne. The acquisition of UPC Austria as of July 31,
2018 in particular contributes to our aim of becoming an inte-
grated provider of mobile and fixed-network products across our
entire segment. We also concluded an agreement with Orange
in July of this year that will enable us to offer comprehensive
convergent services in Poland in the future, thanks to the shared
use of Orange’s fiber-optic network. In addition to the agreement
with Orange, T-Mobile Polska signed another wholesale FTTH
agreement with network operator Nexera, covering more than
450 thousand further households to be connected by the end
of 2020. Our broadband and TV operations are becoming con-
sistent revenue drivers, not least thanks to the large-scale build-
out of our network with state-of-the-art fiber-optic-based lines
(FTTH, FTTB, and FTTC). As a result, the number of IP lines
increased by 29.4 percent to 7.4 million as of December 31,
2018, primarily thanks to the migration from traditional PSTN
lines to IP technology. Our mobile operations recorded growth
overall, with increases in both the number of high-value contract
customers and the number of prepay customers compared with
the end of the prior year.

Mobile communications

The number of mobile customers totaled 50.5 million at the end
of the reporting year, up by 3.5 percent or 1.7 million customers
compared with the end of 2017. The number of contract custom-
ers continued to grow throughout the fourth quarter of 2018,
bringing the total number of customers won in the reporting
year to 1.2 million, an increase of 4.6 percent. These additions
include the customer base of UPC Austria starting from the third
quarter of 2018. Overall, our national companies reported positive
trends in their customer base, especially in Poland, Romania,
Hungary, Austria, and the Czech Republic. Contract customers
accounted for 52.8 percent of the total customer base. Our
customers benefited not only from our innovative services/rate
plans, but also from greater coverage with fast mobile broad-
band - a result of our integrated network strategy. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2018, we already covered 97 percent of the population
in the countries of our operating segment with LTE, reaching
around 109 million people in total. Customer demand for high
data volumes has risen sharply due to the explosion in data traffic
driven by video streaming services, for example. The number

of prepay customers grew by 2.2 percent or 518 thousand.

Our TV and entertainment services saw substantial growth of
13.9 percent as of December 31, 2018, driven primarily by the
acquisition of UPC Austria. But even without this effect, customer
growth would have stood at 3.2 percent, with our national com-
panies in Hungary, the Czech Republic, and Slovakia accounting
for the majority of these net customer additions. With both tele-
communication providers and OTT players offering TV services
in the countries of our segment, the TV market there is highly
contested.

The number of broadband customers increased by 15.8 percent
as of the end of the reporting year to 6.4 million, with the acqui-
sition of UPC Austria accounting for the majority of these net
customer additions. Without this effect, there would have been
growth of 5.7 percent. In particular, the customer bases of our
national companies in Greece, the Czech Republic, Hungary,
and Slovakia saw growth, partly on the back of increased invest-
ment in innovative fiber-optic-based technologies. We continued
to extend our fiber-optic coverage and, as of December 31, 2018,
had reached 7.6 million households.

Consistent growth in IP-based lines as a percentage of all fixed-
network lines confirms that we are making good progress: At
the end of December 2018, this share amounted to 81.8 percent.
The acquisition of UPC Austria increased the number of fixed-
network lines in our Europe operating segment to 9.1 million
overall, an increase of 7.5 percent. Without this effect, develop-
ment would have remained stable.

FMC - fixed-mobile convergence

Our portfolio of convergent products, MagentaOne, remained
highly popular with consumers across all of our integrated na-
tional companies. As of December 31, 2018, we had 3.3 million
FMC customers; this corresponds to significant growth of

49.9 percent or 1.1 million net additions year-on-year. Our national
companies in Greece and Hungary were the main drivers of this
trend. We have also been increasingly successful in marketing
our MagentaOne Business product to business customers.
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DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS

millions of €

2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
TOTAL REVENUE? 11,885 11,589 296 2.6 11,454
Greece 2,888 2,846 42 1.5 2,883
Romania 933 972 (39) (4.0) 985
Hungary 1,889 1,808 81 4.5 1,673
Poland@ 1,526 1,509 17 1.1 1,488
Czech Republic 1,047 1,011 36 3.6 959
Croatia 966 955 11 1.2 925
Slovakia 761 748 13 1.7 766
Austria 1,055 900 155 17.2 855
Otherb 1,031 1,069 (38) (3.6) 1,132
Profit from operations (EBIT) 744 462 282 61.0 1,184
EBIT margin % 6.3 4.0 10.3
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (3,013) (3,157) 144 4.6 (2,589)
EBITDA 3,757 3,619 138 3.8 3,773
Special factors affecting EBITDA (122) (130) 8 6.2 (93)
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS)? 3,880 3,749 131 3.5 3,866
Greece 1,180 1,135 45 4.0 1,120
Romania 138 166 (28) (16.9) 175
Hungary 547 545 2 0.4 539
Poland2 390 419 (29) (6.9) 482
Czech Republic 444 406 38 9.4 400
Croatia 398 386 12 3.1 374
Slovakia 322 315 7 2.2 302
Austria 345 266 79 29.7 258
Other® 116 110 6 55 215
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 32.6 32.3 33.8
CASH CAPEX (1,887) (1,874) (13) (0.7) (2,600)

The contributions of the national companies correspond to their respective unconsolidated financial statements and do not take consolidation effects at operating segment level into account.

a The business of T-Systems Polska Sp. z 0.0., which, in organizational terms, was previously assigned to the Systems Solutions operating segment, is now disclosed under the Europe

operating segment as of September 1, 2017. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

b “Other”: national companies of Albania, Macedonia, and Montenegro, as well as IWS (International Wholesale), consisting of Deutsche Telekom Global Carrier (TGC, formerly International
Carrier Sales & Solutions (ICSS)) and units assigned to TGC in the national companies, as well as the GTS Central Europe group in Romania, and the Europe Headquarters.

Total revenue

Our Europe operating segment generated total revenue of
EUR 11.9 billion in the reporting year, a year-on-year increase
of 2.6 percent. In organic terms, i.e., assuming constant ex-
change rates and adjusted for the inclusion of UPC Austria
as of July 31, 2018, revenue increased slightly by 1.5 percent.
The mandatory first-time application of the IFRS 15 accounting
standard as of January 1, 2018 did not have a material effect
on the development of revenues at segment level.

Our business customer operations made the biggest contribu-
tion to organic growth, driven mainly by the good development
of ICT business in Hungary. Mobile revenue also increased
year-on-year, with most of the countries in our operating seg-
ment contributing to this trend. Fixed-network revenue at seg-
ment level also increased slightly year-on-year in the core busi-
ness, mainly due to the positive revenue effect from broadband
and TV business, especially in Greece, Hungary, and Slovakia.

These increases were offset by a decline in wholesale business.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

Intense competition on the telecommunications markets had a
negative impact on our revenue in some countries of our operat-
ing segment.

Revenue from Consumers increased by 3.4 percent compared
with the prior year, driven mainly by mobile business. Revenue
from fixed-network business rose, too, on the back of the trend
in TV and broadband operations driven by our innovative TV
and program management activities as well as the continuous
rollout of fiber-optic technology in most of our national compa-
nies. In addition to higher terminal equipment revenues, strong
growth in the number of FMC customers had a positive impact
on revenue. This offset declining voice telephony revenues.

Revenue from Business Customers, especially in ICT, grew
again in 2018, increasing 3.7 percent year-on-year. Core busi-
ness with fixed-network and mobile communications remained
stable as a result of our convergent SME solutions (MagentaOne
Business), which we sell on the markets. We generated double-
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digit percentage figures compared with the prior year with our
corporate customers in key ICT/cloud computing business as
well as in the innovative smart city/loT fields. In terms of digitali-
zation, in 2018 we showed our customers in countries including
Hungary and Croatia new, simpler, and faster ways to manage
their contracts with Deutsche Telekom, using self-service apps
and portals.

Wholesale revenue declined year-on-year, driven largely by
falling levels of minute volumes resulting from the substitution
of voice telephony with messenger services as well as negative
price effects.

Looking at the development by country, our national compa-
nies in Hungary, Greece, Slovakia, and Poland made the largest
contributions to the organic development of revenue in the
reporting year. This more than offset the decline in revenue
in Romania in particular, which was attributable to lower fixed-
network revenue from voice telephony in particular. A smaller
customer base combined with lower prices also had a negative
impact on broadband and TV business. B2B/ICT business
customer operations made a positive revenue contribution.
Mobile business remained stable compared with the prior-year
level - the positive effect of the increase in customer numbers
was offset by lower prices.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

Our Europe operating segment generated adjusted EBITDA of
EUR 3.9 billion in the reporting year, a year-on-year increase of
3.5 percent. In organic terms, i.e., assuming constant exchange
rates and adjusted for the inclusion of UPC Austria, adjusted
EBITDA increased by 1.8 percent. We thus ended 2018 posting
year-on-year growth for four quarters in succession.

The positive trend in adjusted organic EBITDA was driven
both by the growth in revenue and by savings made in indirect
costs, especially in Romania, Croatia, the Czech Republic, and
Greece - in the latter primarily as a result of lower personnel
costs. By contrast, in terms of direct costs, market investments
and costs relating to the B2B/ICT operations increased. In addi-
tion, regulatory effects, including the reduction in EU roaming
charges, reduced adjusted EBITDA.

Looking at the development by country, the increase in ad-
justed organic EBITDA was largely attributable to the positive
trends at our national companies in Greece, the Czech Republic,
Hungary, and Austria. Contrasting developments were reported
primarily at the national companies in Poland and Romania. In
Romania, adjusted EBITDA was down 16.9 percent year-on-year,
attributable on the one hand to the lower revenue contribution
and on the other to higher direct costs resulting in part from
higher market investments and regulation-induced higher
roaming costs. The decline in adjusted EBITDA was partially
offset by improved cost efficiency with regard to staff-related
expenses.

Our EBITDA increased by 3.8 percent year-on-year to
EUR 3.8 billion, due primarily to higher adjusted EBITDA.
At EUR -122 million, special factors were EUR 8 million
lower than in the prior year. In organic terms, EBITDA
grew by 2.1 percent.

Development of operations in selected countries

Greece. In Greece, revenue stood at EUR 2.9 billion in the
reporting year, up year-on-year by 1.5 percent. This was driven
primarily by higher mobile revenue and consistently high fixed-
network revenue. Broadband business posted particularly
strong growth as a result of the marketing of fiber-optic and
vectoring lines. The growth trend continued in our B2B/ICT
business customer operations and wholesale business. Intense
competitive pressure caused TV revenues to decline year-on-
year. The FMC offering developed positively, with rising customer
numbers and corresponding revenues.

In the reporting year, adjusted EBITDA in Greece increased
substantially year-on-year by 4.0 percent to EUR 1.2 billion,
driven largely by improved cost efficiency, especially with
regard to personnel costs.

Hungary. In Hungary, revenue in the reporting year grew
substantially by 4.5 percent compared with the prior year to
EUR 1.9 billion. In organic terms, it increased by 7.8 percent.
This growth was driven by rising mobile service revenues and
by fixed-network business with sustained clear revenue growth
in B2B/ICT business customer operations. Broadband and TV
business also made a positive contribution to revenue. Our
MagentaOne portfolio of FMC products is enjoying success
among consumers and business customers alike, a trend that
is underpinned by growing customer numbers and a corre-
sponding rise in revenue. Both service revenues and terminal
equipment business performed well, which was attributable
to our high-speed, high-reach mobile network.

At EUR 547 million, adjusted EBITDA remained virtually at
the prior-year level. Organically, adjusted EBITDA increased
by 3.7 percent.

Austria. In Austria, we generated revenue of EUR 1,055 million
in the reporting year, up 17.2 percent compared with the prior
year. This increase is attributable to the effects of the acqui-
sition of UPC Austria, which now allows us to offer fixed-net-
work technology in addition to the mobile broadband internet
services already being successfully marketed to our customers.
In organic terms, i.e., adjusted for the inclusion of UPC Austria,
revenue would remain on a par with the prior-year level.

The increase in revenue also impacted adjusted EBITDA, which
increased by 29.7 percent year-on-year to EUR 345 million.
Adjusted for the acquisition of UPC Austria, adjusted EBITDA
would have been 3.3 percent higher year-on-year.
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Poland. Revenue at our national company in Poland increased
by 1.1 percent year-on-year to EUR 1.5 billion; in organic terms,
it increased by 1.2 percent. This was mainly a result of higher
revenue in B2B/ICT business following the integration of our
Systems Solutions operations in the prior year. Mobile business
remained on a par with the prior-year level; the positive effect of
the increase in customer numbers was offset by a negative
price effect. Fixed-network business posted a decline in whole-
sale revenue.

Adjusted EBITDA stood at EUR 390 million, down 6.9 percent
year-on-year. In organic terms, adjusted EBITDA decreased by
6.7 percent. The positive revenue contribution was offset by
higher direct costs - in particular higher interconnection costs
and regulation-induced higher roaming costs. Indirect costs
also reduced adjusted EBITDA marginally year-on-year as a
result of higher personnel costs in connection with setting up
new shops. Overall, the revenue trend, especially in the sale of
terminal equipment and in fixed-network business, as well as a
need for increased investment due to technological develop-
ment and requirements, resulted in a lowering of revenue and
earnings expectations in Poland.

SYSTEMS SOLUTIONS
ORDER ENTRY

EBIT

EBIT in our Europe operating segment increased significantly
by 61.0 percent in the reporting year to EUR 744 million, driven
by the positive development in EBITDA and a 4.6 percent re-
duction in depreciation, amortization and impairment losses.
The cyclical impairment tests carried out at the year-end re-
sulted in impairment losses recognized on goodwill totaling
EUR 0.6 billion in Poland and Romania. In the prior year, im-
pairment losses on goodwill and on property, plant and equip-
ment had reduced EBIT by EUR 0.9 billion. Impairment losses
amounting to EUR 35 million were recognized on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets in the reporting year
in connection with the sale of the shares in Telekom Albania
agreed in January 2019.

Cash capex

In 2018, our Europe operating segment reported cash capex

of EUR 1.9 billion, putting it on a par with the prior-year level.
Alongside subdued investments at individual national compa-
nies, our capital expenditures were focused primarily on build-
ing out our broadband and fiber-optic technology in the Czech
Republic and Austria as part of our integrated network strategy.
We acquired a small number of spectrum licenses in the report-
ing year, predominantly in Hungary.

millions of €

2018

2017 Change Change % 2016

ORDER ENTRY 6,776

5,241 1,635 29.3 6,851

Development of business

We realigned our strategy for the Systems Solutions operating
segment with a focus on returning to sustained growth in this
area. Our previous investments in growth areas and innovation
fields (such as the public cloud, the Internet of Things, all IP)
along with efforts to scale back the number of risk-prone legacy
contracts in our traditional IT operations mark important steps
on our transformation journey. On this basis, we continue to
realign the segment strategy to focus on consistently moving
the business into strategic growth areas while simultaneously
strengthening our telecommunications business and success-
fully managing the decline in traditional IT business.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

With this in mind, we launched a comprehensive transformation
program under which we realigned our organization and work-
flows, developed a new strategy for our portfolio, and created
three offering clusters. Ten portfolio units and one emerging
business unit will in future look after not only our traditional IT
and telecommunications business, but also our growth areas
(SAP, digital solutions, public cloud, security, Internet of Things,
classified ICT, health, and toll collection systems).

Order entry in our Systems Solutions operating segment was

up by 29.3 percent in the reporting year, marking a particularly
positive development compared with the prior year. This is due
in part to a number of big deals that we closed in traditional IT
business this year, which compare with a lower volume included
in the prior-year figure. Order entry in our growth areas also
developed very well in the reporting year.
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DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS?
millions of €
2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
TOTAL REVENUE 6,936 6,918 18 0.3 6,993
Of which: external revenue 5,497 5,504 (7) 0.1 5,678
Loss from operations (EBIT) (291) (1,356) 1,065 78.5 (150)
Special factors affecting EBIT (322) (1,477) 1,155 78.2 (276)
EBIT (adjusted for special factors) 32 121 (89) (73.6) 126
EBIT margin (adjusted for special factors) % 0.5 1.7 1.8
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (453) (1,636) 1,183 72.3 (428)
EBITDA 163 280 (117) (41.8) 278
Special factors affecting EBITDA (266) (229) (37) (16.2) (252)
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 429 509 (80) (15.7) 530
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 6.2 7.4 7.6
CASH CAPEX (462) (383) (79) (20.6) (402)

2 The business of T-Systems Polska Sp. z 0.0., which, in organizational terms, was previously assigned to the Systems Solutions operating segment, is now disclosed under the Europe

operating segment as of September 1, 2017. Prior-year comparatives were not adjusted.

Total revenue

Total revenue in our Systems Solutions operating segment in the
financial year amounted to EUR 6.9 billion, on a par with the prior-
year level. Revenue in our growth areas developed positively,
driven mainly by the public cloud, the Internet of Things, the
healthcare industry, and toll collection systems. By contrast,
revenue with traditional IT business declined year-on-year. This
was primarily a result of the decline in our international corporate
customer operations and the general falling market trend in our
core market of Western Europe, as well as to deliberate portfolio
decisions (such as the termination of end-user services).

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

In the reporting year, adjusted EBITDA at our Systems Solutions
operating segment declined by EUR 80 million to EUR 429 million,
which was in line with our expectations. The decrease was
attributable primarily to the higher costs involved in establishing
operations in growth areas, in particular in the Internet of
Things and the healthcare market, and to higher financial
burdens in our telecommunications business due to the on-
going migration to all IP. EBITDA decreased by EUR 117 million
year-on-year to EUR 163 million, mainly due to the effects
described under adjusted EBITDA. Special factors were up

EUR 37 million year-on-year, attributable primarily to restruc-
turing measures.

EBIT, adjusted EBIT

Adjusted EBIT in our Systems Solutions operating segment de-
clined by EUR 89 million year-on-year, coming in at EUR 32 mil-
lion. The effects described under adjusted EBITDA were the
main drivers of this decrease. EBIT increased significantly
year-on-year to EUR -291 million, attributable largely to an
impairment loss on goodwill of EUR 1.2 billion that had been
recognized in the prior year.

Cash capex

Cash capex in the Systems Solutions operating segment

stood at EUR 462 million in the reporting year, compared

with EUR 383 million in the prior year. Capital expenditures
remain focused on developing our operations in growth areas,
such as digital solutions, the Internet of Things, and toll collec-
tion systems. In parallel, we are investing in the upgrade of our
in-house IT systems.
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GROUP DEVELOPMENT
CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT

thousands
Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017 Change Change % Dec. 31, 2016
NETHERLANDS Mobile customers 4,021 3,850 171 4.4 3,746
Fixed-network lines 241 191 50 26.2 164
Broadband customers 241 191 50 26.2 164
After successfully repositioning itself in the market, T-Mobile
Netherlands posted year-on-year growth of 4.4 percent for the
2018 financial year with its mobile services for consumers and
business customers. This was driven by a positive response to
the rate plan portfolio, made particularly attractive thanks to
high-volume and unlimited data packages, as well as growth in
the business customer base. Despite intense competition, the
number of fixed-network consumers increased by 50 thousand
as a result of our attractive rate plan portfolio.
DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS
millions of €
2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
TOTAL REVENUE 2,185 2,263 (78) (3.4) 2,347
Of which: Netherlands 1,322 1,355 (33) (2.4) 1,331
Profit from operations (EBIT) 560 1,504 (944) (62.8) 2,730
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (334) (304) (30) (9.9) (760)
EBITDA 893 1,808 (915) (50.6) 3,490
Special factors affecting EBITDA (27) 893 (920) n.a. 2,547
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) 921 915 6 0.7 943
Of which: Netherlands 425 421 4 1.0 358
EBITDA margin (adjusted for special factors) % 42.2 40.4 40.2
CASH CAPEX (271) (290) 19 6.6 (271)

Total revenue

Total revenue in our Group Development operating segment
decreased in 2018 by 3.4 percent year-on-year, due to the for-
gone revenue following the sale of Strato effective March 31, 2017.
Revenue at DFMG remained almost unchanged against the prior
year. The positive effects on revenue at T-Mobile Netherlands
of high mobile handset sales and growing fixed-network busi-
ness were more than offset by negative effects from the man-
datory application of the new IFRS 15 accounting standard as

of January 1, 2018, as well as by regulatory effects including
lower EU roaming charges and national termination rates.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA decreased year-on-year from EUR 1.8 billion to
EUR 0.9 billion. Regular reviews of our investment portfolio
prompted us to sell our stake in Strato and our remaining
shares in Scout24 AG last year. The disposals resulted in

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

income recognized as special factors of around EUR 0.7 billion.
In addition, the prior year had included positive special factors
of EUR 0.2 billion originating from a settlement agreement with
BT concluded in July 2017.

Adjusted EBITDA in our Group Development operating segment
was on a par with the prior-year level. Forgone earnings follow-
ing the deconsolidation of Strato caused a decline. At T-Mobile
Netherlands, adjusted EBITDA was up by 1.0 percent in the
2018 financial year due to positive customer development. Ad-
justed EBITDA at DFMG increased substantially by 3.7 percent
year-on-year.
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EBIT Cash capex

EBIT decreased by EUR 0.9 billion year-on-year to EUR 0.6 bil-
lion, due primarily to the same factors described under EBITDA.
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses were higher
than in the prior-year period, mainly due to higher capital expen-
diture on network capacity and quality at T-Mobile Netherlands.

GROUP HEADQUARTERS & GROUP SERVICES =
DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS

Cash capex at our Group Development operating segment
decreased in the 2018 financial year by 6.6 percent year-on-year
as a result of lower investments in network build-out at T-Mobile
Netherlands.

For information on
changes in the

organizational

millions of €
structure, please
refer to the
2018 2017 Change Change % 2016  Section “Group
organization,
TOTAL REVENUE 2,735 2,935 (200) (6.8) 3,460 page 31 et seq.,
. and Note 35
Loss from operations (EBIT) (1,662) (1,437) (225) (15.7) (1,848) “Segment report-
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (825) (657) (168) (25.6) (676) ing” in the notes
to the consolidated
EBITDA (837) (780) (57) (7.3) (1,172) financial state-
Special factors affecting EBITDA (322) (119) (203) n.a. (579) ments,
page 226 et seq.
EBITDA (ADJUSTED FOR SPECIAL FACTORS) (515) (661) 146 22.1 (594)
CASH CAPEX (1,078) (1,005) (73) (7.3) (936)

Total revenue

Total revenue in our Group Headquarters & Group Services
segment in 2018 decreased by 6.8 percent year-on-year. This
decline was mainly due to the fact that, as of January 2016, the
costs of intragroup development services newly commissioned
from Deutsche Telekom IT in Germany are no longer charged
internally. Other reasons for the decrease were lower revenues
from land and buildings, largely due to the ongoing optimization
of space, and the forgone revenue from DeTeMedien following
the completion of its sale in June 2017. Higher intragroup revenue
at Deutsche Telekom IT from the licensing of the Group-wide
ERP system had a positive effect.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA at our Group Headquarters & Group Services
improved by EUR 146 million year-on-year in the reporting year,
mainly due to higher revenue at Deutsche Telekom IT from the
licensing of the Group-wide ERP system, which does not impact
on earnings at Group level. The reduction in headcount brought
about by ongoing restructuring of the Vivento workforce also had
a positive effect. By contrast, lower revenue from land and build-
ings had a negative impact on adjusted EBITDA.

Overall, negative net special factors of EUR 322 million affected
EBITDA in the reporting year. Expenses for staff-related mea-
sures were partially offset by the positive effect of the reversal
of provisions for legal risks in connection with the Toll Collect
arbitration proceedings. In the prior year, negative net special
factors totaled EUR 119 million and mainly comprised expenses
for staff-related measures on the one hand and income from the
sale of DeTeMedien on the other.

EBIT

EBIT declined by EUR 225 million year-on-year largely as a
result of the same effects described under EBITDA and a

EUR 168 million increase in depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses. This increase was due, in particular, to higher
depreciation and amortization caused by increased levels of
capitalization at Deutsche Telekom IT. The latter were attribut-
able to the fact that the costs of newly commissioned intragroup
development services in Germany are no longer charged inter-
nally. This development was partially offset by lower depreci-
ation, amortization and impairment losses from land and build-
ings as a result of our continued optimization of the real estate
portfolio.

Cash capex

Cash capex increased by EUR 73 million year-on-year, primarily
owing to increased investment in technology and innovation,
mainly for development activities. In addition, cash capex for
vehicles and the procurement of licenses increased, offset par-
tially by lower investments in real estate-related construction
and project services.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS
AT DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG

Deutsche Telekom AG prepares its annual financial statements
in accordance with the principles of German GAAP, as specified
in the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch - HGB)
and the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG).

As the Headquarters of the Deutsche Telekom Group, we per-
form strategic and cross-segment management functions and
provide services for other Group companies. The profits and
losses of our subsidiaries and Group financing measures have
a material effect on our financial position and results of opera-
tions. In our home market, revenue was at a comparable level
with the prior year. Mobile revenues increased year-on-year,
while higher IT and broadband revenues almost compensated
for the decrease in revenue from the traditional fixed-network
business. In our Systems Solutions operating segment, we
recorded an upward trend in revenue in our growth business
(in particular in cloud, Internet of Things, digital solutions, toll

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG

collection, and SAP), which, however, was offset by a year-on-
year decrease in revenues from the traditional IT business.

A positive revenue trend in our growth areas, but also lower
roaming charges and ongoing intense competition had an
impact on the Europe operating segment in 2018. In the United
States operating segment, revenue increased as a result of higher
service revenues. This increase was attributable to continued
growth in existing and greenfield markets, the growing success
of new business areas, along with lower postpaid churn, and
higher connected devices.

Deutsche Telekom AG reported income after taxes for the 2018
financial year of EUR 4.2 billion. In addition to the operating
business, the development of business in the reporting year
was influenced by a number of very different factors, including
the intragroup restructuring within the DFMG group, the equity
repayment by T-Mobile Global Holding GmbH, Bonn, to T-Mobile
Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, calculated at fair value,
and the agreement in the Toll Collect arbitration proceedings.

Statement of income of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP (total cost method)

millions of €

2018 2017 Change Change % 2016
NET REVENUE 3,546 3,603 (57) (1.6) 3,927
Other own capitalized costs 7 4 3 75.0 4
TOTAL OPERATING PERFORMANCE 3,553 3,607 (54) (1.5) 3,931
Other operating income 2,672 2,769 (97) (3.5) 2,120
Goods and services purchased (1,024) (1,060) 36 3.4 (1,151)
Personnel costs (2,537) (2,732) 195 71 (3,516)
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs (289) (341) 52 15.2 (338)
Other operating expenses (4,521) (4,251) (270) (6.4) (3,570)
OPERATING RESULTS (2,146) (2,008) (138) (6.9) (2,524)
Financial income (expense), net 6,488 7,151 (663) (9.3) 4,717
Income taxes (143) (198) 55 27.8 (154)
INCOME AFTER INCOME TAXES 4,199 4,945 (746) (15.1) 2,039
Other taxes (13) (18) 5 27.8 (19)
INCOME AFTER TAXES 4,186 4,927 (741) (15.0) 2,020

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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The negative operating results increased by approximately
EUR 0.1 billion year-on-year, due mainly to EUR 0.3 billion
higher other operating expenses and a EUR 0.1 billion lower
operating income compared with the prior year. Lower per-
sonnel costs of EUR 0.2 billion and a decline of EUR 0.1 billion
in depreciation, amortization and write-downs had an offsett-
ing effect.

Net revenue remained more or less unchanged from the
prior-year level.

A decrease of EUR 0.4 billion in foreign currency translation
gains and lower income from derivatives in connection with
U.S. dollar contracts, and a decrease of EUR 0.2 billion in in-
come from asset disposals were the main drivers of the year-
on-year decline in other operating income, which was down by
EUR 0.1 billion overall. By contrast, the write-ups on Deutsche
Telekom Europe Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 0.4 billion,

and on T-Mobile Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, of
EUR 0.1 billion, had a positive effect on other operating income.

The increase of EUR 0.3 billion in other operating expenses
was mainly attributable to an expense of EUR 0.6 billion in
connection with the agreement in the Toll Collect arbitration
proceedings, an increase of EUR 0.1 billion in derivatives in
connection with U.S. dollar contracts, and an increase of
EUR 0.1 billion in other employee-related expenses. These
effects were offset by a decrease of EUR 0.6 billion in foreign
currency transaction losses resulting in particular from U.S.
dollar contracts.

The year-on-year decrease in personnel costs of EUR 0.2 billion
is mainly attributable to lower expenses arising from the early
retirement program for civil servants.

Net financial income declined by EUR 0.7 billion to EUR 6.5 bil-
lion, primarily as a result of a EUR 1.5 billion decrease in income
related to subsidiaries, associated and related companies.
A decrease in write-downs on financial assets of EUR 1.0 billion
compared with the previous year had an offsetting effect.

Income related to subsidiaries, associated and related com-
panies, which declined by EUR 1.5 billion compared with the
prior year, was positively affected in the reporting year by
profits transferred by Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, of
EUR 3.7 billion (2017: EUR 3.9 billion), DFMG Holding GmbH,
Bonn, of EUR 2.5 billion (2017: EUR 3.8 billion), and T-Mobile
Global Zwischenholding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 1.6 billion
(2017: EUR 1.4 billion). The transfer of the losses from Deutsche
Telekom IT GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 0.7 billion (2017: EUR 0.5 bil-
lion) and T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, of
EUR 0.3 billion (2017: EUR 0.3 billion), had an offsetting effect.

In addition to the operating business of the consolidated subsid-

iaries, the income related to subsidiaries, associated and related
companies resulted from effects arising from reorganization
measures as well as from an equity repayment, calculated at fair
value, by T-Mobile Global Holding GmbH, Bonn. The loss arising
from the intragroup sale, based on a valuation report, of the
indirectly held interests in the BT Group plc, London, United
Kingdom, had a negative effect on income related to subsid-
iaries, associated and related companies.

The increase in the net interest expense of EUR 0.2 billion com-
pared with the prior year was primarily the result of an increase
in expenses in connection with the interest added back on non-
current accruals.

Income after income taxes was particularly impacted by the
aforementioned effects and decreased by EUR 0.7 billion
year-on-year in 2018.

Other tax expense of EUR 13 million combined with the aforemen-

tioned factors resulted in income after taxes of EUR 4,186 million
in 2018. Taking into account EUR 2,845 million in unappropri-
ated net income carried forward, unappropriated net income
totaled EUR 7,031 million.

73
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FINANCIAL POSITION OF DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG

Balance sheet of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP
millions of €

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2018 % Dec. 31, 2017 Change Dec. 31, 2016
ASSETS
Intangible assets 186 0.2 195 9) 249
Property, plant and equipment 2,376 1.9 2,698 (322) 2,993
Financial assets 94,431 77.3 93,807 624 81,240
NONCURRENT ASSETS 96,993 79.4 96,700 293 84,482
Inventories 1 0.0 1 0 1
Receivables 22,325 18.3 22,073 252 16,308
Other assets 1,630 1.3 1,659 (29) 1,629
Cash and cash equivalents 680 0.6 157 523 208
CURRENT ASSETS 24,636 20.2 23,890 746 18,146
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 522 0.4 676 (154) 516
Difference between plan assets and corresponding
liabilities 7 0.0 51 (44) 36
TOTAL ASSETS 122,158 100.0 121,317 841 103,180
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital stock and reserves 53,015 434 53,011 4 51,651
Unappropriated net income 7,031 5.8 5,928 1,103 3,795
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 60,046 49.2 58,939 1,107 55,446
Pensions and similar obligations 3,747 3.1 3,164 583 3,247
Tax accruals 238 0.2 238 0 238
Other accruals 2,377 1.9 2,321 56 1,642
ACCRUALS 6,362 5.2 5,723 639 5,127
Debt 6,705 5.5 6,398 307 5,021
Other liabilities 48,904 40.0 50,101 (1,197) 37,413
LIABILITIES 55,609 45.5 56,499 (890) 42,434
Deferred income 141 0.1 156 (15) 173
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 122,158 100.0 121,317 841 103,180

In addition to shareholders’ equity, our financial position is
mainly determined by noncurrent assets and receivables from
and payables to Group companies. Loans recognized under
financial assets as well as receivables from and payables to
subsidiaries primarily resulted from financing relationships
between Deutsche Telekom AG and its subsidiaries, whereby
financing on the external capital market is generally handled
by Deutsche Telekom AG International Finance B.V., Maastricht,
and passed on to Deutsche Telekom AG.

The balance sheet total increased by EUR 0.8 billion year-on-
year to EUR 122.2 billion.

The development of total assets was primarily attributable
to the increase of EUR 0.3 billion in noncurrent assets, of
EUR 0.3 billion in receivables, and of EUR 0.5 billion in cash
and cash equivalents. By contrast, prepaid expenses and
deferred charges decreased by EUR 0.2 billion.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

The growth in financial assets of EUR 0.6 billion year-on-year
was mainly due to the capital increase at Deutsche Telekom
Europe Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 1.8 billion, and to write-
ups on interests in subsidiaries of EUR 0.5 billion. Financial
assets also increased as a result of the purchase of shares in
Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (OTE), Athens,
of EUR 0.3 billion, and due to loans to T-Mobile USA, Inc.,
Bellevue, and to Telekom Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, of

EUR 0.1 billion in each case. The equity repayment by CTA
Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 1.3 billion and the intragroup sale
of shares in CTA Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 1.0 billion had
an offsetting effect.

The decrease of EUR 0.3 billion in property, plant and equip-
ment was primarily due to the depreciation of real estate.
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The increase of EUR 0.3 billion in receivables was mainly due to
an increase of EUR 0.8 billion in receivables from cash manage-
ment, offset by a decline of EUR 0.5 billion in financial receiv-
ables from subsidiaries.

The decline in prepaid expenses and deferred charges was
mainly attributable to a decline of EUR 0.1 billion in deferred
personnel costs.

The development of total shareholders’ equity and liabilities was
mainly influenced by the increase of EUR 1.1 billion in share-
holders’ equity, and of EUR 0.6 billion in accruals for pensions
and similar obligations. By contrast, other liabilities decreased
by EUR 1.2 billion.

The increase in shareholders’ equity was mainly due to income
after taxes for the financial year of EUR 4.2 billion and its effect
on unappropriated net income. The EUR 3.1 billion dividend
payment for the previous year had an offsetting effect.

The increase in accruals for pensions and similar obligations is
mainly attributable to an effect of EUR 0.3 billion due to a lower
notional interest rate for the calculation of pension accruals
compared with the prior year, and an effect of EUR 0.2 billion
due to the refund of plan assets.

Other liabilities declined year-on-year in particular as a result of

loan repayments to CTA Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 5.4 billion.
Loans of EUR 4.0 billion taken out from Deutsche Telekom Inter-
national Finance B.V., Maastricht, had an offsetting effect.

Statement of cash flows of Deutsche Telekom AG under German GAAP
millions of €

2018 2017 Change 2016
INCOME AFTER TAXES 4,186 4,927 (741) 2,020
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 4,409 2,988 1,421 (1,531)
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 1,940 (12,890) 14,830 4,156
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (5,826) 9,851 (15,677) (2,638)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 523 (51) 574 (13)
Cash and cash equivalents, at the beginning of the year 157 208 (51) 221
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AT THE END OF THE YEAR 680 157 523 208

Net cash provided by for operating activities increased year-
on-year by EUR 1.4 billion, resulting in net cash provided by
operating activities of EUR 4.4 billion. This increase was due
mainly to the EUR 2.8 billion lower net increase in receivables
from cash management compared with the previous year, and
a EUR 0.5 billion smaller decrease in liabilities from the early
retirement program for civil servants compared with the pre-
vious year. The decrease in income after taxes, which was
adjusted for non-cash write-downs and write-ups on financial
assets, had an offsetting effect.

In contrast to the prior year, when net cash used for investing
activities resulted in particular from medium- and long-term
investments at subsidiaries of EUR 10.8 billion, net cash pro-
vided by investing activities in the reporting year was largely
influenced by an equity repayment by CTA Holding GmbH,
Bonn, of EUR 1.3 billion, cash inflows from the intragroup sale
of shares in CTA Holding GmbH, Bonn, of EUR 1.0 billion,
and the repayment of a short-term investment by T-Mobile
Netherlands B.V., The Hague, to Deutsche Telekom AG of
EUR 0.5 billion. Net cash provided by investing activities
also included interest received of EUR 0.9 billion. A capital
increase at Deutsche Telekom Europe Holding GmbH, Bonn,
of EUR 1.8 billion in connection with the takeover of all shares
in UPC Austria GmbH, Vienna, by T-Mobile Austria Holding
GmbH, Vienna, in particular had an offsetting effect.

Net cash used for financing activities increased by EUR 15.7 bil-
lion year-on-year to EUR 5.8 billion. In contrast to the prior year,
when net cash provided by financing activities was impacted
by the net issuance of liabilities of EUR 12.5 billion, in the report-
ing year, it was mainly the result of net repayments of current
financial liabilities of EUR 7.4 billion, interest payments of

EUR 1.1 billion, and the payment of the dividend for the 2017
financial year of EUR 3.1 billion. The net issuance of medium-
and long-term liabilities of EUR 5.8 billion had an offsetting effect.

In all, this resulted in an increase in cash and cash equivalents
of EUR 523 million in the reporting year.

RISK MANAGEMENT IN HEDGE ACCOUNTING

We use derivatives to hedge interest rate and currency expo-
sures; i.e., exclusively for hedging purposes, not for speculative
gains. In the process, we monitor the effectiveness of the hedges
on a regular basis.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.
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1 PARTNERSHIPS
FORTHE GOALS

&

4> RELATIONSHIPS

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY AND
NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT

m Act responsibly. Enable sustainability.

We are more than a company providing society with telecom-
munications infrastructure. In an ever more complex and digital
world, we are a trusted adviser through every stage of life. As
such, we take our responsibility for society and the environment
very seriously. We work systematically to minimize the poten-
tially negative impact of our business activities while creating
effective, positive impetus for sustainable change. We have
been transparently reporting on our corporate responsibility
(CR) activities for over 20 years. In our CR report and annual
report, and on our website, we provide comprehensive infor-
mation every year on the challenges we are facing and the
progress we have made as a responsible company focused on
sustainable action. Since the 2016 financial year, we have also
explained how our core business contributes to achieving the
UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which have been
set as part of the 2030 Agenda. In addition, this year’s manage-
ment report is the first in which we are also highlighting how
our activities are having a positive impact on our business
development (i.e., adding value).=

Since the 2017 reporting year, we have published a combined
non-financial statement (NFS) as part of our management
report, thereby fulfilling our reporting obligation as per the CSR
Directive Implementation Act. When selecting the subjects for
the present 2018 NFS, we again not only considered legal re-
quirements, but also incorporated the results of our materiality
process. Regularly analyzing materiality in this way helps us
align our sustainability activities with our stakeholders’ expec-
tations and structure our reporting accordingly.

The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG is responsible
for the review of the content of the NFS. In the reporting year,
it did this with the support of PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft (independent auditor) in the
form of a limited assurance engagement. This audit was based
on the International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE
3000 (as amended). Unless otherwise stated, all disclosures in
this NFS apply in equal measure to the Group and the parent
company. To avoid repetitions within the management report,
we refer to further information provided in other sections wher-
ever relevant. References to disclosures not contained in the
combined management report are provided as background
information; these disclosures are not part of the NFS and thus
are not covered by the review. By publishing our 2018 CR report
in March 2019, we are using a tried-and-tested format to fulfill
our stakeholders’ expectations of transparency, basing our work
as usual on the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI). The concepts described in this NFS are consistent with
this long-standing reporting tradition and make reference to
the GRI standards, while also taking statutory requirements
into consideration.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

In 2018, we received a further accolade for our sustainability
performance and our associated reporting, taking the top spot
in the Good Company Ranking, which rates the sustainability
performance of all DAX 30 companies based on audited publi-
cations. In addition, our 2017 Annual Report secured us a doub-
le victory in the Investors’ Darling 2018 capital market competi-
tion, in the categories of “Corporate social responsibility” and
“Strategy reporting.”

EXPLANATION OF THE BUSINESS MODEL

We are one of the leading telecommunication companies world-
wide. We offer our consumers fixed-network/broadband, mobile,
internet, and internet-based TV products and services, as well
as ICT solutions for our business and corporate customers. =

STRATEGIC AND ORGANIZATIONAL APPROACH

TO SUSTAINABILITY

We see ourselves as a responsible company on the basis of our
Leading European Telco strategy: We want to be the leading
telecommunications provider in Europe. For us, social and eco-
logical responsibility is inextricably linked with such a leader-
ship role. Our mission statement is “Act responsibly. Enable
sustainability.” We are committed to implementing sustainability
along our entire value chain - and to playing an important role
in meeting today’s environmental, economic, and social challen-
ges. We are expressly committed to the principles of the United
Nations Global Compact, the German Sustainability Code, and
Germany’s Code of Responsible Conduct for Business. Further-
more, we support the SDGs of the United Nations (UN), in par-
ticular contributing to the following goals: (3) Good health and
well-being, (4) Quality education, (5) Gender equality, (8) Decent
work and economic growth, (9) Industry, innovation and infra-
structure, (11) Sustainable cities and communities, and (13)
Climate action.

Our CR strategy, which is oriented to our core business, includes
three fields of action: “Connected life and work - enabling a
sustainable lifestyle,” “Connect the unconnected - access to
and participation in the information and knowledge society,”
and “Low-carbon society.” In addition, the following topics are
of particular importance within our sustainability management
system: data security and data privacy, digitalization, sustain-
able supply chains, human rights, circular economy and resource
decoupling, as well as being a responsible employer.

Our Board of Management bears overall responsibility for our
CR goals, discussing and making decisions on key CR-related
issues. The Group Corporate Responsibility (GCR) unit devel-
ops Group-wide policies and guidelines. It is also responsible
for positioning and aligning CR strategically, and monitors all of
the corresponding processes. The CR managers from the differ-
ent business units and national companies are responsible for
implementing our CR strategy, and work closely together in the
international CR Manager Network. GCR is also advised by the
CR Board, composed of the heads of key Group areas, in order
to ensure direct feedback is always shared between CR and our
core business. Our values and basic principles are anchored in
our Guiding Principles, the Code of Conduct, the Code of Human
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Rights & Social Principles, and other subject-specific policies.
The cornerstones of our sustainability management activities
are formally set out in our CR Policy, which is binding for all
Group units. As part of our CR controlling system, we record
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) data and perfor-
mance indicators. We use this data primarily to calculate our
Group-wide ESG KPIs (key performance indicators), which we
use to measure and control our CR performance. We regularly
review these KPIs to ensure they provide reliable information,
revising them as needed. In some cases, the KPIs and other
metrics can also be linked to the SDGs to show the progress
we are making in the SDG focus areas.

Other disclosures

We use the Socially Responsible Investment ESG KPI to deter-
mine how the finance markets rate our sustainability activities.
This indicator measures the proportion of T-Shares held by
investors whose investment strategy is based not only on eco-
nomic but also, at least in part, on environmental and social
aspects of corporate governance. As of September 30, 2018,
around 18 percent of all T-Shares were held by SRI (socially
responsible investment) investors, and 3 percent were held by
investors who manage their funds primarily in accordance with
SRl aspects. In addition, during the reporting year, our shares
were again listed on leading sustainability indexes, such as
RobecoSAM'’s prominent DJSI World and DJSI Europe. Our
share also continued to be listed on the FTSE4Good and UN
Global Compact 100 indexes.

Listing of the T-Share in sustainability indexes/ratings

Rating agency Indexes/ratings/ranking 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
RobecoSAM DJSI World [x]
DJSI Europe [x]
CDP STOXX Global Climate Change
Leaders
oekom research AG “Prime” (Sector Leader)
Sustainalytics STOXX Global ESG Leaders
iSTOXX 50 SD KPI
UN Global Compact 100
FTSE Financial Times Stock Exchange ~ FTSE4Good
Successfully listed (%] Not listed

Our aim is to continuously improve the effects our products,
solutions, and programs have on society. To this end, we need
to quantify the extent to which our business activities help solve
social challenges. In 2018, we initiated a pilot project for measur-
ing this impact and are defining a uniform process for evaluat-
ing our products, solutions, and programs. This pilot project is
intended to lay the foundations for managing our sustainability
activities with a focus on their effects. You can find in-depth
information about the project in our 2018 CR report, which is
due to be published in March 2019.

PROCESS FOR DETERMINING SIGNIFICANT TOPICS

By following a comprehensive materiality process that we evolve
and adapt every year, we aim to determine what topics are rele-
vant for our reporting and to develop our sustainability strategy
along these lines. In 2018, we incorporated a document analy-
sis into the process, which we have used to evaluate aspects
such as current legislation and determine the impact of the
topics covered on the ICT sector and our value chain. For more
detailed information on our approach, please refer to our CR
report for 2018.

We have reviewed whether and to what extent the result of

our materiality analysis requires us to amend the concepts
covered in the previous year’s NFS. This was done to ensure
the present NFS for 2018 adheres to the requirements set out in
the CSR Directive Implementation Act. This involved considering

the main topics key to understanding business operations, the
operating result, the Company’s situation, and the effects on
non-financial aspects. It was confirmed there was no need to
extend the range of topics covered in the previous year. None-
theless, conserving resources is becoming an increasingly
debated topic both in the public arena and among our own
workforce. This reporting year, we therefore decided to address
this issue under Aspect 1: “Environmental concerns” - despite
the fact that the operations of Deutsche Telekom as a service
provider have a relatively minor impact in this regard.

As part of our comprehensive risk and opportunity manage-
ment system, we also determine existing and potential risks
and opportunities arising from environmental, economic, or
social aspects, and from how our Company is managed.
Topics such as climate protection, suppliers, data privacy
and data security, health and the environment involve poten-
tial risks, which we have outlined in the section “Risk and
opportunity management.” We maintain this practice to pro-
vide the transparency our stakeholders expect, even if the
risk assessment has found that these topics have a “low” risk
significance and therefore do not need to be rated as “very
likely severe” in the meaning of the CSR Directive Implemen-
tation Act. The present NFS focuses on these risks and oppor-
tunities in relation to the relevant aspects.=
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For further infor-
mation, please
refer to the section
“Risk and opportu-
nity management,”
page 113 et seq.
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For further informa-
tion, please refer to
“Deployment of ICT
products to the
benefit of society”
in this section
under Aspect 3:
“Social concerns,”
page 82 et seq.

For further infor-
mation, please
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the operating
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page 60 et seq.
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For further infor-
mation about the
opportunities and
risks associated
with climate
protection, please
refer to the section
“Risk and opportu-
nity management,”
page 113 et seq.
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ASPECT 1: ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS

“We assume responsibility for a low-carbon society” is one of
the action areas of our CR strategy. It not only expresses our
commitment to minimize the impact our business activities may
exert on the climate, but also our desire to tap into the oppor-
tunities for sustainable development offered by digitalization.=
In our 2018 CR report, we will discuss environmental topics
where our business activities have a comparatively low impact,
with examples including the preservation of biodiversity and
water consumption.

Our comprehensive environmental management system is
based on the international ISO 14001 standard. Furthermore,
in May 2018 we published a new environmental guideline that
summarizes and complements the existing voluntary commit-
ments in force across the entire Group. You can access this
guideline on our Group website.

CLIMATE PROTECTION AND

RESOURCE CONSERVATION

Demand for faster data services with full-coverage availability is
growing rapidly. That is why we continue to drive forward the
build-out of our infrastructure and increase data transmission
rates. Our investments in the network build-out make us one of
the biggest investors in the industry. Operating our network
consumes energy. Increasing energy consumption is associated
not only with higher costs, but can also lead to an increase in
CO, emissions and thereby accelerate climate change. We must
therefore ensure our energy consumption grows to a much
lesser extent than the volumes of data we transmit and, at the
same time, promote the use of renewable energies to set energy
consumption apart from CO, emissions. We also need to
harness the opportunities opened up by digitalization - which,
when implemented properly, can help save energy and thus
slow down climate change.=

Our integrated climate strategy includes four aspects of climate
protection: CO, emissions, renewable energy, energy efficiency,
and sustainable products. The climate strategy applies Group-
wide and is implemented on an interdisciplinary and decen-
tralized basis at the level of the national companies. Our Board
of Management set a climate-related goal as early as in 2013.
By 2020, we aim to reduce total CO, emissions in the Group
(excluding T-Mobile US) by 20 percent compared to 2008.

In 2018, we modified how we calculate CO, emissions for our
climate goal in line with the market-based method used by
the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) protocol in order to place greater
emphasis on the use of renewable energy as a means of
lowering emissions.

Deutsche Telekom. The 2018 financial year.

In all, 40 business units in 29 countries have undertaken to
work toward our climate goal. Our national companies are
helping us achieve this goal in different ways and to different
extents, depending on developments in their local markets.
GCR reports to the Board of Management on the status quo
on an annual basis. Despite the challenges posed by rapidly
growing data volumes and the continuous network build-out
this entails, we continue to stand by our climate goal. Over the
past few years, we have succeeded in moderately reducing our
emissions. According to this calculation method, we are at the
level forecast for 2018. To achieve our current climate goal, we
are focusing on areas that consume particularly high amounts
of energy, first and foremost our networks and data centers.
For instance, we are migrating our network infrastructure to IP
technology, which is more powerful yet consumes less electric-
ity.= We are working to process data traffic from no more than
a few, particularly efficient data centers. The PUE metric serves
as an indicator for enhancing energy efficiency. We determine
this metric using the method recommended by The Green Grid
Association, which takes the total energy consumed by data
centers into account, not only that used to operate the servers.
In 2018, the global PUE metric for our T-Systems data centers
was 1.63. From 2008 to 2018, we reduced the average PUE
metric for T Systems data centers in Germany from 1.85 to 1.57.
Our data center in Biere, Saxony-Anhalt, is extremely efficient.
It was also awarded the respected LEED Gold sustainability
certification (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design).
By taking steps such as migrating data from inefficient data
centers to Biere, we achieved a PUE metric of 1.36 by the end
of 2018.

In 2017, we set about updating our climate strategy and devis-
ing new climate targets for the period after 2020. We are devel-
oping the new goals for reducing our CO, emissions (Scope 1, 2,
and 3) based on current scientific and political conditions. In
2018, we established such goals in the United States and
Hungary using the Science-Based Targets method and sub-
mitted them to the Science-Based Targets initiative, which has
already endorsed those set for the United States. Our climate
strategy also focuses on further increasing the share of renew-
able energy in electricity consumption.

We obtain renewable energy through direct purchases, in the
form of certificates for electricity from renewable sources and,
to a small extent, by producing it ourselves. Whenever it is
possible and practicable, we also invest in our own systems -
for instance in the construction of cogeneration plants and the
installation of photovoltaic systems.



COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

24 Deutsche Telekom at a glance 72  Development of business at Deutsche Telekom AG
31 Group organization 76 Corporate responsibility and non-financial statement
35  Group strategy 89  Innovation and product development

38 Management of the Group 97  Employees

43 The economic environment 102  Forecast

49  Development of business in the Group 113  Risk and opportunity management

60 Development of business in the operating segments 129  Other disclosures

We determine the effectiveness of our climate protection mea-
sures using key performance indicators (KPIs). The KPIs Energy
Intensity and Carbon Intensity for Deutsche Telekom are shown
in the following graphics. Both KPIs reflect our energy consump-
tion and our CO, emissions in relation to the volume of data
transmitted, thus demonstrating how our network’s energy and
emissions efficiency has developed in practice. The result for
the Energy Intensity KPI is 163 and 41 for the Carbon Intensity
KPI. For the Group as a whole in Germany, the Energy Intensity
KPI stands at 110 and the Carbon Intensity KPI at 26. The
Renewable Energy KPI shows how much of our Company’s
overall electricity consumption is obtained from renewable
sources. In 2018, this amounted to 52 percent. When calculat-
ing this KPI, we also look at direct purchases, Guarantees of
Origin, Renewable Energy Certificates, the renewable energy
we produce ourselves, and the proportion of renewable energy
used across the countries. We use the Enablement Factor ESG
KPI to calculate the positive CO, effects facilitated for our cus-
tomers through using our products.=

Energy Intensity ESG KPI
Deutsche Telekom Group in 2018

Energy consumption
in millions of kWh

The following graphic visualizes the emissions of the different
scopes resulting from our business activities, shown as
CO,-equivalent emissions (CO,e emissions).

CO,e emissions (Scope 1-3)
Deutsche Telekom Group in 2018 in % and kilotons of CO,e

>

52 % 2% 12%
(8,776 kt) (277 kt) (2,077 kt)

34%
(5,659 kt)

Scope 3 emissions from upstream activities:

Transport services, products and services purchased, capital goods,
production waste, energy and fuel upstream chains, business travel,
and journey to work.

B Scope 1 emissions from Deutsche Telekom’s own activities:
Emissions from the operation of Deutsche Telekom’s systems,
buildings and vehicles.

% Scope 2 emissions from energy procured:
Emissions from the generation of electricity and district heating procured
by Deutsche Telekom.

Scope 3 emissions from downstream activities:
Emissions from the transport of products sold to the customer, use of
products sold or leased, and disposal and recycling of products sold.
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Carbon Intensity ESG KPI
Deutsche Telekom Group in 2018
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We use the internationally recognized GHG protocol to calculate
our CO, emissions. This allows us to take measures to reduce
our ecological footprint at the corporate and product levels. The
standard distinguishes between three CO, emissions categories
(Scope 1, 2, and 3). We report on these in June each year as
part of the CDP.

We are aware that effectively combating climate change calls for
everyone involved to work together and take determined action,
which is why we participate in many national and international
associations and organizations. Particularly noteworthy here is
the Global e-Sustainability Initiative - a corporate association
with the vision of making society more climate-friendly and
sustainable with ICT solutions. We are also working systematic-
ally and successfully on improving climate protection throughout
our supply chain. Since 2016, the CDP’s supplier engagement
rating has assessed how well companies have integrated the
topic of climate protection into their supply chains. In 2018, we
were awarded an A rating by CDP and included on its Supplier
Engagement Leader Board. Over 70 percent of our procurement
volume is covered by disclosures collected from our suppliers
by rating organization CDP as part of its 2018 supply chain
program.

Last but not least, handling valuable resources responsibly also
plays a vital role in a holistic approach to climate protection.

In light of the islands of plastic gathering in the sea, growing
mountains of waste, and the resulting consequences for human-
ity and the environment, people are increasingly turning their
attention to the topic of resource efficiency. An employee survey
conducted at Deutsche Telekom in September 2018 confirmed
this fact, leading CEO Tim Hottges to launch the Stop Wasting -
Start Caring! initiative, which provides a new platform for the
Group’s lon